# Lt. Job Lane Elementary School

2023-2024

# **Student Handbook**



Lane Elementary School
66 Sweetwater Ave
Bedford, MA
781-275-7606

## Contents

Who was Lt. Job Lane?	10
Lane Phone Numbers and Website	10
Procedures for Communication: Who to call when	10
Curriculum	12
Student Services at Lane	12
Regular Education Services	12
Student Counseling Services	12
Library/Digital Learning	12
Tiered Instruction	12
Student Support Team (SST) & Special Education Eligibility	13
Student Support Team (SST)	14
TARGETED ACADEMIC INTERVENTION Tier 2	14
WHAT I NEED "WIN"	15
SECTION 504	15
504 Eligibility Criteria	15
Step 1. Referral	16
Step 2. Evaluation and Documentation	16
Step 3. Team Review to Determine 504 Eligibility	17
Special Education Services	17
Continuum of Services	18
The Elementary Schedule & Common Concerns	18
Class Placement	19
Specialist Programs (Physical Education/Art/Music/Chorus/Band/Orchestra/Strings)	19
Homework	20
Moving or Withdrawing from Lane School	20
Transition into Grade 3 at Lane School	21
Private School Application Requests	21

Fi	eld Trips	21
St	udent Attendance	21
	Reporting Student Absences or Late Arrivals	21
	Classification of Absences and Late Arrivals	21
	Family Trips & Vacations	22
	Excessive Tardiness	22
	Consequences for Late Arrival	22
	Monitoring Student Attendance & Potential Actions	23
In	nportant School & Community Organizations	23
	Bedford School Committee	23
	Lane School Council	23
	Bedford Youth and Family Services (BYFS)	23
Sc	hool & Home Communication	24
	Lane School Newsletter	24
	Lane School's Website	24
	School Messenger	24
	Lane School Open House/Back-to-School Night	24
	Parent-Teacher Conferences	24
	Contacting Elementary School Teachers	24
	School Cancellations & Delays	24
	Student Directories	25
Da	aily Life at School	25
	Student Drop Off / Pick Up	25
	School Day Defined	27
	Student Arrival at School	27
	Lunch/Recess	27
	Food and Drink (Snack)	27
	Bathrooms & Leaving the Classroom	27

Student Dress Code	28
Student Use of Cell Phones & Electronic Devices	28
School Supplies	28
Student Chromebooks	28
Lost and Found	30
Students Calling Home during School Hours	30
Visitors	30
Dismissal from School	31
School Bus and Bus Routes	31
After School Student Supervision	31
Missing the School Bus	31
At the Bus Stop	31
Emergency & Crisis Information	32
Fire & Evacuation Drills	32
Crisis Management	32
School Resource Officer (SRO)	32
Extracurricular Activities	32
Lane Lion Newspaper	32
Math Olympiad	32
Student Council	32
Grades	32
Report Cards	33
Student Health	33
Health Office Services (Nurse)	33
Health Records	33
Information about Student Self-Harm	33
Statement on Social Networking & Electronic Communications	34
Student Code of Conduct	34

Behavioral Expectations	35
Restorative Practices	35
Cafeteria Expectations	35
Classroom Expectations	35
Hallway Expectations	35
School Bus Expectations	35
Types of Consequences (Examples but not limited to)	37
Time to Think Form	37
Recess Detention	37
Lunch Detention	37
Suspension	37
Other Offenses & Consequences	39
Category A	39
Category B	40
Category (C) Offenses	41
Category (D) Offenses	42
Category (E) Offenses	43
Bullying & Cyber-bullying	44
Bullying Defined	44
Lane School's Response to Bullying & Harassment	45
Appendix	45
District Curriculum Accommodation Plan (DCAP)	45
Access Procedures for Non-Custodial Parents	50
Place of Attendance; Chapter 75, Section 5: Description	50
Promotion and Retention of Students, File: IKE	50
Bus Policies	51
Procedures for Drivers, School Principals, and Parents	51
Procedures to Follow in Case of Concerns	51

School Bus Safety Program	52
Drug & Alcohol Abuse: Cases Arising in the Schools	52
Family Education Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA), Massachusetts Student Records Regulatio & Bedford Public Schools Annual Notice	ons 55
Grievance Procedures	58
Guidelines & Procedures for Recognizing and dealing with Harassment	61
An Act Prohibiting the Practice of Hazing	63
Land School's Beliefs and Student Expectations regarding Bullying / Cyberbullying Harassm 64	ent
Bedford Public School - Definition of Bullying and Cyberbullying	64
Definitions	64
Prohibitions	65
Prevention and Intervention Plan	66
Reporting	66
Investigation Procedures	66
Retaliation	67
Victim Assistance	67
Training and Assessment	67
Communication with Other School Districts	67
Special Education	67
Publication and Notice	67
Elementary Specific - Process for Responding to a Report of Bullying/Peer Aggression	68
Step One: Complete Incident Report Form	69
Step Two: Interview Target of Peer Aggression	69
Step Three: Interview Child Accused of Physical Aggression	70
Step Four: In the case of denial of wrongdoing	70
Step Five: If the aggressor admits wrongdoing	71
Nondiscrimination Policy, File: AC	74
Nondiscrimination of the basis of Disability, File: ACE	75

Searches	77
Procedures for Disciplining Students with Special Needs	77
Suspension / Expulsion Pursuant to the Education Reform Act of 1993	78
Inquiries Regarding Title II, VI & IX	81
Smoking by Students, File: JICG	81
Lane School's Smoking & Tobacco Policy	81
Sexual Harassment, File: ACAB	82
Wellness Policy, File: ADF	83
Student Transportation in Private Vehicles, File: EEAG	83
Acceptable Technology use policy for students, File: IJNDBA	84
Web Page Policy, File: IJNDC	85
Equal Education Opportunities , File: JB	86
Student-to-Student Harassment, File: JBA	87
Homeless Students: Enrollment Rights and Services, File:JFABD	87
Homeless Students – McKinney Vento Act	88
Student Attendance, File: JH	88
Exclusions and Exemptions from School Attendance, File: JHD	86
Student Conduct on School Buses, File: JICC	86
Hazing, File: JICFA	86
Bedford Public Schools Bullying Prevention, File: JICFB	90
Drug and Alcohol use by Students, File: JICH	94
Weapons in School, File: JICI	94
Interrogations and Searches, File: JIH	94
Traumatic Brain Injury / Concussion, File: JIFF	95
Restraint of Students in the Bedford Public Schools, File: JKAA	95
Administering Medicines to Students, File: JLCD	97
Reporting Child Abuse, File: JLF	98
Student Records, File: IRA	98

Visitors to the Schools, File: KI	98
Family Involvement, File: KB	99
School / Parent Relations Goals, File: KBA	99
Non-Custodial Parent's Rights, File: KBBA	99
Attendance: Chapter 71: Section 22	100
Dangerous Weapons Policies: Chapter 71: Section 37 H	101
Felony Complaint or Conviction of Student; Suspension; Expulsion; Right to Appeal Chapter Section $37\ H\ 1/2$	71: 102
Student Use of Tobacco Products: Chapter 71: Section 2A	103
Student Records; Maintenance, Storage, Destruction, etc.; Inspection by Parent or Guardian: Chapter 71: Section 34 D	103
Inspection of Student Records; Persons Authorized: Chapter 71: Section 34 E	103
Vaccination and Immunization: Chapter 76: Section 15	103

## Who was Lt. Job Lane?

Lt. Job Lane, for whom our school is named, was a member of Bedford's colonial militia. He was severely wounded in the battle at Merriam's Corner in Concord on April 19, 1775. The Lane family lived in the area during the early 1700s. The old saltbox homestead, located at 295 North Road, was built by the Lanes about 1720. One room of the house served as a schoolroom. It was purchased by the Town of Bedford in 1973 and has been restored as a living museum of rural farm life. For more information visit the following <a href="link">link</a>!

## Lane Phone Numbers and Website

Principal:	Mr. Rob Ackerman	781-275-7606
Assistant Principal: Mr. Kevin Smaldone 781-275-7606		781-275-7606
Absence Line:	(Parents, please call by 8:00 a.m.)	781-275-7606 (choose absence line prompt)
Counselors:	School Counselor - Audrey Jackson School Adjustment Counselor - Samantha Cormier School Adjustment Counselor - Chessie Shaw School Adjustment Counselor - Kristen Lerra	781-275-7606
School Nurse:	Lorene Simoneau	781-275-7623
Main Office Staff:	Becky Ricci, Karen Lua	781-275-7606

Website for Lane: https://www.bedfordps.org/lane-elementary
Website for the Bedford Public Schools: https://www.bedfordps.org

## Procedures for Communication: Who to call when...

Contact a teacher when...

you have questions about issues pertaining to the classroom

Contact a counselor when...

- you want to alert the school regarding a home situation
- you are seeking support for your child's social-emotional issues

Contact a Program Administrator, Curriculum Coordinator or Program Director when...

• you have curriculum questions

Contact an Assistant Principal when...

- you are concerned about the actions of a teacher and have found that direct contact with the teacher was non-productive
- you have a question about an assigned behavioral consequence
- you have questions about an attendance matter
- you have school policy questions
- you have a bus issue to discuss with the school
- you have questions about 504 plans

## Contact the School Main Office/Administrative Assistant when...

- you are moving and need information about withdrawing from Lane School
- you have questions about the Lane school records
- you want to inquire about school records received from another school
- you have a question about an absence/tardy
- you have a general question related to Lane
- you are changing your child's dismissal plans

## Contact the Principal when...

- you have not received an adequate or helpful response from the appropriate staff above
- you have feedback, opinions, ideas to share about Lane.
- you have a complaint or concern about school policy
- you don't know whom else to call

#### Contact the Special Education Office when...

- you have questions about the services available under Chapter 28
- you have questions regarding an Individual Educational Plan (IEP)

#### Contact the School Nurse when...

- you have a question about health records
- there is a medical condition that requires a conversation that may result in an accommodation
- you have Covid related questions

## Curriculum

For questions about curriculum, please refer to the curriculum page. The curriculum guide is available on the Lane Web site at <a href="https://www.bedfordps.org/lane-elementary/academics">https://www.bedfordps.org/lane-elementary/academics</a> If you still have questions, please call the classroom teacher or the Curriculum Coordinator at Lane School.

## Student Services at Lane

## **Regular Education Services**

Lane School students have direct access to regular education services including counseling, guidance services, and general education academic course offerings in mathematics, science, social studies, and literacy. In addition, students take a World Language. Third graders study French and Spanish. Once students enter Fourth Grade, they choose to take French or Spanish. Grade 3 classes meet once a week taking French and Spanish for a half-year each. Grade 4 and 5 classes meet three times a week.

## **Student Counseling Services**

As part of the home/school team, Lane School counselors work with students on social emotional challenges, as they impact the student's access to the general education curriculum. Individual and group sessions are held throughout the year, as appropriate and necessary. Parents may contact a counselor anytime there is an issue that may impact the child's access to the curriculum.

Additionally, Lane School works with three school adjustment counselors, who target Special Education students with disabilities requiring direct instruction and support as determined by evaluations and Team meetings. Bridge and SAIL programs are each connected to a school adjustment counselor, due to the specialized needs of these students.

## Library/Digital Learning

The Lane Library is located at the end of the main hallway. The Lane School Library offers a variety of materials and resources for our students and staff. Students may take out three books at a time.

Students have access to an assigned Chromebook, which they are required to keep at school. Digital Citizenship lessons are taught in the classroom by the classroom teacher and/or the Instructional Coach.

## **Tiered Instruction**

The Massachusetts System of Tiered Instruction is "a data-driven prevention, early detection, and support system with the aim of providing high-quality core educational experiences for all students and targeted interventions to struggling students who experience learning and/or behavioral challenges" (MA DESE, Tiered Instructional Models 2010). Tiered Instruction (also called Response to Intervention, Targeted Instruction, or Multi-Tiered Instructional Model) is a collaborative, systematic, approach for identifying and addressing student needs; it maximizes the use of all resources and staff in the school. The focus is on collaborative, flexible use of both financial and human services to meet the many and diverse needs of children. Each school determines the type, nature, range, and intensity of services, based on the level of need. The main components of a tiered instruction model are

- Flexible tiers for instruction and interventions;
- High-quality core curriculum and instruction implemented with fidelity;

- Research-based/best practice academic interventions and assessment practices;
- Research-based/best practice behavioral interventions and supports;
- Universal screening and progress monitoring; and,
- Collaboration and communication between educators and parents.

#### Potential Benefits of Tiered Instruction

One of the most commonly cited benefits of a tiered instruction approach is that it eliminates a "wait to fail" situation because students get help promptly within the general education setting. Secondly, a tiered instruction approach has the potential to reduce the number of students referred for special education services. Since a tiered instruction approach helps distinguish between those students whose achievement problems are due to a learning disability versus those students whose achievement problems are due to other issues such as lack of prior instruction or lack of mastery of prerequisite skills, referrals for special education evaluations are often reduced. Finally, parents and school teams alike find that the student progress monitoring techniques utilized in a tiered instruction approach provide more instructionally relevant information than traditional assessments.

#### The Tiered Instruction Process

When using a tiered instruction model, a school-based team meets regularly to problem solve. The first step is to identify a problem using data. Next, additional information is collected on the problem, and hypotheses are developed as to why that problem is occurring. Based on the hypothesized cause of the problem, an intervention plan is created and implemented. Progress is closely monitored through charted data in order to determine whether the plan is effective or not and whether changes in the plan are needed. This process typically emphasizes the use of functional and multidimensional assessment procedures to identify, analyze, and monitor progress, and places emphasis on alterable variables (e.g., the classroom environment, the instructional design) when intervening in a problem. Additionally, tiered instruction stresses the use of research-based interventions and/or other best practices and the importance of decision-making.

#### The Key Terms for Tiered Instruction

**Response to Intervention (RTI)** is an array of procedures that can be used to determine if and how students respond to specific changes in instruction. RTI provides an improved process and structure for school teams in designing, implementing, and evaluating educational interventions.

**Universal Screening** is a step taken by school personnel early in the school year to determine which students are "at risk" for not meeting grade-level standards. Universal screening can be accomplished by reviewing recent results of state tests, or by administering an academic screening test to all children in a given grade level. Those students whose test scores fall below a certain cut-off are identified as needing more specialized academic interventions.

**Student Progress Monitoring** is a scientifically based practice that is used to frequently assess students' academic performance and evaluate the effectiveness of instruction. Progress monitoring procedures can be used with individual students or an entire class.

**Best Practices**: Instructional practices that have proven effective based upon research and/or reflective practice and collaborative review.

## Student Support Team (SST) & Special Education Eligibility

IDEA 2004 offers greater flexibility to school teams by eliminating the requirement that students must exhibit a severe discrepancy between intellectual ability and achievement in order to be found eligible for special education and related services as a student with a learning disability. This increased flexibility has led to a growing interest in using research-based interventions as part of an alternative method to traditional ability/achievement discrepancy comparisons. IDEA 2004 addresses Response to Intervention procedures within several contexts.

Effective instruction and progress monitoring: For students to be considered for special education services based on a learning disability they first must have been provided with effective instruction and their progress measured through "data-based documentation of repeated assessments of achievement." Furthermore, results of the student progress monitoring must be provided to the child's parents.

**Evaluation procedures**: The law gives districts the option of using research-based intervention procedures as part of the evaluation procedures for special education eligibility. A comprehensive assessment is still required under the reauthorized law, however. That means that schools still need to carefully examine all relevant aspects of a student's performance and history before concluding that a disability does or does not exist. As before, schools must rule out learning problems that are primarily the result of factors such as poor vision, hearing, intellectual impairment, emotional disturbance, lack of appropriate instruction, or limited English proficiency.

**Early Intervening Services**: IDEA 2004 addresses the use of intervention procedures by creating the option of using up to 15% of federal special education funds for "early intervening services" for students who have not been identified as needing special education, but who need additional academic and behavioral support to succeed in the general education setting. The types of services that can be included are central to the tiered instruction process and include professional development for teachers and school staff to enable them to deliver effective academic and behavioral interventions, as well as educational evaluations, services, supports, and research-based literacy instruction.

## Student Support Team (SST)

The SST is a group of professional educators who meet regularly throughout the school year to review student academic achievement, social-emotional concerns, and attendance-based issues. The SST is a collaborative group composed of guidance counselors, curriculum coordinators, Lane administrators, and classroom teachers.

The purpose of the SST is to identify students who are struggling, with the aim of promoting student success. SST provides a systematic process to review student concerns, identify and implement interventions, and monitor student progress. The SST should not be viewed as a gatekeeper to the special education process but rather provides a systemic and collaborative approach to support students while maintaining them in the least restrictive environment.

#### **Overview of the SST Process**

The process begins when a faculty member makes a request for assistance. The SST meets with the faculty member to review and clarify the problem and, in some cases, conduct a classroom observation. Once the problem has been defined and any needed data gathered, an SST meeting is scheduled to review the student concerns. At this meeting, the SST focuses on brainstorming, evaluating, and subsequently creating an action plan with interventions. An implementation period of a sufficient length of time follows with support provided to the teacher to assist with the interventions. In some cases, the student schedule is changed, or recommendations are made to general education teachers to alter instructional practices. The team reconvenes for a follow-up meeting to review the outcomes and determine the next steps. The problem-solving process continues until the intervention(s) is successful or until a determination is made that a more in-depth evaluation for special services is required.

The SST has a vital role in creating a high-achieving school as expressed in the following goals:

- Collaborate with teachers and identify strategies to support students who are struggling.
- Enable students to acquire academic and social competencies, achieve standards, and become independent learners for life.
- Provide a forum to support a collaborative culture among the staff.

(Source: Guidelines for Student Support Teams, DODEA, 2015, pg.5)

## **Tiered Support:**

Response to Intervention (RTI) is an intervention program aimed at providing timely academic or behavioral support to struggling students. Early screening, using common assessments, review of past performances or current grades, leads to classroom-based (Tier I) support (as outlined in Bedford Public District School Curriculum Accommodation Plan (DCAP).

If these accommodations do not sufficiently improve student performance, students may then be referred to supplemental Tier II interventions that target specific needs, which are defined as measurable goals and objectives. Please see *Bedford Public Schools: Tiered Intervention* the district web page, <a href="https://www.bedford.k12.ma.us">www.bedford.k12.ma.us</a> for a more detailed explanation.

#### WHAT I NEED "WIN"

**"WIN"-** is a built-in academic time during which students will be provided remediation and/or enrichment support in academic areas to be determined by the teacher. This WIN block is designed to follow a flexible grouping model to allow for changes in grouping based on what each individual student needs.

#### SECTION 504

Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 is a Federal statute that prohibits discrimination based upon a disability. Section 504 ensures that eligible disabled students receive opportunities and benefits and have equal access to facilities in the same manner as their nondisabled peers. School districts must provide an appropriate education for each disabled student with reasonable accommodations that allow access to the benefits of public education.

Students who are protected under Section 504 must be determined to

- Have a physical or mental impairment that *substantially* limits one or more major life activity
- Have a physical or mental impairment that substantially limits one or more major lifelong activity
- Have a record of such an impairment
- Be regarded as having an impairment

## 504 Eligibility Criteria

Eligibility for a Section 504 Accommodation Plan is determined using a 3-pronged approach that considers if the student:

- 1. Has a physical or mental impairment;
- 2. That substantially limits;
- 3. A major life activity.

Eligibility for accommodations under Section 504 will be determined by a team of people with knowledge about the student.

In order to be considered disabled under Section 504, all three prongs need to accurately reflect the student within the school setting.

Under Section 504, major life activities are considered as the following:

• Caring for oneself, performing manual tasks, seeing, hearing, eating, sleeping, walking, standing, lifting, speaking, breathing, learning, reading, concentrating, thinking, communicating.

When an impairment *does not substantially limit* one or more of the above major life activities, a student does not qualify for classroom accommodations under Section 504. It is important for families and school

personnel to have conversations about instructional strategies that are utilized routinely for all students and that meet the needs of diverse learners.

Information from the Office for Civil Rights, based upon the 2008 amendments to the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), clarifies that a *temporary impairment* does not constitute a disability except under certain conditions. Along with the conditions identified in the 3-prong eligibility process, the expected duration of the impairment needs to be considered. Through the amendment to ADA, Congress determined that the duration of an impairment expected to last less than 6 months does not constitute a disability.

When considering eligibility under Section 504, it is important to note the following:

- A 504 Plan is not designed to fundamentally alter the program, standards, or what students are expected to know and be able to do.
- A 504 Plan is meant to give all students *equal access* to their program; it is not designed to equalize outcomes or provide advantages.

#### **The Eligibility Determination Process**

Each school in Bedford has a Section 504 Coordinator. The Coordinator is responsible for implementing the eligibility process. The Coordinator will determine a Team for each student based on the nature of the suspected disability and the questions regarding the student's needs. A 504 Eligibility Team consists of people who:

- Have knowledge about the student
- Have knowledge about the evaluation data and information
- Have knowledge about accommodations that may be discussed

## Step 1. Referral

When parents or school staff suspect that a student may have a disability, a written referral must be presented to the appropriate school building designee. Parents of elementary-age students should discuss this referral process with the building principal or his/her designee.

## Step 2. Evaluation and Documentation

Evaluations will be proposed after school personnel review the referral information. With prior parent consent, the Bedford Public Schools will conduct an evaluation that will include school district assessments and review of other relevant information, e.g. grades, review of records, health information, and classroom participation and performance. The evaluation process may include formal testing conducted by highly credentialed school personnel. Evaluations conducted by school personnel will be administered during the school day and may result in the student missing some instructional time.

Should the school district determine that formal evaluations are needed, consent from parents will be required. Upon receipt of parental consent to conduct the evaluation, the school district has 45 school days to complete the evaluations and hold a 504 Eligibility Meeting. There are times when families may present to the school district a report from an independent evaluator. Although the Team will consider the findings from independent educational evaluations, the Bedford Public Schools reserves the right to conduct our own evaluations.

Should the family wish to present information from outside sources, the following checklist will help ensure that all appropriate information is available for the 504 Eligibility Team to review at least 2 school days prior to the eligibility meeting.

 Statement regarding the nature of the suspected disability
 Independent evaluation reports that are current (within one year)
 Professional credentials of the evaluators must be presented
 Relevant educational, developmental, and medical history

Description of how the suspected disability substantially limits the student's ability to learn and/or access his/her school environment (for high school age students, a statement from the student is suggested)

## Step 3. Team Review to Determine 504 Eligibility

The 504 Eligibility Team will schedule a meeting to determine eligibility for a Section 504 Accommodation Plan. The entire Team will consider all provided assessment reports and information from a variety of sources. The 3-pronged eligibility criteria will guide the process to determine if a student has a disability under Section 504. The Team will be conscious that an impairment may not meet the threshold of a disability under the federal eligibility guidelines as mentioned above.

Questions that the Team will consider at the meeting will include:

- What is the nature and severity of the impairment?
- What is the suspected duration of the impairment?
- How has the student responded to any prior interventions?
- Does the student consistently need extended time to complete assignments?
- Does the student consistently need significant changes made to the curriculum and/or physical school environment?
- Does the student demonstrate consistent behavior difficulties?

Should the 504 Eligibility Team determine a student is eligible for a Section 504 Accommodation Plan, the Team will develop the plan collaboratively. Accommodations included in the Section 504 Plan will:

- Be considered as necessary.
- Be determined by the Team.
- Not be developed to provide an advantage.
- Not fundamentally alter the program, standards, or what students are supposed to know and be able to do.

The completed Plan will be implemented immediately. Section 504 Accommodation Plans in Massachusetts do not require a parent/guardian's signature. All teachers and other school personnel with a "need to know" status will be informed of the accommodations included in the Plan.

Should the Team find the student not eligible for a Section 504 Plan, the Team will encourage the student and family to discuss with the teachers the differentiated instructional approaches and District Curriculum Accommodation Plan options that are implemented routinely within the classroom and that may be helpful to the student. Furthermore, if the family disagrees with the findings of the Team, they may ask to reconvene the team or exercise their due process rights in accordance with Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973.

#### Notice of Parent and Student Rights Under Section 504

Parents and students (when age-appropriate) will receive written *Notice of Parent and Student Rights under Section 504*. The Bedford Public Schools encourages parents to review this document thoroughly.

#### **Standardized Tests and Accommodations**

MCAS is untimed for every student; each student receives as much time as s/he needs within one school day. Principals can place students in small groups for the test based on parent and staff recommendations.

## **Special Education Services**

Bedford Public Schools uses an inclusion model to deliver Special Education supports and services. We believe that all students deserve to be educated alongside their non-disabled peers in order to make effective

progress within the least restrictive environment. All decisions for Special Education students are made through the Team process (i.e. general educators, special educators, parents/guardians, administrators). Lane embraces the Team model to determine what a student requires to ensure they are making academic, social emotional, and/or behavior progress, while building their self-esteem and ownership over their own learning.

Special Education personnel include liaisons, related service providers, and a building-based administrator. The school personnel follow all guidelines and regulations regarding the eligibility process and Team determination of services. Parents may reach out to the Lane Special Education Program Administrator (Jane Del Gobbo) directly with any questions/concerns throughout the year.

#### Bedford Special Education Policies and Procedures Manual

#### Continuum of Services

At Lane there is a continuum of Special Education services, ranging from in-class supports to sub-separate settings. A student's individual needs are considered when determining the least restrictive setting.

**In-Class Supports/Services:** The majority of Special Education students at Lane receive some level of in-class supports and services. These supports are determined by the student's IEP goals, objectives, and service delivery grid. Services can include co-teaching to implement modified curriculum, methodology, and/or performance methods; delivery of accommodations in targeted areas; implementation of a positive reinforcement plan. Special Education liaisons, teaching assistants, and related service providers all provide in-class supports and services.

**Targeted Specialized Instruction:** For students requiring an increased level of instruction, they may receive small group, pull-out direct instruction by qualified personnel. These services may include phonics, reading comprehension, math, writing, academic support, speech/language, occupational therapy, social emotional, social skills, or physical therapy services. Instruction is designed based on the student goal/objectives, using evidence-based methodologies and monitored with student data to ensure effectiveness.

**Bridge Supports and Services**: For students requiring targeted social emotional and/or behavioral supports and services, Bridge provides a safe, therapeutic environment within an inclusive setting. Supports and services are provided both within and outside the general education setting. Staff include a Special Educator, School Adjustment Counselor, BCBA, and Behavior Technicians. Behavior plans are designed and implemented to target individual IEP goals, using ABA principles and consultation with the BCBA (as necessary). Physical management and alternate break spaces may be used to maintain safety, as necessary.

**Students Achieving Independent Learning (SAIL):** SAIL provides supports and services for students with an identified Autism disability and related disabilities. The setting is determined by the IEP team and can range from a sub-separate to full inclusion setting. Communication, social skills, academics, functional skills, and behavior are all addressed through the SAIL program, as appropriate for the student. Staff includes Special Educators, School Adjustment Counselor, BCBA, Behavior Technicians, and related service providers. Bedford Public Schools SAIL staff also consult weekly with the New England Center for Children (NECC), as well as other specialized consultants as needed.

## The Elementary Schedule & Common Concerns

The following information pertains to the elementary school schedule and academic issues. Elementary school students are placed into classrooms based on a wide-variety of criteria.

#### Class Placement

All elementary school students at Lane School are placed in a classroom based on a wide array of factors. Classroom teachers, guidance counselors, special educators, specialists, and administrators meet to form a balanced classroom based upon unique student learning needs.

It is important to note that Lane does not honor parent requests for student placements and that discretion is granted to the administration to render a final classroom decision. Parents who wish to meet with their child's teacher(s) should call or email the teacher. A listing of the teachers and their email addresses appears on the school's website.

Grade	Classrooms for 2023-2024
3	8
4	8
5	9

**Physical Education Classes:** Lane students in grades 3, 4, and 5 have two 45-minute classes each week in physical education. Trained and certified specialists teach all physical education and health classes. Program needs require our physical education/health teachers to conduct classes in the gym and outside. The decision on location may be dependent on the weather or on other unpredictable events, it is best to plan to wear sneakers and loose clothing on the days your student's class is scheduled for physical education.

**Art Class:** Bedford students in grades 3-5 enjoy weekly 45-minute classes with a specialist in teaching art. The art program at Lane embraces Teaching for Artistic Behavior (TAB), a student-centered, process-focused, choice-based approach to art education. In our studio, students assume the role of working artists and help determine the direction of the emergent curriculum by continually pursuing the question 'what do artists do?' Students practice creating art problems to solve, asking and finding answers to intrinsically motivating questions, and exploring creative possibilities inspired by the world around them. Through their studio experience, students develop critical thinking skills, perseverance, self-confidence, self-reflection, and reasoning while simultaneously becoming independent and organized.

The Lane art studio features a variety of art-making centers (drawing, sculpture, fibers, etc.) that are introduced to students systematically. The structure of our class (*teacher presents, students at work, talking about art*, and *showing art*) follows the Studio Thinking Framework and encompasses the development of eight broad thinking dispositions known as Studio Habits of Mind (SHoM).

**Music Class:** Bedford students in grades 3-5 enjoy weekly 45-minute sessions with a specialist in teaching music. These music lessons offer opportunities for students to express themselves by writing and singing songs, playing instruments, and moving to music. Students also examine the role of artists in society, discovering the importance and value of music as it is practiced around the world. Through team planning by Lane School Staff, the music program and the academic curriculum are well-integrated, which gives greater meaning to student work in both areas. Music in the Bedford Schools has received strong support from the Enrichment Committee of the B.E.S.T./ P.T.O. and from the community organization called POMS (Patrons of Music Students).

**Band, Chorus & Orchestra:** Lessons for band, orchestra, and chorus happen during the school day once a week. The scheduling allows all Lane School students the opportunity to learn to play an instrument and sing in the chorus. Students electing to participate in instrumental lessons or chorus will miss recess once a week and some sustained silent reading in their classroom on that day. Before a student signs up for instrument lessons, they should understand the need for practice at home in order to be successful.

Fourth grade students may choose to learn to play an orchestral string instrument. Fifth grade students may choose to learn to play a woodwind, brass, or percussion instrument in the band. They may also choose to sing in the chorus.

Instruction for the band, orchestra, and chorus is provided by highly trained specialists who also work with Bedford students in the upper grades. The Lane School Band, Orchestra, and Chorus will have three evening concerts throughout the year.

## Homework

The purpose of homework is to review content, practice skills independently, and apply what has been learned in class. Homework conveys the message that education extends beyond the school day and serves as a regular, vital communication link between home and school.

Each grade at the Lane School has adopted a specific homework assignment book which is given to students at the beginning of the school year, (or whenever a student enrolls at Lane.) If a student loses the initial assignment book he or she is given, a replacement fee will be charged for a second copy. Students are also responsible for writing down the correct assignments, asking for clarification from their teacher(s), and bringing home all materials and texts for completing homework on time. Parents are encouraged to establish a regular routine for homework, review nightly assignments, and sign, or comment on the assignment book. The guidelines below indicate how much time teachers expect students in each grade to spend on homework. Any student who finishes assignments too quickly can benefit from additional editing, reading for pleasure, practicing basic math facts or spelling words, and/or working on long-term assignments. Any student who struggles to complete homework within the expected time should talk to their parents, who may wish to contact the classroom teacher and/or school counselor. Study skills may need to be reinforced or modifications made in the assignments.

Gr. 3: 30 minutes of homework; 3 or 4 nights a week

Gr. 4: 30-40 minutes of homework; 3 or 4 nights a week

Gr. 5: 60 minutes of homework; 4 nights a week

Students need to include long-term assignments in the above times..

Moving or Withdrawing from Lane School

If your family is moving and you want to withdraw your child from school, please call your child's guidance counselor. If you are moving within town, please remember to update your emergency card.

#### Transition into Grade 3 at Lane School

The Lane School works closely with the Davis School on all aspects of the transition process. Lane teachers visit Davis in the Spring to learn about the incoming students. The SAIL and Bridge teachers observe students at Davis to understand individual student supports. In June, the 2nd graders tour the Lane School to help understand the layout and the main areas of the school (office, library, gym, cafeteria, and playground). The Gr 3 classes are created by the Davis staff with input from the Lane School.

## Private School Application Requests

Students applying to private school need to observe the following procedures:

- 1. Contact the Lane School office to request any needed information.
- 2. Please plan accordingly and allow for 2-3 weeks for all requested information.

## Field Trips

Field trips are planned to add to classroom studies. All school rules are in effect during and en route to the field trip destination. Students are expected to behave in the most positive manner in order to represent our school and community in the best light. Each field trip requires written permission from parents.

Students with excessive absences, discipline or safety issues, or late arrivals to school may lose the privilege of attending any school field trip. In these cases, discretion is granted to the administration to render a final decision. Students who misbehave on in-state and out-of-state field trips, or immediately prior to the date of departure, can be excluded from participation and may not be eligible for a refund.

## Student Attendance

School attendance is regulated by Massachusetts General Law, Chapter 76, which outlines the requirements for student attendance, the parent's responsibility in ensuring attendance, and the district's obligation in cases of non-attendance. Regular attendance in school is essential for high student achievement and self-esteem. Good work habits and ethics begin with punctuality. It's a common courtesy to be on time for class and for school. Chapter 76, section 1 of the Massachusetts General Laws states that all children between the ages of six and sixteen must attend school. A school district may excuse up to seven-day sessions or fourteen partial-day sessions in any six-month period.

The school will periodically review student attendance and identify concerns. The school will notify parents of the concern, and work with the parents/caregivers to improve a child's attendance and/or punctual arrival to school. If attendance concerns are not resolved promptly, parents/caregivers may be required to attend a meeting at school to review the concerns and to discuss additional actions to take to meet legal requirements.

## Reporting Student Absences or Late Arrivals

Parents must call the school by 8:15 a.m. to notify Lane School if their child will be absent or tardy that day. The Absence Line is 781-275-7606. This parent verification must include a reason for said absence or late arrival. Absences will be documented in accordance with the classifications described in the section below-called Classifications of Absences and Late Arrivals.

## Classification of Absences and Late Arrivals

In accordance with state law, Lane School shall provide notification to any parent or guardian of a student who has at least 5 days in which the student has missed 2 or more periods unexcused, i.e. reported or unreported absence (see below) in a school year or who has missed 5 or more school days unexcused in a school year.

The principal or their designee will make a reasonable effort to meet with the parent or guardian of any such student and shall jointly develop action steps for student attendance which will be implemented upon agreement of the parties. The school principal may, when appropriate, seek input from other relevant school personnel and officials, relevant public safety, health and human service, housing, and nonprofit agencies.

#### **Exempt Absence:**

When a student is absent for medical reasons (doctor's note required), religious observance (parent call required), court appearance (court documentation required), funeral, or suspensions from school, then that student's absence is classified as *exempt*. An exempt absence does NOT count toward the allotted absences of Chapter 76, section 1 of the Massachusetts General Laws.

#### **Reported Absence:**

For an absence to be classified as *reported*, a parent must call the automated attendance line on the morning of the absence or the student must present a note from a parent upon their return to school. A reported absence DOES count toward the allotted absences as outlined in Chapter 76, section 1 of the Massachusetts General Laws. Truancies may not be reclassified as *reported* after the quarter in which they occur.

#### **Unreported Absence (Truant):**

When a student is absent from school and no phone call or note has been received from a parent verifying the absence, the student's absence is classified as *unreported*. An unreported absence DOES count toward the allotted absences as outlined in Chapter 76, section 1 of the Massachusetts General Laws. A call home will be made to confirm the absence is reported. An unreported absence will be considered truant if it is not reconciled. If the child is under the age of 16, the truancy will trigger additional action by the school in accordance with Chapter 76 of the Massachusetts General Laws and the compulsory attendance law, including, but not limited to additional written notification to the parents, School Resource Officer involvement and potentially a filing with the court if a truancy pattern becomes apparent.

Notes or verbal confirmation from parents regarding absences, dismissals, or late arrivals are for explanation purposes only. An administrator will make the final determination as to whether the absence or dismissal is exempt, reported, or unreported (truant).

#### **Consecutive Absences:**

After 60 consecutive absences due to illness, an automatic referral to Special Education will be made, per Department of Elementary and Secondary Education regulations.

## Family Trips & Vacations

Please do not schedule family trips or vacations when school is in session. These are not exempt, and days missed will count toward the student's allotted absences. Please be careful not to plan family trips or vacations in the days immediately following the originally scheduled last day of school as school may be in session beyond the scheduled last day of school, for example, in the event of snow days. All make-up school days count as days that the student must attend.

## **Excessive Tardiness**

In accordance with the Department of Education regulations, any student, who is not present by 11:00 am, will be considered absent for the school day on their official record. Parents should refer to the appropriate attendance protocol to exempt or report these absences. Such absences do count toward the allotted absences according to the Massachusetts General Laws.

## Consequences for Late Arrival

Arriving at school on time is part of being a responsible student. Students who arrive late to school are considered late and will have to report to the office to get a late pass. If a student is late 10 or more times for reasons that do not fall under the Exempt classification status, the Student Support Team will initiate a process that may include interventions such as requiring that parents attend a meeting with the team, the school sending formal documentation of the problem to the parents and caretakers or additional actions deemed necessary by the team.

#### **Missed School Work**

If the student is absent for a few days, the student's parents and caretakers can call or email for assignments, or the student can ask the teacher upon the student's return. Students should always check with teachers about missing work upon returning from an absence.

Teachers are not required to provide work for students in advance of an absence; however, students are expected to make up all missed work. Students returning from an exempt absence will have the same number of days to make up any work missed, and receive full credit for work (i.e. if a student has three days of excused absence(s), has three days to make up missed work).

## Monitoring Student Attendance & Potential Actions

If there is concern about student attendance, a Student Support Team (SST) meeting may be needed. Once an initial SST meeting has been convened (at any grade level), it serves as the initial meeting during a student's time at Lane School and follows along with a student to successive grade levels; absences and tardy arrival in successive school years will become a part of this file.

Depending on the success or failure of attempts to improve a student's attendance, the following actions may be taken by the Supervisor of Attendance and/ or School Resource Officer:

- CRA (Child Requiring Assistance) petition filed with the juvenile court applicable for the student
- Report of neglect or 51A may be filed with the Department of Children and Family Services
- Failure to Send report may be filed with the juvenile court applicable for the student

## Important School & Community Organizations

#### **Bedford School Committee**

The <u>Bedford School Committee</u> consists of five members, each elected on a non-partisan basis for terms of three years. The School Committee is the policy-making body for the Bedford Public Schools. Meetings of the School Committee take place at the high school's Large Group Instruction room. Regular meetings are scheduled for 7:30 p.m. on the second and fourth Tuesday of each month, from late August through June. The public is invited to all open School Committee meetings.

## Lane School Council

The Massachusetts Education Reform Law required the establishment of School Advisory Councils at each public school in the Commonwealth. The Councils consist of staff, parents, and community representatives, in addition to the principal and assistant principal. There are three parent representatives on the Lane Advisory Council, one elected from each grade level, and one elected at large. A listing of current council members may be found on the school's website.

The purpose of the Council is to: (1) assist the principal in adopting educational goals for the school; (2) identify the educational needs of students attending the school; (3) review the school's annual budget, and (4)

formulate a school improvement plan. If any student is interested in being part of the School Advisory Council, he or she should speak to the principal.

## Bedford Youth and Family Services (BYFS)

Bedford Youth and Family Services (BYFS) serves as a resource on family developmental issues. Individual, family, and group counseling services are available, as well as a pamphlet library and information and referrals about other area resources and services.

## **School & Home Communication**

#### Lane School Newsletter

The Lane School Newsletter is emailed weekly during the school year. The newsletter has both Lane and BEST news and information and includes a calendar of upcoming events. The newsletter is sent out weekly via School Messenger, Lane School's information-sharing system.

#### Lane School's Website

Announcements, curriculum information, the school handbook and school improvement plan, and much, much more are available on the school's website: <a href="https://www.bedfordps.org/lane-elementary">https://www.bedfordps.org/lane-elementary</a>

## School Messenger

Lane School has an automatic phone message system called School Messenger that can call each family with information about school closings, upcoming events, and important notifications.

The messenger system is an invaluable method of getting information to families quickly and in a timely manner. If for any reason you do not wish to receive the automatic messages, however, please simply notify the main office, and your phone number and/or email will be removed from the contact list.

## Lane School Open House/Back-to-School Night

Early in the fall, the Elementary Schools in Bedford host "Back to School Nights." The purpose of these special evenings is to share grade-level curriculum and classroom expectations with parents.

#### **Parent-Teacher Conferences**

Parent/Teacher conferences are scheduled:

- November 8th from 1:30-4:00
- November 15th from 1:30 pm 7pm
- March 13th from 1:30-4:00
- March 20th from 1:30-7:00
- Additional conference times will be offered as needed.

Appointments for conferences are booked online. Instructions for making appointments for parent-teacher conference times will be published in advance by the classroom teacher.

## **Contacting Elementary School Teachers**

Teachers may be contacted by phone or email. The Lane School website has a staff directory with contact information. Parents are asked to contact the teacher first if a concern arises rather than contacting the Principal or Assistant Principal. The Principal or Assistant Principal can assist you if the matter is not resolved.

Parents are asked to call or email their child's teacher when they have a question about matters pertaining to their child's class or an incident that may have occurred in class. The majority of questions can be satisfactorily answered when parents communicate directly with the teacher. Additionally, it is courteous to give the teacher the opportunity to hear from a parent first and to respond. If a parent feels that their question has not been resolved, then the parent is invited to call the Assistant Principal or Principal.

## School Cancellations & Delays

School cancellations are announced via phone and email through School Messenger. They can also be identified by listening for the fire whistle at 6:45 AM, or by listening to radio stations WRKO, WBZ, and TV channels 4, 5, and 7, or check the BPS website at: <a href="https://www.bedfordps.org/">https://www.bedfordps.org/</a>

## **Student Directories**

Each fall, BESTPTO prepares a directory with important Lane phone numbers, along with the names, parent names, phone numbers, and addresses of Lane School students, if authorized by parent/guardian. The directory is available for purchase through the BEST PTO.

## Daily Life at School

## Student Drop Off / Pick Up

## **Before School Drop Off**

**Lane School drop-off starts no earlier than 8:17**. If you need childcare prior to Lane Schools drop-off time you can arrange for your child to attend the Morning Sports Program through the Bedford Recreation Department. The program starts at 7:30am. This paid service can be arranged by calling the Bedford Recreation Department at 781-275-1392 or by visiting their website at <a href="www.bedfordma.gov/recreation">www.bedfordma.gov/recreation</a>

No cars will be permitted on the Lane School property prior to the arrival of our buses unless the child is participating in a before-school program. We ask that the following guidelines be followed in order to ensure a smooth arrival.

8:00-8:15 Buses arrive at Lane School 8:15-8:17 Buses release students

Following the departure of the final Lane School buses, car drop-offs will be invited to enter the Lane School lot. It is important that we minimize the traffic on Sweetwater Ave. so we ask that you don't arrive in the area prior to 8:17. Cars that arrive prior to 8:17 will travel down Sweetwater Ave towards the Fawn Lake parking lot and loop back up towards the Lane School. Cars will then stage on the right side of the street and wait for permission from our crossing guard to start entering the Lane School property. All vehicles that arrive at 8:17 will be given priority entrance to the Lane School lot. Early arrivals that wish to park in the school lot will NOT be permitted.

#### WHEN CARS ARE ENTERING THE LOT:

Drive straight up the driveway towards the school. Continue towards the bus loop and look for staff (typically Rob and Keith) for direction. If you are able to get into the loop you will drop off curbside. If traffic gets backed up into the straightaway, please be patient the line moves quickly. It is important that we keep traffic going so please don't stop until you pull as far up as possible. *Students should never walk around the front or the back of the car to load the vehicle on the driveway side*. Staff will be outside helping direct you!

#### WHEN CARS ARE LEAVING THE LOT (Both AM AND PM):

At the end of the Lane School driveway, you will be required to take a right. **NO TRAFFIC WILL BE PERMITTED TO TRAVEL DOWN HAYDEN LANE from the Lane School drop-off or pick up.** Even if you live down in the Hayden Lane neighborhood, you will need to loop around from the Pinehill Road area. This keeps our crossing guard and student walkers and bikers safe.

## After School Pick-Up

Afternoon pick-up has been designed to be a process that enables us to keep traffic congestion to a minimum. Our ultimate goal is for the safety of our students. There are a few options for pick-up.

- <u>Park</u>- Find a legal parking space. Walk to the front lobby or stand on the walkway where your child can see you.
- <u>Bus Loop Pick-up:</u> Students will be exiting the building via the main building entrance. Cars can start lining up around the bus loop, single file, prior to 2:36(Mon, Tues, Thurs, and Friday) and prior to 1:06 on Wednesdays. <u>At no time should a car be left unattended</u>. Our dismissal process will start at 2:36 PM and last until 2:46 PM on (Mon, Tues, Thurs, and Friday) and from 1:07-1:25 on Wednesdays. Upon dismissal; students will locate their vehicle with the support of Lane Staff and then proceed to their car via the curbside of the walkway. **Students should never walk around the front or the back of the car to load the vehicle on the driveway side**. Once your child has loaded, you are free to drive away. Please make every attempt to move forward as cars leave the loop so that more vehicles can fit.

Please note that after 2:50pm the buses generally are arriving. At this time we will close the Lane School grounds for parent pick-up and you will be prevented from entering the school property. You will be directed down sweetwater towards the Fawn Lake parking lots where you will turn around and stage along sweetwater Ave on the right side.. After the buses have left you will be directed by the traffic guard to enter the Lane School lot. (Approximately 3:05).

The Bedford Police Department requires that you find a legal parking spot if you are going to leave your vehicle for any reason. You are permitted at this point to wait along the curb for your child as long as you stay in or with your vehicle. Please note, that both occupied and unoccupied vehicles are prohibited from being on the crosswalk.

## School Day Defined

The school day runs from 8:22 a.m. until 2:36 p.m. during regularly scheduled days. Three-quarter days begin at 8:22 a.m. and end at 1:07 p.m.

## Student Arrival at School

Arriving students wait until the building is open at 8:15 and then will proceed directly to class.

Parents are asked not to drop children off any earlier than 8:17 a.m. unless the child has made other arrangements with a teacher. If parents require before-school child care services, they should contact the <u>Bedford Recreation Department</u>.

## Lunch/Recess

Bedford participates in the National School Lunch Program. Near the beginning of the school year, Bedford provides both parents and the public with information about free and reduced-price meals. (7C.F.R.&245.5.) The Lane School office will distribute an application form to all students. If a student forgets his or her lunch they should check the main office on the way to the cafeteria and see if a parent dropped lunch off at school. All loans must be repaid in full the next day.

One lunch/recess period is scheduled for each of the three grades at the Lane School. The times are as follows:

Grade Level	Lunch / Recess Time
3	11:15 - 12:00 (M-F)
5	11:50 - 12:30 (M-F)
4	12:25 - 12:50 (M-F)

At least twenty minutes is allowed for students to purchase food or drink in the cafeteria and eat. Lunchtime is designed to be a social and relaxing time away from the classroom, but students are required to be cognizant of the needs of others when using voices, lining up and when claiming a seat. Pricing and meal information can be found on the <u>Bedford Food Services</u> website.

- 1. Students sit with their class in an assigned section of the cafeteria
- 2. Students may be provided with an assigned seat.

#### Food and Drink (Snack)

Students are invited to bring a small, nutritious snack to eat at some point during the day. A piece of fruit or vegetable, some cheese and crackers, and a small (non-sugar) drink are all appropriate choices. Candy and soda are not allowed to be consumed in the classroom. Please help your child differentiate between snack and lunch by packing them differently if you are sending both to school (Please see district Wellness Policy for more information)

## Bathrooms & Leaving the Classroom

Students leaving a classroom during class time must sign out and back into their classroom When signing out, students must write both first and last names, where they are going, and the time they left the room. Students

should document the return time when they reenter the classroom. Students are required to use the restroom that is assigned to their classroom or specialist room.

## Student Dress Code

Although there is no formal dress code, all children should wear clothing that is sensible for an educational setting.

- Short-shorts, halter tops, cut-off tee-shirts, and clothing with offensive language or decoration and clothing that promotes/advertises alcohol, tobacco, or drugs are *not* appropriate
- Clothing, shoes, or accessories that could cause a child to trip or cause injury to self or others are *not* appropriate.

## Student Use of Cell Phones & Electronic Devices

**Cell Phones:** Students may bring cell phones to school but they MUST be kept in their backpacks during the school day. If a student needs to contact home, they should see their teacher/administrator to receive permission to use the phone in the classroom or the office. Conversely, if a parent needs to speak with a student, they should call the school office. All cell phones MUST be off while in school. Any student using a cell phone while school is in session will have their cell phone confiscated by the administration.

- 1st Offense: A warning will be issued and the administrator will return the phone to the student at the end of the day.
- 2nd Offense and Beyond: The student's phone will be returned only to the parent or guardian and/or further disciplinary actions will be taken.

**Smart Watches:** Students are allowed to bring smartwatches to school. However, they are not allowed to use these devices to communicate with home or each other during the school day. If a student needs to contact home, they should see their teacher/administrator to receive permission to use the phone in the classroom or the office. Any student using a smartwatch to text or call while school is in session will have their watch confiscated by the administration.

- 1st Offense: A warning will be issued and the administrator will return the phone to the student at the end of the day.
- 2nd Offense and Beyond: The student's phone will be returned only to the parent or guardian and/or further disciplinary actions will be taken.

The unauthorized recording of any visual images or audio during the school day, or on school grounds, whether it is done through cell phones or other means is prohibited. The unauthorized distribution of a recording of visual images or audio of anyone taken at Lane School is prohibited as well. Student distribution of such images, no matter how small the audience, is also prohibited. Please refer to the student code of conduct for more information.

## School Supplies

Books, Chromebooks, and other supplies are issued to students. All materials are owned by the Bedford Public Schools and are loaned to students free of charge. Care must be taken of this property. Textbooks are to be covered at all times. The school will charge a fine based on the administration's judgment for abuse, misuse, damage and/or loss of school supplies.

#### **Student Chromebooks**

All students at Lane School will have access to the use of a Chromebook while they are at school. Students will use the Chromebook for a variety of reasons. The Chromebooks are the property of Bedford Public Schools, and students should follow all expectations in the Parent/Student Handbook and the Acceptable Use Policy to ensure that their school-issued Chromebook is taken care of properly and remains free of damage.

## **General Student Chromebook Expectations**

Chromebooks must remain free of any decorative writing, drawing, stickers, paint, tape, or labels that are not the property of BPS. Administration or teachers may do spot checks for compliance at any time.

- No food or drink is allowed next to the Chromebook while it is in use.
- Cords, cables, removable storage, or USB devices must be inserted carefully into the Chromebook.
   Students should never carry Chromebooks while the screens are open unless directed to do so by a teacher.
- Chromebooks should be shut down when not in use to conserve battery life.
- Screens/cameras on the device are sensitive and can be broken easily. Avoid any activity that could result in damage such as:
  - Carrying your Chromebook while it is open.
  - Picking your Chromebook up by the screen.
  - Putting excessive pressure on your closed Chromebook.
  - Putting heavy objects on top of the closed Chromebook
  - o Placing objects/items on the keyboard before closing the Chromebook
  - Cleaning the Chromebook with commercial cleaners (Use only a dry, soft towel to clean the Chromebook at all times.)
  - Placing sharp objects such as pencils or pens on or near the screen/camera. (Do not draw on your Chromebook.)
- Students may not intentionally alter or remove any physical element of the Chromebook (Chromebook case, keys, camera, etc.).
- Students/families are responsible for any/all damage caused by their student to a school-issued Chromebook and/or charger.

#### **Expectation of Privacy**

No right of privacy exists in the use of technological resources provided by the school. School system administrators or individuals designated by the superintendent may review files, internet history logs, monitor communications/content activities, and intercept e-mail messages to maintain system integrity and to ensure compliance with board policy and applicable laws and regulations. School system personnel shall monitor online activities or individuals who access the internet via school-owned computers. Chromebooks are to be used only for school activities

## **Chromebooks in the Instructional Setting**

The Chromebook is intended for use at school each and every day.

- 1. Students should never share their computer login & password.
- 2. When not a part of direct instruction, the Chromebook should remain closed.
- 3. When in use, devices should always be on a flat surface (not on laps or on top of books and binders).
- 4. If a student needs to move within the classroom, the device should be closed and held with two hands during the transition. (do not pick up the device with one hand or by the screen)
- 5. Sound must be muted at all times unless permission is obtained from the teacher for instructional purposes. It is recommended that the student bring a personal headset or "earbuds" for activities specifically designated by the teacher. Students should not use or wear personal headsets or "earbuds" outside of the classroom or teacher designated activities.
- 6. Use your technology only when directed and approved by the teacher.
  - a. Close all tabs from previous class activity

- b. Open only those sites and/or documents that have been:
  - i. Specified by the teacher
  - ii. Approved for a project that you are currently working on

#### **Chromebook Identification**

Chromebooks will be labeled in the manner specified by the school. Chromebooks may be and are not limited to being identified in the following ways:

- Record of a serial number and etched number
- Individual's Google Account Username

Under no circumstances are the students to modify, remove, or destroy identification labels.

## Chromebooks Left in Unsupervised/Unsecured Areas

Under no circumstance should a Chromebook be stored in unsupervised areas. Unsupervised areas include the school grounds and campus, the lunch room, unlocked classrooms, library, a common area, hallways, bathrooms, or any other entity that is not securely locked or in which there is no supervision.

## Chromebook FAQ's

Q: What is a Chromebook?

A: A Chromebook is like a laptop but instead of having Windows or iOS operating systems, they run off Google Chrome. Through Chrome, students can type documents, use spreadsheets, create presentations and more. They can access all of their work from any computer that connects to the Internet.

Q: Do you need Internet access to use a Chromebook?

A: Some offline functions are able to be used with a Chromebook, but it works best if you have a WiFi signal.

Q: Do Chromebooks come with Internet Filtering Software?

A: Yes. Chromebooks will be filtered through the district's internet filter at all times.

Q: Do Chromebooks need virus protection?

A: No! Because of how they are designed, no virus protection is needed.

## Lost and Found

All clothing left in non-classroom storage areas is placed on an open rack in the lobby adjacent to the gym. Parents, as well as students, are encouraged to check the Lost and Found rack periodically. It is also very helpful to have all outer clothing and lunch boxes labeled with a student's name.

## Students Calling Home during School Hours

Students who need to call home before or after school for emergency purposes can request to use one of the phones in the main office. Students may not use their cell phones to send or receive text messages or phone calls prior to the school dismissal time. See Electronic Device policies.

#### **Visitors**

<u>All visitors are welcome.</u> (see link for district policy) We love to show off what we are learning and teaching. Please keep visits to any particular class or teacher short, however, to avoid disrupting the educational process. Student visitors must have the prior approval of the principal, and we request all others to *please give teachers the courtesy of prior notice*. Upon arrival, all visitors must check-in at the Office. At all times

visitors need to have a visitor's badge visible. Most visits to directly work with students require a CORI. The Main Office can help with the CORI.

## Dismissal from School

In every case of absence or tardiness by the pupil, the school shall require a reason verbally or in writing, to be made by the parent or guardian. No pupil shall be dismissed from school before the close of the session, except 1) in case of illness, 2) in other emergencies, or 3) by request of the student's parent or guardian, made in person or in writing. All cases of dismissal shall be recorded. Pupils may not leave the building until the person receiving the pupil has been properly identified in person or by telephone if the call is verified. We request that you do not dismiss your child after 2:30 whenever possible to avoid interruption with our dismissal process.

Principals shall be responsible for determining eligibility requirements for participation in extra-curricular activities, such as clubs and athletics, by pupils who are not present for a full school day.

LEGAL REF.: M.G.L. <u>76:1</u>; <u>76:16A</u>; <u>76:2</u>; <u>76:3</u>; <u>76:4</u>

#### School Bus and Bus Routes

Bus route numbers and pick-up and drop-off locations are assigned and communicated by the school district in mid to late summer through the <u>Bedford Citizen</u> as well as the district and schools' respective <u>websites</u>. Each student whose address allows them to ride a school bus to and from school is expected to only ride on the bus to which he has been assigned. <u>Students are NOT allowed to ride an alternative bus.</u>

Our highest priority is for students to be safe while riding the school bus. All students are expected to be respectful of other students as well as the bus driver. In case of misconduct on a bus, the driver will report the incident to the school principal. The principal will report the incident to the child's parents. In the case of injury, the parents or guardians of the injured child will be notified. The repercussions for misconduct on the school bus are as follows:

First Offense – Warning Second Offense – One day off the bus Third Offense – One week off the bus Fourth Offense – Remainder of the school year

Any serious offense that threatens the safety of any bus passengers or driver will be treated with whatever extraordinary measures are deemed appropriate by the school principal including immediate suspension from the bus.

## After School Student Supervision

Under no circumstances are students allowed to remain after school unless they are supervised by a Lane School adult. Parents should not encourage students to stay after school unless they have a scheduled appointment/activity with an adult (school-sponsored club and/or event). If parents require after-school child care services, they should contact the Bedford Recreation Department. The faculty and staff of the Lane Elementary School are not responsible for children after the school day unless an appointment (or club) has been scheduled.

## Missing the School Bus

If a student misses the bus home, the student will call home for a ride. The student should inform the school administration, or the front office, of their missed bus, and the front office will assist the student in making a phone call home.

## At the Bus Stop

- Riders must be on time. Bus drivers will not wait.
- Riders will enter or leave the bus at regular stops only.
- Orderly behavior and respect for private property will be required.

• instructions and directions of the driver must be followed by the riders when entering or leaving the bus.

## **Emergency & Crisis Information**

There are many forms that parents must complete at the beginning of each year. Parents are responsible for keeping their emergency contact information current in the Aspen database. We must have this information on file on our computer before your child begins school. Parents will find that they can complete many forms, including the Emergency Information form, online at the Lane School website by following the link to the Aspen student information system.

## Fire & Evacuation Drills

The fire drill signal is both visual and auditory. When there is an alarm, please follow the procedure below:

- 1. Without talking, exit from your room in accordance with the instructions posted in that room.
- 2. Teachers may designate a student to close all windows and shut off the lights in the room. Classroom doors should also be closed.
- 3. Walk in a single file to the area which is designated by each teacher. All students are to line up, single file, and remain together with their Advisory teacher or that teacher's Advisory partner, who will take attendance.
- 4. In cases where students are in corridors or entering or leaving the building before or after school, they should immediately use the nearest exit.

## Crisis Management

The Bedford Public Schools have a comprehensive set of procedures for immediate response in case of a crisis. All school personnel have step-by-step procedures to follow to ensure the safety and well-being of all students and staff. Follow-up assistance is also available on-site and through a broad network of professionals. If you have questions about Lane School's safety, please call the principal.

## School Resource Officer (SRO)

A Police Officer works with the Bedford Public Schools and makes regular visits to the Lane School. The officers seek to build relationships with students through a variety of experiences. They look for ways to build and strengthen community bridges by working with children, staff, and parents.

## Extracurricular Activities

## Lane Lion Newspaper

Students prepare articles on their own time to be reviewed and edited by the adult coordinator. The students brainstorm ideas for articles and put their creativity to press. The newspaper is printed and made available for students and staff members.

#### Math Olympiad

The Math Olympiad program at Lane School is open to all interested 5th grade students. Math Olympiad is an international mathematics competition. Lane 5th graders meet once a week outside of their normal school day to collaboratively work through challenging math problems, as well as individually complete five monthly tests (referred to as contests) to compete against other students internationally. The program runs from mid-October through March.

#### Student Council

The Student Council plays an active part in our school life and it is an opportunity to take on a leadership role in the school. The Student Council participates in community service and fundraising for various causes. In

addition to these annual projects, the Student Council helps out around the school to make our school a better place. In the fall students are elected to the Council and then select officers.

## Grades

## **Report Cards**

Report Cards will be issued twice in the 2023-2024 school year:

- Mid January
- June 17 (or the last day of school)

The Report Card indicates the progress each child is making in every subject area. If any information on the Report Card is unclear, parents should call the teacher for an appointment.

## Student Health

## Health Office Services (Nurse)

Ms. Lorene Simoneau is an important part of the home/school team. The nurse's office is located inside the main entrance to Lane School, one door to the left of the school office. Contact the School Nurse at 781-275-7623

- If a student does not feel well or gets hurt, the student should see the nurse.
- Students will receive vision, hearing, and postural screening during the school year.
- Parents should contact the nurse about any medication that is taken during school time. Medications
  of any kind should not be in school without a physician's or parent's permission form signed and on
  record in the Health Office. The nurse, under orders from your doctor and following state guidelines,
  will give the student medicine when needed.
- Parents should call the nurse when their child is ill for an extended period of time or to report a Covid
  or Strep infection. If home tutoring or special transportation is needed, the nurse will provide a form
  to be signed by a physician.
- Students are not allowed to carry any medications in school, even over-the-counter medications.

  These items must be kept with the nurse in the **original**, **labeled** containers. For obvious reasons, all medications must be clearly identifiable. If you have a medical condition that requires an adjustment in school procedures, your parents should call the school nurse, Ms. Simoneau.

The counselors work very closely and confidentially with Ms. Simoneau so that they are up-to-date about issues that may be affecting students.

#### Health Records

Parents who have questions about their child's health records should please call the school nurse. Please be sure to provide the requested health information and keep it up-to-date. All medical records are kept confidential.

#### Information about Student Self-Harm

If a student talks about hurting themselves, our counseling staff is prepared to work closely with the family to help access supports.

#### **Out of School Resources**

• Your Parent(s)/Guardian(s)

Bedford Youth and Family Services
 1-781-275-7727

Suicide Prevention (Samaritans)
The Bedford Police Department
The Bedford Ambulance Service
Emerson Hospital-Emergency Room
Boundaries Therapy Center
Center for Mental Health
Eliot Community Mental Health Center
1-617-247-0220
1-781-275-1212
1-781-275-7262
1-978-369-1400
1-978-263-4878
1-800-540-5806
1-978-369-1113

## Statement on Social Networking & Electronic Communications

The administrators, faculty and School Council recommends that elementary school students not use user-generated social media sites such as Facebook, Instagram, Twitter, Snap Chat, TikTok, etc. Students are not yet mature enough to handle the difficulties that may be presented through interactions on these sites. We further recommend that parents monitor their child's use of electronic communications, such as texting, email, and instant messaging.

If a student is communicating through the use of technology and views anything that makes them feel uncomfortable they should immediately leave that site. Parents should notify the site provider immediately. Please also report this to the local police department, especially if your child is being threatened or harassed. If there is a specific threat mentioned regarding your child at the elementary school please report the incident to the Principal or the Assistant Principal.

## Student Code of Conduct

At Lane, we have a clear set of school rules that allow us to function as a community and to feel safe and secure in the school. The rules are based on common sense and help us to be physically and mentally safe, to work together in a common space, to maintain good health, and obey local and state laws.

BE RESPECTFUL	Use kind words. Help a friend. Work quietly. Avoid the possibility of hurting others with words or actions. Snow, sticks, acorns, and rocks must stay on the ground
BE RESPONSIBLE	Follow school rules. Tell the truth. Focus on yourself and be prepared. Pick up litter, even if it is not yours, and recycle paper to save our environment. Be sure to wash your hands often, especially before eating. Be careful when you have a writing tool in your hands so as to not accidentally poke someone with it. Gum does not belong in school. Ask your teacher if you need to leave class. Speak to an adult wherever you see someone doing something dangerous or destructive.

BE READY	Follow directions. Pay attention and listen closely. Learn to ask for help when you need it. Remember
	to bring all your learning materials to and from school each day.

Offenses below are categorized according to the level of seriousness. Each category is followed by a set of minimum and additional penalties. These penalties shall be administered judiciously. They are intended to ensure a safe environment for learning and, where appropriate, modify student behavior. The Code of Conduct addresses commonly occurring forms of misconduct. However, because not all examples of misconduct can be foreseen, the school reserves the right to issue consequences for other unanticipated forms of misbehavior. The Code of Conduct applies to student behavior at all school-sponsored/school-related events including, but not limited to school-sponsored evening events.

## **Behavioral Expectations**

The following information pertains to behavior in the Lane School cafeteria, classrooms, hallways and on the school bus.

## **Restorative Practices**

Whenever possible, Lane School attempts to employ Restorative Practices in response to unexpected behaviors. These practices, which can be applied by both teachers and administrators, promote more inclusive, relationship-building, problem-solving approaches to address the behavior. Restorative practices encourage students to reflect on their behavior, take responsibility, and develop plans for repairing harm.

## Cafeteria Expectations

Our cafeteria is a relatively large space, and to help in ensuring a good lunch period, there are a few rules students have to observe:

- While waiting in line for their lunch, students should be orderly and patient. Students should form a line when waiting for their turn.
- Students should make an effort to include other students who may wish to sit with them. Students may not save seats. Students are expected to stay in one seat for the duration of the lunch period.
- Try to speak at a moderate volume. There is no need to yell or scream.
- Please keep the cafeteria a clean place to eat. Food should find its way to your stomach, not on the tables or floors. Clean your table and the area around your seat when finished. Students are expected to be cooperative if the adults supervising the cafeteria ask for help in picking up at the end of the lunch wave.
- Food must be finished before leaving the cafeteria. No food should be taken from the cafeteria, including snack food or drinks from the vending machine.
- Throw all trash away and recycle your aluminum and plastic cans in the receptacles provided.
- Students may only leave the cafeteria after being dismissed by a supervising adult. Do not run when leaving the cafeteria or at any time until outside of the gym area.

#### Classroom Expectations

Students work with teachers to create expectations for behavior in class. This approach is part of the Responsive Classroom philosophy.

#### Hallway Expectations

When walking in the corridors or going up or down any staircases, keep to the right. Do not yell or run in the corridor. Students are not allowed to touch, slap, or hit the tops of door frames, ceiling tiles, or exit signs at

any time. Following these rules will prevent confusion and ensure everyone's safety. Please be aware that there are adults moving through the corridors and be courteous at all times.

## School Bus Expectations

Misbehavior on the bus can lead to the loss of bus privileges for a time. The first time students break a rule on the bus, they may be suspended from riding the bus for a period of time deemed appropriate by the administration. A second offense on the bus may earn a month-long bus suspension. A third offense means that they may lose their bus privileges for the remainder of the school year.

### **School Bus Rules**

- Riders must remain seated when the bus is in motion.
- Whistling and shouting are not permitted.
- Profanity and obscene language, which includes tormenting and racial, religious or gender slurs, are forbidden.
- The following disturbances are prohibited:
  - o Pushing, wrestling or inflicting bodily harm in any way
  - Threatening other passengers or disturbing their possessions
  - O Unnecessary talking to the driver or distracting the operator of the bus
  - o Throwing objects within the bus or out of windows
  - o Climbing over or under seats
  - Littering the bus
  - o Leaning out of windows/including head, arms/hands or feet
  - Defacing or damaging the bus
- Weapons of any kind including using body parts as weapons
- Parents will be held responsible for any defacing or damaging of the bus.

## Types of Consequences (Examples but not limited to)

### Time to Think Form

A "Time to Think" form indicates that your child has needed more than one reminder of what is appropriate behavior here at Lane School

### **Recess Detention**

The office will sometimes issue recess detention for minor violations of the school's disciplinary code. Recess detentions require that the student sits in the main office in a designated area that is supervised by an adult while their grade level is having recess.

### **Lunch Detention**

The office will sometimes issue lunch detentions for minor violations of the school's disciplinary code. Lunch detentions require that the student eat their lunch in the main office in a designated area that is supervised by an adult.

## Suspension

The term suspension refers to either an **In-School Suspension** or an **Out-of-School Suspension**. Students receiving an In-School Suspension will be required to stay in a designated area of the building where they will be supervised for the duration of the school day. Students will be expected to complete all of their schoolwork for the day while in the office. It is likely that after the day(s) of suspension the student will need to make appointments to meet with teachers to catch up on any missed instruction or activities that could not be authentically recreated.

An out-of-school suspension is a suspension that the student must serve at home. Students and a parent/guardian will be required to attend a re-entry meeting on the morning of the student's scheduled return to school.

When receiving an In-School or Out-of-School suspension, students will not be able to participate in after-school activities such as socials or evening events for the duration of the suspension. During a suspension, students are not allowed on any of the Bedford Schools' grounds, except during the period of time when a student serves an in-school suspension.

Prior to a student's **out-of-school suspension for 10 or less days**, the student's parent(s) or guardian will be notified, and the student will be provided with:

- 1. an oral or written notice describing the basis for the charge, potential consequences, including the length of the possible suspension, the opportunity for a hearing with the principal or their designee, the date/time/location of the hearing, the right to interpreter services if necessary, and the right of the student to dispute or explain the conduct.
- 2. an explanation of the evidence and the opportunity to meet and present their side of the story to the school administrator.
- 3. The principal, or a designee, shall ensure that the parent or guardian of the student is notified of the behavioral infraction and the corresponding consequences as outlined in the Student Code of Conduct. A reasonable effort will have been made if the principal or his designee has provided written notice and made two attempts to contact the parents using the means designated by the parents on the emergency response form.
- 4. A student may be removed from school immediately, without a prior meeting with the student or parents, if the student's continued presence of the student poses a danger to persons or property, or materially and substantially disrupts the order of the school, and, in

the principal's judgment, there is no alternative available to alleviate the danger or disruption. The principal shall immediately notify the superintendent in writing of the removal and the reason for it, and describe the danger presented by the student.

- 5. A re-entry' student-parent-administrator meeting may be required to readmit a student to school following suspension.
- 6. Days missed as a result of suspension do not count toward a student's allotted term absences.

**Long Term Suspension:** Any long-term suspension (exceeding 10 days whether in school or out of school) for conduct other than the conduct described by M.G.L. c. 71, sec. 37H and 37H1/2 of the Education Reform Act of 1993, shall require a formal hearing. In such cases, a student is entitled to a notice of hearing that explains the charges, describes the evidence, lists the potential consequences, and provides the parents and student with the date/ time/location of the hearing. For all such cases, the Principal shall hold a formal hearing, including the student's right to be represented by counsel, present witnesses or evidence, cross-examine witnesses, and the right to render a written decision.

No long-term suspension shall exceed 90 days. A student who is suspended for 10 or more days shall be entitled to an appeal to the Superintendent or his designee. For the purposes of the Code of Conduct, the Principal shall be the Superintendent's designee for any suspension issued by the Assistant Principal. Any student serving a long-term suspension shall be entitled to receive services pursuant to the school-wide education plan.

## Other Offenses & Consequences

## Category A

1. An assault\* on a principal, assistant principal, teacher, teacher's aide, or other educational staff on school premises or school-sponsored or school-related events including athletic games.

- 2. Possession of a dangerous weapon, including, but not limited to, a gun or knife, on school premises or at school-sponsored, or at school-related events including athletic games.
- 3. Sale, distribution, or possession of a controlled substance as defined in Chapter 94C of the M.G.L., including but not limited to marijuana or prescription drugs belonging to another, on school premises or at school-sponsored or school-related events (See Drug and Alcohol Policy for more information.)
- 4. An assault\* on any member of the school community who is not a member of the school staff, including but not limited to, parents. This may include, but is not limited to, obtaining money, material goods, or favors by the threat of physical harm, threats of violence, or threats to damage property directed toward any member of the school community.
- 5. Sale of alcoholic beverages or vaping paraphernalia. (See Drug and Alcohol Policy for more information.)
- 6. An act of arson (i.e. setting something on fire), or the use of explosives (including smoke bombs and fireworks).
- 7.. Bomb threats or tampering with and/or activating fire alarm pull stations and/or smoke detectors (false alarms).

\*Assault: Blacks' Law Dictionary defines "assault" to mean "an intentional unlawful offer of corporal injury to another by force, or force unlawfully directed toward another person, under such circumstances as to create well-founded fear of imminent peril, coupled with the apparent present ability to execute attempt, if not prevented."

### **Minimum Penalties** (one or more will apply):

- Possible Ten-day suspension from all classes and school activities.
- Restitution for any damage.
- Involvement of the police and fire departments as appropriate.

• Loss of school bus transportation privileges for up to the remainder of the school year if the violation occurs on a school bus..

Participation in a Drug/Alcohol Diversion Program may reduce suspension time for offenses 3 or 6 if deemed appropriate. See Drug and Alcohol Policy for more information.

### **Category (A) Additional Action:**

- Additional days of suspension from all classes and activities.
- In cases of offenses 1, 2 and 3, determination will be made by the Principal as to whether the student shall be expelled from school. See M.G.L. 37H and 37H-1/2 for more information.
- In cases of offenses 4-8, the Principal will determine if the student shall be referred to the Superintendent who may bring the student before the School Committee for possible expulsion proceedings.
- Exclusion from all non-academic school activities for up to the remainder of the school year.

## Category B

- 1. Being found in possession of, using, or being under the effect following the use of alcoholic beverages. (See Drug and Alcohol Policy in the appendix for more information).
- 2. Being found under the influence of a controlled substance as defined in Chapter 94C of the M.G.L. including, but not limited to marijuana, cocaine, heroin, or prescription drugs on school premises or at school-sponsored or school-related events including athletics.
- 3. Being found in possession of, using, or being under the effect of tobacco or vaping devices and/or paraphernalia.
- 4. Organizing or participating in any act of harassment (persistent acts of annoyance, threats, or intimidation). This includes but is not limited to, harassment based on gender, race, sexuality, sexual orientation, or religion. (See Harassment Policy for more information.)
- 5. Organizing or participating in any act of bullying, hazing, or initiation. Examples of bullying may include but are not limited to, physical assault, threats and intimidation, name-calling, taunting, and other verbal abuse, creating and/or spreading malicious rumors, stealing, or destruction of another student's property. (See Hazing Policy for more information.)
- 6. Destruction of, or damage to, school or personal property, including but not limited to, graffiti.
- 7. Possession of fireworks, stink bombs, or other dangerous or destructive devices.
- 8. Theft of school property, receiving stolen items, or possession of stolen items. (This includes but is not limited to, teaching materials, tests/ quizzes, and unauthorized copying, deleting or otherwise tampering with computer software.)
- 9. Fighting: a hostile physical altercation including pushing, shoving or wrestling that does not rise to the level of assault under M.G.L. 37H.
- 10. Inappropriate sexual activity on school property.
- 11. The unauthorized distribution of a recording of visual images or audio of anyone taken at Lane School is prohibited. Anyone distributing such images, no matter how small the audience is prohibited.
- 12. Making threats of any kind that could potentially have a significant disruption on the learning environment even if such a threat was not carried out.

### **Category (B) Minimum Penalties** (one or more will apply):

• One to five-day suspension from all classes and activities.

- Restitution for any damages.
- Involvement of police and fire departments as appropriate.
- In the case of number 10, involvement of the Department of Children and Families is required by law.
- Loss of school bus transportation privileges for up to the remainder of the school year if the violation occurs on a school bus.
- Student may become ineligible for after-school activities and athletics for up to the remainder of the school year, term and/or athletic season.
- Determination as to whether additional action as noted below is required.

### **Category (B) Additional Action:**

- Additional days of suspension from all classes and activities.
- Superintendent/School Committee hearing to determine expulsion from school.

## Category (C) Offenses

- 1. Open, or continued defiant behavior toward school personnel (i.e. insubordination, which is defined as failure to comply with directions or any school personnel acting legitimately in their official capacity).
- 2. Use of ethnic or racial slurs, inappropriate sexual language, homophobic comments, or demeaning comments based on age, religion or disability not directed to a specific person or group of people.
- 3. Noncompliance with policy regarding computer/Chromebook or Internet use. (Refer to the Bedford Public Schools Acceptable Use Policy found in the Appendix for more information.) This includes the unauthorized recording of visual images or audio while on school grounds, whether it is done though cell phones or other means is prohibited.
- 4. Forgery, willful use of a forged document and/or tampering with school records. (This includes, but is not limited to, the signing of a parent's or teacher's name or initials to an absence note, attendance report or pass or the signing of one's name to a pass intended for another.)
- 5. Obscene, abusive or profane language or gestures, which, by virtue of being rude, insolent or insulting, are disruptive of the educational process.
- 6. Failure to identify one's self by giving a correct first and last name upon first request by school personnel.
- 7. Serious endangerment, defined as acts that endanger a person or more than one person. This includes, but is not limited to, pranks that may not possess a harmful intent, but are dangerous in nature.
- 8. Leaving school grounds while school is in session without an authorized dismissal note.
- 9. Trespassing on school grounds or at school-sponsored activities (includes, but is not limited to, suspended and absent students).
- 10. Missing assigned office detention (Cutting/Skipping Detentions).
- 11. Possession of smoking, or using tobacco products and paraphernalia in school buildings, on school grounds, or at school-sponsored events. This includes, but is not limited to, e-cigarettes, vapes, cigars, and chewing tobacco.
- 12. Malicious teasing.
- 13. Fire Safety Violation. Examples include, but are not limited to, using matches, lighters, or misusing Bunsen burners or other science equipment.

- 14. Selling, buying, or trading of valuables or money such as, but not limited to, electronic devices.
- 15. Disruptive behavior to persons or property which substantially interrupts the educational process such as throwing snowballs, other objects, or food and making excessive noise.

### **Category (C) Minimum Penalties** (one or more will apply):

- One to three-day suspension from all classes and school activities
- Involvement of police or fire departments as appropriate.
- Loss of school bus transportation privileges for up to the remainder of the school year if the violation occurs on a school bus.
- For noncompliance of Computer Use Policy: suspension from all school computer use for up to the remainder of the year. Cell phone confiscation.
- Determination as to whether additional action as noted below is required.
- In the case of smoking/vaping: payment of fines/tobacco education program if appropriate. (See Tobacco Policy in appendix)
- Restitution for any damages, which may include but is limited as community service and/or a letter of apology.
- Loss of recess
- Lunch detention

## **Category (C) Multiple Offenses May Result in Additional Action:**

- Additional days of suspension from all classes and activities.
- Superintendent/School Committee hearing to determine expulsion from school.

## Category (D) Offenses

- 1. Cheating: including, but not limited to:
  - a. Sharing or learning of specific questions on an academic assessment before it is given.
  - b. Sharing or obtaining information during an academic learning activity
  - c. A student turns in another's work as his or her own.
  - d. A student copying the work of another student on an assignment or assessment.
  - e. A student using a book without permission during an assessment
  - f. A student copying directly from a book, the internet, a digital file, or other reference sources without giving appropriate credit to the author. (Plagiarism, i.e. submitting another's work or ideas as one's own.)
  - g. Forging signatures on any school-related work or documents.
- 2. Being outside the building or in another unauthorized area while school is in session.
- 3. Inappropriate physical behavior in a school environment such as horseplay, roughhousing and fooling around.
- 4. Unauthorized absence from class, or part of a class (class cut).
- 5. Pushing/hitting/teasing (calling names) while at recess

### **Category (D) Minimum Penalties** (one or more will apply):

- Time to Think form
- If a student is caught cheating (including plagiarism), he or she will initially receive zero credit for the assignment. The teacher will give the student the opportunity to authentically complete the assignment, in which case the student will receive a failing grade for the assignment, with a numeric

score no less than a 50 and no greater than a 59. Additionally, a note will be placed in the student file and the teacher will contact the student's parents to arrange a meeting. A numeric score of a zero may be given if a second offense occurs in the same school year.

- Loss of school bus transportation privileges for up to the remainder of the school year if the violation
  occurs on a school bus.
- Determination as to whether additional action as noted below is required.
- Restitution for any damages, which may include, but is not limited to, community service and/or a letter of apology.
- Loss of recess
- Lunch Detention

## **Category (D) Multiple Offenses May Result in Additional Action:**

- Additional days of suspension from all classes and activities.
- Superintendent/School Committee hearing to determine expulsion from school.

## Category (E) Offenses

- 1. Possession and/or use of electronic devices including, but not limited to, cell phones, smart watches, Ipods, MP3 players, personal gaming systems, video cameras, and laser pointers, on school premises or during school-sponsored activities and/or while school is in session.
- 2. Food or drink in unauthorized areas (excluding water), littering, failure to clean up after self.
- 3. Excessive tardiness/loss of class time (wandering the hallways) as reported by teacher or administrator.
- 5. Repeatedly violating general classroom behavior rules and/or being referred to the office by a teacher for disciplinary reasons.
- 6. Repeatedly violating general recess/lunchroom behavior rules and/or being referred to the office by the teacher for disciplinary reasons.

### **Category (E) Minimum Penalties** (one or more will apply):

- Time to Think form
- In the case of #1, the item will be confiscated and parents may be asked to pick the item up at school. Successive incidents could result in extended confiscation and the banning of the electronic device for a period of time, including, but not limited, to the entire school year.
- In the case of #2: cleaning of the physical area.
- Determination as to whether additional action as noted below is required.
- Restitution for any damages, which may include, but is not limited to, community service and/or a letter of apology.
- Loss of recess
- Lunch detention

### **Category (E) Multiple Offenses May Result in Additional Action:**

- Additional days of suspension from all classes and activities.
- Compensatory work (e.g. cleaning cafeteria and/or school grounds).
- Superintendent/School Committee hearing to determine expulsion from school.

## Bullying & Cyber-bullying

Bullying of any type has no place in a school setting. The Bedford Public Schools will endeavor to maintain an environment free of bullying. Bullying behavior by students may start in elementary school as teasing and/or put-downs, and become progressively worse, potentially assuming physical dimensions. Bullying and harassment are major distractions from learning that can have a significant impact on the academics of the victim. Fear can lead to chronic absenteeism, truancy, or even dropping out of school. Additionally, bystanders may feel both guilty and/or helpless for not standing up to the bully. It is important to note that sexual harassment can also be a form of bullying.

## **Bullying Defined**

Bullying is the repeated use by one or more students (or by a member of a school staff including, but not limited to, an educator, administrators, school nurse, cafeteria worker, custodian, bus driver, athletic coach, advisor to an extracurricular activity or paraprofessional) of a written, verbal, or electronic expression, or a physical act or gesture, or any combination thereof, directed at a target that:

- Causes physical or emotional harm to the target or damage to the target's property;
- Places the target in a reasonable fear of harm to themself, or of damage to their property;
- Creates a hostile environment at school for the target;
- Infringes on the rights of the target at school; or
- Materially and substantially disrupts the education process or the orderly operation of a school.

Bullying takes place when a stronger or more emotionally or socially powerful individual(s) intentionally and repeatedly hurts, threatens, or torments a more vulnerable individual.

### Bullying:

- is deliberate.
- happens repeatedly.
- represents a marked imbalance of power between bully and victim. Bullying is a one-sided, unfair match.

Bullying, therefore, is different from a single incident of teasing. It is, in fact, an abuse of power. Bullying also differs from play, and from the normal conflicts of childhood. When two children of approximately equal strength or power are engaged in a fight, it is not bullying. Thus, although all acts of bullying are aggressive, not all aggressive acts are bullying. Bullying can occur face to face or it can happen behind one's back, especially through cyberbullying.

Cyberbullying is defined as willful and repeated harm inflicted through the medium of any electronic device. Bullying can be short-term or it can last a long time. Bullying can be done by an individual or by a group.

If a student feels that they are being bullied, it is important to tell a trusted adult, a parent, teacher, counselor, principal, or nurse, who can help them.

## Lane School's Response to Bullying & Harassment

Bullying incidents at Lane School is considered a Category B offense to the Student Code of Conduct and will be disciplined accordingly. In addition to disciplinary consequences, a student found responsible for malicious teasing, bullying or harassment may be required to meet with a school counselor for a number of sessions deemed appropriate by the administration. These sessions may consist of individual or group sessions.

## **Appendix**

## District Curriculum Accommodation Plan (DCAP)

The Bedford Public Schools' District Curriculum Accommodation Plan (DCAP) is designed to assist administrators, teachers, and other staff in ensuring that all possible efforts have been made to meet students' needs in general education classrooms and to support teachers in analyzing and accommodating diverse learning styles of all children that may be present in a school. Led by the building principal, staff at each school collaborates on best practices in order to ensure that adequate instructional strategies and supports are available for both students and staff. The DCAP is directly connected to procedures that are currently in place to strengthen and improve the general education program for the benefit of all students, not solely or specifically for special education.

The Bedford Public School DCAP is a comprehensive one that includes the following components:

- Building-based Response to Intervention/Student Support Teams meet on a regular basis and
  provide general education teachers the opportunity to collaboratively work together to find
  accommodations and interventions to meet the needs of students. Consultations with specialists who
  can provide important information and expertise to general education teachers are a common part of
  the RTI/SST meeting. Parents are often an important part of the process as well. Establishing
  home/school connections is a strategy that is often implemented as a result of a referral to the team.
- Our schools employ the services of many specialists for the purpose of assisting students who need
  extra support. Careful assessment and remediation are planned. Collaboration with the general
  education teacher is an important component of the success of this collaboration. For example,
  reading specialists not only work with selected students but also model effective reading lessons for
  teachers to use with their entire class.
- Bedford Public Schools provides a Mentoring Program for all Year One and Year Two educators.
   Year One staff members participate in a yearlong Induction Program as well as work with a veteran teacher on a one-to-one basis. Year Two staff work in small groups with a Mentor who provides more focused and personal guidance regarding instructional strategies and classroom management.
- Professional Development is an important part of our District goals providing all staff with an
  opportunity to collaborate during Wednesday early releases and to participate in workshops both
  within the district and at regional and statewide meetings and conferences. A wide array of topics
  ranging from instructional and behavioral strategies for special populations to current trends in
  curriculum and assessment to state regulations may be covered in these professional development
  offerings.
- Ongoing academic support is available at the building level through before and after school programs. These opportunities are provided by Title I, METCO, grants to the individual schools, or by

individual teachers. The goal of these programs is to increase the skills and confidence of our students so they can successfully apply their knowledge to the classroom and real-life situations.

All staff are also able to provide individual accommodations to students on an as-needed basis and specific to the content or situation, including curriculum accommodations for elementary, middle, and high school. The DCAP includes suggestions for accommodating concerns regarding academic progress as well as strategies and interventions designed to resolve social and behavioral issues. While it lists best practices, sample strategies and other actions from which the teachers and collaborating staff may select appropriate accommodations for individual students, in no way does the DCAP limit the accommodations that staff may choose to implement in order to meet a student's needs.

The DCAP is intended to address various strategies at each level that will include:

- Accommodations to address various students' learning needs, including students who are English Language Learners, At Risk, Title I, Special Education, or Gifted and Talented and to manage student's behavior effectively.
- Support services that are available to students through the general education program, including services to address the needs of students whose behavior may interfere with learning.
- Direct and systematic reading instruction for all students.

Components of this document were adapted from "Mitigative Strategies" <a href="http://www.as.wvu.edu/~scidis/dyscalcula.html">http://www.as.wvu.edu/~scidis/dyscalcula.html</a> and from publications by Education Development Center, Inc. 2007

## Resources, Structures and Services at the Lane Elementary School

The following resources, structures, and services have been designed to meet the diverse learning needs of students at the Lt. Job Lane Elementary School. Additionally, the building-based SST (Student Success Team) provide a systematic and collaborative approach to identifying and addressing individual student academic and behavioral needs.

### Academic

- Reading Specialists provide individualized and research-based programs.
- Math Title 1 staff provide tutorial services to identified students.
- After-school Homework Club is offered, when possible.
- Special Education liaisons consult frequently with regular classroom teachers regarding curricular delivery and individual student needs.
- ELL teachers work with English Language Learners both in the classroom and on a pull-out basis.
- Pre-testing before units is used to inform flexible grouping.

## **Behavioral/Social/Emotional**

- Counseling/Social Skills Groups focus on developmental topics.
- Consultative services regarding challenging behaviors at school are provided to the classroom teacher by
  - the Board Certified Behavior Analyst (BCBA).
- Individual behavior intervention plans are coordinated with teachers, adjustment counselors, BCBA, and
  - SST Team members.
- Individual/small group counseling sessions target individual student issues.
- Project Adventure is an intensive program for fifth graders that builds team cooperation and individual self-confidence.

### **Routinely Used Instructional Strategies**

In addition to the pre-referral options open to Bedford students, teachers throughout the district make

routine use of the following strategies as part of their commitment to good instruction. It should be noted that the strategies listed below may not be appropriate for all instructional settings or for all learning objectives.

## **Design Lessons for Clarity**

• Share lesson goals with students each day and check on progress towards those goals at the end of the

lesson.

- Provide a daily agenda to students.
- Identify key vocabulary and repeat that vocabulary often during a lesson.
- Provide students with regular opportunities to engage actively in instruction.
- Check for understanding frequently.
- Incorporate opportunities for student movement into lessons.
- Incorporate "Wait time" into lessons.
- Preview new concepts.

### **Address Assessment Issues**

- Teach and practice test-taking strategies and anticipate test formats when appropriate.
- Clarify directions or questions.
- Have student paraphrase directions and questions, as needed.
- Provide visual and auditory directions.
- Use timers/time reminders to help students pace themselves if the timing is an issue.
- Allow extended time for assessments when appropriate.
- All MCAS test administrations are untimed. Since any student may be given additional time beyond the scheduled test administration session, additional time is not considered an MCAS accommodation. However, no single test session may extend beyond the end of the regular school day, and any single test session must be completed on the same day in which it begins. Students taking the English Language Arts (ELA) Composition test must complete two sessions (Session A and B) in one day.
- Evaluate student understanding using multiple formats.

### **Build a Context for Material**

- Make the content relevant to students.
- Show examples of the finished product (exemplars).
- Use a familiar context when introducing concepts.
- Preview vocabulary.
- Have student identify key information and main ideas.
- Relate lesson parts to the whole.

## **Model Strategies**

- Use graphic organizers to highlight relationships.
- Model use of highlighting and color-coding to help retention (visual memory) and to accentuate patterns when
  - appropriate.
- Use "think alouds" and other metacognitive strategies.
- Provide study tools and/or teach students to make study tools.

### **Provide Added Supports**

- Teach note-taking strategies when appropriate.
- Provide templates/graphic organizers when appropriate.
- Provide a word bank with key vocabulary words and visuals when appropriate.
- Reformat handouts to provide space for students to write when appropriate.
- Provide checklists for multi-step tasks, when appropriate.
- Provide opportunities for learning and study strategies that incorporate the use of highlighters and post-it notes,
  - etc. for class use.
- Provide varied opportunities for student practice.
- Provide graph paper and encourage students to use it in order to keep the numbers or letters in line when appropriate.
- Provide uncluttered workspaces. Allow scrap paper with lines and ample room, especially on tests, for uncluttered computation.
- Provide timely feedback with opportunities for student revision.
- Provide technological accommodations when possible, such as word processors, computer accessibility features

and Kurzweil.

## **Establish Routines that Support Learning**

- Develop a system of non-verbal cues for class attention.
- Provide preferential seating for students who appear distracted.
- Use consistent and familiar routines.
- Provide students with opportunities to problem-solve individually or in small groups.

## Access Procedures for Non-Custodial Parents

As required by M.G.L. c.71, 34H, a non-custodial parent may have access to the student record in accordance with the following provisions:

A non-custodial parent is eligible to obtain access to the student record unless:

- the parent has been denied legal custody based on a threat to the safety of the student or to the custodial parent, or
- the parent has been denied visitation or has been ordered to supervised visitation, or
- the parent's access to the student or to the custodial parent has been restricted by a temporary or permanent protective order, unless the protective order (or any subsequent order modifying the protective order) specifically allows access to the information contained in the student record.

In order to obtain access, the non-custodial parent must submit a written request for the student record to the school principal annually. The initial request must include the following:

A certified copy of the court order or judgment relative to the custody of the student that either indicates that the requesting parent is eligible to receive access as set forth in 603 CMR 23.07 (5)(a), or a certified copy of a court order specifically ordering that the student records be made available to the non-custodial parent, and

Affidavit from the non-custodial parent that said court order or judgment remains in effect and that there is no temporary or permanent order restricting access to the custodial parent or any child in the custodial parent's custody.

The non-custodial parent must submit a written request for access each year stating that said parent continues to be entitled to unsupervised visitation with the student and is eligible to obtain access as set forth in 603 CMR 23.07 (5) (a).

Upon receipt of the request (initial and annual) the school must immediately notify the custodial parent by certified and first-class mail, in English and the primary language of the custodial parent, that it will provide the non-custodial parent with access after 21 days unless the custodial parent provides the principal with documentation that the non-custodial parent is not eligible to obtain access as set forth in 603 CMR (5) (a).

The school must delete the address and telephone number of the student and custodial parent from student records provided to non-custodial parents. In addition, such records must be marked to indicate that they shall not be used to enroll the student in another school.

Upon receipt of a court order which prohibits the distribution of information pursuant to G.L. c.71, 34H, the school shall notify the non-custodial parent that it shall cease to provide access to the student record to the non-custodial parent.

## Place of Attendance; Chapter 75, Section 5: Description

Every person shall have a right to attend the public schools of the town where he/she actually resides, subject to the following section. No person shall be excluded from or discriminated against in admission to a public school of any town, or in obtaining the advantages, privileges, and course of study of such public school on account of race, color, sex, age, disability, religion, national origin or sexual orientation.

### Promotion and Retention of Students, File: IKE

The School Committee is dedicated to the best total and continuous development of each student enrolled. The professional staff is expected to place students at the grade level best suited to them academically, socially, and emotionally.

In evaluating student achievement, each teacher will make use of all available information, including results of teacher-made tests and other measures of skill and content mastery, standardized test results, and teacher observation of student performance. The Principal will direct and aid teachers in their evaluations and review grade assignments in order to ensure uniformity of evaluation standards.

Students will normally progress annually from grade to grade. Exceptions may be made when, in the judgment of the professional staff, such exceptions are in the best educational interest of the students involved. Exceptions will only be made after prior notification and explanation to each student's parents/guardians, but the final decision will rest with the building Principal.

### **Bus Policies**

## Procedures for Drivers, School Principals, and Parents

In case of misconduct on a bus, the incident will be reported on the proper form to the school principal by the driver. The principal will report the incident in writing to the child's parent. In the case of injury, the parents or guardians of the injured child will be notified.

In case of a repetition of misconduct, within a school year, the principal may suspend the student's transportation privileges, for a period of time to be specified. The student will have been afforded an opportunity for a hearing prior to disciplinary action. For the exclusion of ten days or less, the student will be given notice of the charges and the evidence against him or her, and an opportunity to respond to the charges. Written notice of exclusion will be provided to the parents and a copy sent to the Business Manager. The parents, and when appropriate the student, must meet with the principal prior to the return of bus-riding privileges. All disciplinary action will be subject to appropriate due process.

Further misconduct shall be referred to the Business Manager. If upon investigation by the Business Manager, he/she deems the misbehavior to be chronic, bus privileges will be denied the student for a period to be determined by the Director of Curriculum, and the responsibility for transportation will then rest with the parent.

Any parent concerned with misconduct on the bus should be reported in writing to the principal who shall conduct an investigation to determine the merits of the complaint. Appropriate disciplinary consequences as outlined above will follow.

Any serious offense that threatens the safety of any bus passengers or driver will be treated with whatever extraordinary measures are deemed appropriate by the school principal including immediate suspension from the bus. A disciplinary hearing will be held the next school day and a decision will be rendered of disciplinary action. Consequences could include either short and long-term suspension or permanent exclusion from the school bus.

### Procedures to Follow in Case of Concerns

If parents have any concerns or questions they should follow these procedures:

### **Request for Bus Stop Change**

All requests should be submitted in writing to the Business Manager at, 97 McMahon Road (Located at John Glen Middle School).

### Concerns with a Bus Driver

Letters sent to the Business Manager, Bus Company and where appropriate, the Lane Principal..

### **Student Behavior on the Bus**

Communication should be sent to the principal immediately following the incident. The principal in turn will take the necessary steps to investigate the complaint and will respond in writing to the concerns in a timely fashion.

## School Bus Safety Program

The safety and welfare of student riders will be the first consideration in all matters pertaining to transportation. Safety precautions will include the following:

- All pupils will be instructed as to the proper procedure for boarding and exiting a school bus and in proper and safe conduct while aboard.
- On-bus emergency evacuation drills will be conducted at least twice a year to acquaint student riders with procedures in emergency situations.
- All vehicles used to transport children will be inspected periodically for conformance with state and federal safety requirements.
- All school rules apply on the bus.
- Parents will be apprised of bus procedures and code of conduct.

Adopted: Date of Manual Adoption, Amended: June 15, 2004

LEGAL REFS: M.G.L. 90.7B as amended by Ch. 162 Acts of 1988, M.G.L. 90:1 et seq.; 713.2, 713:7L, .Highway Safety Program Standard #17, .Bedford Elementary Schools Handbook for Parents,. Middle School Student Handbook.

## Drug & Alcohol Abuse: Cases Arising in the Schools

Close cooperation between school authorities and law enforcement officials is essential if the problem of drug and alcohol abuse in the schools is to be addressed adequately. Education and prevention must remain the first priority and the Bedford School Committee will maintain its efforts to provide meaningful programs of drug and alcohol education in whatever way the school deems appropriate.

But where prevention fails, the Bedford School Committee has adopted the following guidelines regarding: (I) the questioning and searching of students suspected of illegal drug or alcohol activity; (II) the reporting of cases to the police; (III) the prosecution of cases, and (IV) the establishment of drug diversion programs.

## Guidelines for questioning and searching students suspected of illegal use of drugs or alcohol.

- A. Each school should specify the staff member(s) authorized to question and search students regarding illicit drug or alcohol activity on school property. (For Lane: Principal, Assistant Principal, Guidance/Adjustment Counselors)
- B. The designated staff member is entitled to conduct a search of a student's person and immediate possessions whenever there are reasonable grounds to believe the student has violated or is violating the law or the rules of the school relating to drugs or alcohol. A mere hunch or suspicion about a student does not constitute reasonable grounds for a search. There must be specific, definable and objective reasons for believing that a particular student is engaged in prohibited drug or alcohol activity.
- C. Before initiating a search of a student reasonably suspected of prohibited drug or alcohol behavior, the designated staff member should question the student, whenever possible, for the purpose of ascertaining:
  - 1. the kind and amount of drug or beverage consumed, possessed, distributed or sold on school property or at school sponsored events;
  - 2. in cases where the student is reasonably suspected of being under the influence of drugs or alcohol, when and where such drug or beverage was last consumed and the quantity consumed;
  - 3. whether the student still has in his or her possession or subject to his or her immediate control more of such drug or beverage;

- 4. when, where, from whom and under what circumstances the student obtained such drug or beverage;
- 5. in the case of sale or distribution, when, where, to whom, and under what circumstances the student sold or distributed such drug or beverage
- D. If, after questioning the student and reviewing the information previously obtained, the designated staff member continues to find there are reasonable grounds for believing the student has violated or is violating the law or school rules regarding drug and alcohol use, then the staff member should search the student's person and/or property under the student's immediate control.

The scope of such search should be limited to what is reasonable related to the objectives of the search and should not be excessively intrusive in light of the age and sex of the student and the nature of the offense. Any search of the student's person should be conducted by a staff member of the same sex.

The above guidelines apply only when school authorities act independently of the police in questioning or searching a student. If the police are involved in interrogation of a student, it may be first necessary for the police to advise that student of his or her *Miranda* rights. If the police are involved in searching a student, there must exist probable cause for the search and, inmost instances, a search warrant.

### Guidelines for the reporting of drug and alcohol abuse cases arising in the schools to the police

No reporting to the Police

**Behavior**: A student voluntarily confides to a teacher or other school official that he or she has a drug or alcohol problem.

**Response**: The school should act so as to encourage other students also to come forward voluntarily about their drug or alcohol use. To this end, contacting a parent and/or referral to treatment or counseling agencies may be appropriate, but the police should not be involved.

### Discretionary Reporting to the Police

**Behavior**: The student's behavior creates a reasonable suspicion that the student is under the influence of alcohol or a controlled substance, but no contraband is found on the student.

**Response**: The decision whether to notify the police in such cases should be left to the discretion of school authorities. Since no contraband is uncovered, school authorities have not actually witnessed the student committing an arrestable offense. However, depending on the particulars of their suspicion and their general knowledge of the student, school officials may deem it appropriate to inform the police about the matter. This should be done informally, for example by telephoning the juvenile officer in the local police department. In consultation with school authorities, the juvenile officer should then determine whether further police involvement or investigation is warranted.

### Recommended Reporting to the Police

**Behavior**: A student is found in illegal possession of alcohol or a controlled substance on school grounds or during a school function.

**Response**: Except when the case is one which the school refers a student directly to a drug and alcohol diversion program, school authorities may report the case to the police. Police should make arrangements to pick up any evidence of crime obtained by the school, and school authorities should forward to the police, as soon as possible, a full written report of the incident if required.

**Behavior**: A student is found selling or distributing alcohol or a controlled substance on or near school grounds or during a school function.

**Response**: School authorities *in all cases* should immediately report the matter to the police. The police should arrange to pick up any evidence.

### Guidelines for the prosecution of drug and alcohol cases arising in the schools

A. Sale or Distribution of Alcohol or Controlled Substances

Barring truly exceptional circumstances, the Bedford Police Department will prosecute all cases reported to it of illegal sale or distribution of alcohol and controlled substances (including prescription drugs and counterfeit controlled substances) occurring on school property or at school functions.

B. Possession of Alcohol or Controlled Substances

The Bedford Police Department will presumptively prosecute all cases reported to it of illegal possession of alcohol or controlled substances (including prescription drugs) on school property or at school functions.

In regard to marijuana, the law provides that, if the case is the student's first drug offense, then he or she is to be placed on six months probation and the case dismissed and records sealed upon successful completion of the probation period.

### Guidelines for drug and alcohol diversion programs

- A. Diversion provides an alternative to criminal prosecution in a limited number of circumstances. If a school or school district desires to establish a drug and alcohol diversion program for its student, the superintendent of schools for that district should obtain the written agreement of the chief of the local police department. Their memorandum of agreement should specify (1) the basic criteria for eligibility into the school's diversion program; (2) procedures for notifying the police whenever school authorities divert a case; and (3) the procedures for turning over to the police all evidence of the student's criminal behavior. The police should agree not to seek a criminal complaint against any student who successfully completes an approved school diversion program. The schools should agree to report to police for prosecution the name of any student who fails to fulfill the requirements of its diversion program.
- B. In regard to eligibility criteria, school authorities and local police departments should consider requiring a student's case to meet all the following criteria for diversion.
  - The student is observed by school officials committing an arrestable offense involving illegal possession of drugs or alcohol;
  - The offense is the student's first and only criminal offense;
  - The amount of drugs or alcohol possessed by the student is small enough to rule out the possibility that the student possessed the substance(s) with intent to distribute them;
  - The student's performance in school does not exhibit a general pattern of violent or anti-social behavior;
  - The student acknowledges responsibility for his or her behavior;
  - The student's parents, where feasible, agree to monitor the student's participation in the diversion program;
  - The student's parents agree to participate in the diversion program if appropriate.
- C. In reviewing whether a particular case is appropriate for diversion, school authorities and local police departments should consider proceeding as follows:
  - The building principal or his designee should confront the student with the evidence against him or her and allow the student an opportunity to be heard.
  - Student's parents should be notified immediately, told the nature of the offense and instructed to come to the school.

- The principal or his designee should then explain the school diversion program to the student and parents, as well as the alternative of seeking a criminal complaint.
- If the parents choose not to have the student participate in the diversion program, the principal or his designees should then report the case immediately to the police, turning over to them any evidence obtained of the student's criminal behavior.
- If the parents choose to have the student participate in the diversion program, school authorities should then notify the local police department of the incident and of the school's decision to refer the matter to its diversion program. The police should arrange to pick up and hold any criminal evidence obtained by school officials. School officials should forward a full written report of the incident to the police as soon as possible. Students who elect the Alcohol and Drug Diversion will be expected to sign a contract which is available in the Principal's Office.

\*\*\* Please note that on March 22, 2010, the following General Bylaw Amendment was passed at Town Meeting pertaining to the Prohibition of Marijuana Use:

### **47.18.1 Public Consumption Forbidden**

No person shall smoke, ingest, otherwise use or consume marijuana or tetrahydrocannabinol (as defined in M.G.L., C. 94C, 1, as amended) while in or upon any street, sidewalk, public way, public building, schoolhouse, school grounds, cemetery, parking lot, or any area owned by or under the control of the Town; or in any place accessible to the public.

### **47.18.2 Enforcement**

The Police Department shall enforce this bylaw. This bylaw may be enforced, in the sole discretion of the enforcing agent, through any lawful means in law or in equity including, but not limited to, enforcement by criminal indictment or complaint pursuant to M.G.L., C. 40, 21, or by non-criminal disposition pursuant to M.G.L., C. 40, 21D. The fine for violation of this bylaw shall be three hundred dollars (\$300) for each offense. Any penalty imposed under this bylaw shall be in addition to any civil penalty imposed under M.G.L, C. 94C, 32L

# Family Education Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA), Massachusetts Student Records Regulations & Bedford Public Schools Annual Notice

The Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) and the Massachusetts Student Records Regulations ("Regulations") together provide parents and eligible students (those who have reached that age of 14 or who have entered ninth grade) certain rights with respect to the student's education records. A general overview of those rights is provided below. Parents and students may obtain a complete copy of their rights under the Massachusetts Student Record Regulations by contacting their building principal.

The right to access the student's education records. Parents or eligible students should submit their request for access to the building principal. Access is generally provided within ten days of a request. However, Massachusetts General Laws c. 71, §34H ("Section 37H") law provides specific procedures that must be followed prior to release of records to a parent who does not have physical custody of a child. Information about these procedures can be obtained from the building principal.

The right to request amendment of the student's education records. Parents or eligible students should direct their request to the principal, clearly identifying the part of the record they wish to have amended, and why.

The right to consent to disclosures of personally identifiable information contained in the student's education records, except to the extent that FERPA and the Massachusetts regulations authorize disclosure without consent. One exception that permits disclosure without consent is disclosure to school officials with legitimate educational interests in the records. Such school officials include professional, administrative and clerical staff who are employed by or under agreement with the Bedford Public Schools and who need access to a record in order to fulfill their duties. The Bedford Public Schools also discloses student records without

parent/eligible student consent to officials of other elementary or secondary schools in which a student enrolls, or seeks, intends, or is instructed to enroll upon receipt of a request from such school officials.

As required by federal law, the Bedford Public Schools routinely releases the name, address and telephone listing of secondary school students to military recruiters and to institutions of higher learning upon request. In the event a parent or eligible student objects to the release of any of the above information, the parent/eligible student may state that objection in writing to High School Principal. Absent receipt of a written objection for the parent or eligible student by October 1<sup>st</sup> (initial notification sent September 2005), this information will be released without further notice or consent.

The right to file a complaint concerning alleged failures by the District to comply with the regulations and laws governing student records. Complaints may be filed at the Massachusetts Department of Education, 350 Main Street, Malden, MA 02148. In addition, complaints relative to federal statutes and regulations governing student records may be filed with the Family Policy Compliance Office, U.S. Department of Education, 400 Maryland Avenue SW, Washington DC.

## Bedford Public Schools Implementation of Protection of Pupil Rights Amendments 1/

The Bedford Public Schools adheres to the Protection of Pupil Rights Amendment (PPRA), <sup>2</sup>/<sub>2</sub> a federal law that affords parents and eligible students (those who have reached the age of 18) certain rights regarding the conduct of surveys, collection and use of information for marketing purposes, and certain physical exams. An overview of these rights follows:

- A. Consent to federally funded surveys concerning "protected information." Schools must obtain written consent of the parent or eligible student prior to requiring the student to participate in a survey that is funded in whole or in part by a program of the United States Department of Education (USDOE) if the survey concerns one or more of the following protected areas of information ("protected information survey"):
  - 1. Political affiliations or beliefs of the student or student's parent;
  - 2. Mental or psychological problems of the student or student's family;
  - 3. Sex behavior or attitudes;
  - 4. Illegal, anti-social, self-incriminating, or demeaning behavior;
  - 5. Critical appraisals of others with whom respondents have close family relationships;
  - 6. Legally recognized privileged relationships, such as with lawyers, doctors, or ministers;
  - 7. Religious practices, affiliations, or beliefs of the student or parents; or
- B. Opt out of certain surveys and exams even if not federally funded. Parents and eligible students must receive notice of any of the following activities and have the right to opt out of them.
  - 1. Any protected information survey, regardless of funding;
  - 2. Any non-emergency, invasive physical exam or screening that is required as a condition of attendance, administered by the school or its agent, and not necessary to protect the immediate health and safety of a student, except for hearing, vision, or scoliosis screenings, or any physical exam or screening permitted or required under State law;<sup>3/</sup>
  - 3. Activities involving collection, disclosure, or use of personal information  $^{4/}$  obtained from students for the purposes of marketing or selling or otherwise distributing the information to others.  $^{5/}$

2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3/</sup> Mass. Gen. Laws §71, §57 requires schools to conduct physical examinations [of students] "to ascertain defects in sight or hearing, postural or other physical defects tending to prevent his receiving the full benefits of his school work and to ascertain physical defects of the feet which might unfavorably influence the child's health or physical efficiency."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4/</sup> Personal information is defined as individually identifiable information including a student or parent's first and last name; home address; telephone number; or social security number. 20 USC §1232h (c)(6)(E).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5/</sup> The requirements concerning activities involving the collection and disclosure of personal information from students for marketing purposes do not apply to the collection, disclosure, or use of personal information collected from students for the exclusive purpose of developing, evaluating, or providing educational products or services for, or to, students or educational institutions, such as the following: college or other postsecondary education recruitment, or military recruitment; book clubs, magazines, and programs

- C. Inspect certain materials. Upon request, parents and eligible students have the right to inspect the following before the school district administers or uses them:
  - 1. Protected information surveys of students;
  - 2. Surveys created by a third party.
  - 3. Instruments used to collect personal information from students for any of the above marketing, sales, or other distribution purposes; and
  - 4. Instructional materials <sup>6</sup>/ used as part of the educational curriculum.
- D. Receive notification of the district's policies on the PPRA. After consultation with parents, the Bedford Public Schools has adopted the following policies to implement the PPRA:

**Notice of Rights:** The Superintendent will arrange for direct notice to parents and eligible students of this policy at the beginning of each school year, either through the U.S. Mail or e-mail, and will provide updates within a reasonable time period after any substantive changes. The Superintendent may also include notice of this policy along with other routine legal notices in one or more local newspapers.

**Notice of Activities**: The Superintendent will arrange for direct notice to parents/eligible students at least annually at the beginning of the school year of the activities or surveys identified in the PPRA that the Bedford Public Schools anticipates conducting. The Superintendent will provide parents/eligible students with consent forms or the opportunity to opt a child out of activities, if applicable.

**Inspection of Materials**: Parents or eligible students who wish to exercise their right to inspect surveys and instructional materials as identified in the PPRA may do so by sending written notice to the [Superintendent of Schools or the School Principal]. The [Superintendent/Principal] will respond to requests within ten calendar days. Opportunity for inspection of applicable materials will be provided at the school or district administrative offices.

**Protections of Student Privacy**: The Superintendent will insure that procedures are in place to protect student privacy in the administration of protected information surveys and in the collection, disclosure or use of personal information for marketing, selling or other distribution purposes.

Parents or eligible students who believe their rights under the PPRA have been violated may file a complaint within the district by contacting the Superintendent of Schools. Complaints may also be filed with:

Family Policy Compliance Office U.S. Department of Education 400 Maryland Avenue, SW Washington, DC 20202-4605

RB\POLICY\N-POLICY-PPA-03-08-12

### **Grievance Procedures**

### Where to File a Complaint

Any person who believes that Lane Elementary School has discriminated against or harassed her/him because of her/his race, color, national origin, sex, disability, or age in admission to, access to, treatment in, or employment in its services, programs, and activities may file a complaint with the principal. If the principal is the person who is alleged to have caused the discrimination or harassment, the complaint may be filed with

providing access to

6

the Assistant Superintedent of the Bedford Public Schools. These individuals are listed below and are hereinafter referred to as "Grievance Administrators".

Principal- Lane Elementary School 781-275-7606 Assistant Superintendent- Bedford Public Schools 781-275-7588

**Complaints of Harassment by Peers**: In the event the complaint consists of a student's allegation that another student is harassing him/her based upon the above-referenced classifications, the student may, in the alternative, file the complaint with a complaint manager (hereinafter referred to as "Building Complaint Manager"). The individual listed below is referred to is the Building Complaint Manager(s):

Assistant Principal-Lane Elementary School
Guidance Counselor/ Adjustment Counselors
781-275-7606
781-275-7606

**Complaints of Discrimination based upon Disability**: A person who alleges discrimination on the basis of disability relative to the identification, evaluation, or educational placement of a person, who, because of handicap needs or is believed to need special instruction or related services, pursuant to Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, Chapter 766, and/or the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, must use the procedure outlined in the Massachusetts Department of Education's Parents' Rights Brochure rather than this Grievance Procedure. A copy of the brochure is available from the following individual:

Director of Special Education 781-275-5296

A person with a complaint involving discrimination on the basis of a disability other than that described above may either use this Grievance Procedure or file the complaint with the U. S. Department of Education at the address provided at the end of this Grievance Procedure.

### **Contents of Complaints and Timelines for Filing**

Complaints under this Grievance Procedure must be filed within 30 school days of the alleged discrimination. The complaint must be in writing. The Grievance Administrator, or any person of the grievant's choosing may assist the grievant with filing the complaint. The written complaint must include the following information:

- 1. The name and school (or address and telephone number if not a student or employee) of the grievant.
- 2. The name (and address and telephone number if not a student or employee) of the grievant's representative, if any.
- 3. The name of the person(s) alleged to have caused the discrimination or harassment (respondent).
- 4. A description, in as much detail as possible, of the alleged discrimination or harassment.
- 5. The date(s) of the alleged discrimination or harassment.
- 6. The name of all persons who have knowledge about the alleged discrimination or harassment (witnesses), as can be reasonably determined.

A description, in as much detail as possible, of how the grievant wants the complaint to be resolved.

## **Investigation and Resolution of the Complaint**

Respondents will be informed of the charges as soon as the Grievance Administrator deems appropriate based upon the nature of the allegations, the investigation required, and the action contemplated. The Grievance Administrator will interview witnesses whom s/he deems necessary and appropriate to determine the facts relevant to the complaint, and will gather relevant information. Such interviews and gathering of information will be completed within fifteen (15) school days of receiving the complaint.

Within twenty (20) school days of receiving the complaint, the Grievance Administrator will meet with the grievant and/or her/his representative to review the information gathered and, if applicable, to propose a resolution designed to stop the discrimination or harassment and to correct its effect. Within ten (10) school days of the meeting with the grievant and/or representative, the Grievance Administrator will provide written disposition of the complaint to the grievant and/or representative and to the respondent(s).

Notwithstanding the above, it is understood that, in the event a resolution contemplated by Lane Elementary involves disciplinary action against an employee or a student, the complainant will not be informed of such disciplinary action, unless it directly involves the complainant (i.e., a directive to "stay away" from the complainant, as might occur as a result of a complaint of harassment.) Any disciplinary action imposed upon an employee or student is subject to applicable procedural requirements.

All the time lines specified above will be implemented as specified, unless the nature of the investigation or exigent circumstances prevent such implementation, in which case, the matter will be completed as quickly as practical. If the timelines specified above are not met, the reason(s) for not meeting them must be clearly documented. In addition, it should be noted that, in the event the respondent is subject to a collective bargaining agreement which sets for a specific timeline for notice and/or investigation of a complaint, such time lines will be followed.

Confidentiality of grievants/respondents and witnesses will be maintained, to the extent consistent with Lane Elementary School's obligations relating to investigation of complaints and the due process rights of individuals affected. Retaliation against someone because he/she has filed a complaint under this Grievance Procedure is strictly prohibited. Acts of retaliation may result in disciplinary action, up to and including suspension or expulsion/discharge.

### **Appeal Process**

If the grievant is not satisfied with a disposition by a Grievance Administrator, the grievant may appeal the disposition to the Superintendent, as follows:

Cliff Chuang, Superintendent 781-275-7588 Bedford Public Schools 97 McMahon Road Bedford, MA 01730

The Superintendent will issue a written response on the appeal to the grievant within ten (10) school days of receiving the appeal. If the grievant is not satisfied with a disposition by the Superintendent, the grievant may appeal the disposition to the School Committee, as follows:

Chairman, Bedford School Committee 781-275-7588 c/o Bedford Public Schools 97 McMahon Road Bedford, MA 01730

The School Committee shall respond promptly, but not later than 30 days, in writing, to the complaining party. Generally, a grievant may file a complaint with the U. S. Department of Education, Office for Civil Rights, JW McCormack POCH, Boston, Massachusetts 02109-4557, telephone (617) 223-9662, TTY (617) 223-9695 as follows:

- 1. within 180 calendar days of alleged discrimination of harassment, or
- 2. within 60 calendar days of receiving notice of the Bedford Public School's final disposition on a complaint filed through the Bedford Public Schools, or

- 3. within 60 calendar days of receiving a final decision by the Massachusetts Department of Education, Bureau of Special Education Appeals, or
- 4. instead of filing a complaint within the Bedford Public Schools.

### Retaliation

Respondent and his/her associates are prohibited from retaliating in any manner against a Complainant or any party involved in the complaint procedure. Acts of retaliation may result in immediate disciplinary action, including, but not limited to, suspension and or recommendation to the Superintendent for further disciplinary action.

## Guidelines & Procedures for Recognizing and dealing with Harassment

Sexual, racial, religious or disability harassment occurs between students and adults whenever any hurtful verbal or physical communication occurs that the victim is powerless to stop. Some specific behaviors that will not be tolerated are:

- 1. Unwanted racial, sexual, religious or disability comments
- 2. Spreading racial, sexual, religious or disability gossip
- 3. Unwanted physical contact of a racial, sexual or religious nature
- 4. "Bullying" which is verbal or physical threats intended to intimidate another person
- 5. Name calling

If you are the victim of one of these behaviors, talk to an adult in the school as soon as possible (refer to the Grievance Procedures). Begin with the person closest to the problem. For example, if harassment occurs in the classroom, talk to the teacher. If it occurs during an after school activity, speak to the faculty advisor or the coach. You cannot solve this problem alone. The adult will communicate your concerns to an administrator. He or she will have a meeting with you, the other student, and, if you wish, the adult you reported to and/or your counselor as soon as possible. The purpose of this meeting will be to determine if harassment has occurred. Often, such discussions can resolve the misunderstanding that caused the incident. If the incident is more serious or becomes a pattern of behavior, more serious action may be taken such as an apology, counseling, detention, or suspension. Each incident will be handled individually with as much confidentiality as possible.

### **Sexual Harassment**

All persons associated with the Bedford Public Schools including, but not necessarily limited to, the School Committee, the administration, the staff, and the student, are expected to conduct themselves at all times so as to provide an atmosphere free from sexual harassment. Any person who engages in sexual harassment while acting as a member of the school community will be in violation of this policy. Further, any retaliation against an individual who has complained about sexual harassment or retaliation against individuals for cooperating in an investigation of a sexual harassment complaint is similarly unlawful and will not be tolerated.

Because the Bedford School Committee takes allegations of sexual harassment seriously, it will respond promptly to complaints of sexual harassment and where it is determined that such inappropriate conduct has occurred, the School Committee will act promptly to eliminate the conduct and impose such corrective action as is necessary, including disciplinary action where appropriate.

Please note that while this policy sets forth our goals of promoting a workplace and school environment that is free of sexual harassment, the policy is not designed or intended to limit our authority to discipline or take

remedial action for workplace or school conduct which the School Committee deems unacceptable, regardless of whether that conduct satisfies the definition of sexual harassment.

### **Definition of Sexual Harassment:**

Unwelcome sexual advances; requests for sexual favors; or other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature may constitute sexual harassment where:

- Submission to such conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly a term or condition of a person's employment or educational development.
- Submission to or rejection of such conduct by an individual is used as the basis for employment or education decisions affecting such individuals.
- Such conduct has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with an individual's work or
  educational performance or creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive working or educational
  environment.

The Grievance Officer:

Assistant Superintendent 97 McMahon Road Bedford, MA 01730 781-275-7588

The School Committee will annually appoint a sexual harassment grievance officer who will be vested with the authority and responsibility of processing all sexual harassment complaints in accordance with established procedures.

LEGAL REFS.: Title VII, Section 703, Civil Rights Act of 1964 as amended 45, Federal Regulation 74676 issued by EEO Commission, Education Amendments of 1972, 20 U.S.C. 1681 et seq. (Title IX), Board of Education 603 CMR 26:00, CROSS REF.: JICFB, Bullying

### Harassment by a Student-Complaints Made by Students or Staff Involving Harassment by a Student -

Upon receiving a complaint, the principal or assistant principal (high and middle schools) shall confer with the Complainant to gain an understanding and statement of the alleged facts. It if is determined that such facts would constitute sexual harassment as defined above, the complaint officer shall take appropriate steps to investigate and/or resolve the complaint. Such steps may include, but are not limited to, those listed below:

- 1. Meet with the person charged (such person is hereinafter referred to as "Respondent") to obtain a response to the complaint;
- 2. Conduct interviews of possible witnesses to the alleged events;
- 3. Report the matter to local police if criminal activity is involved. See Mass. General Laws, c.265, 43, which prohibits stalking;
- 4. Subject to the requirements of due process, take disciplinary action against Respondent, including without limitation, a letter of reprimand or warning or a suspension of one to ten days; Refer Respondent to the Principal or Superintendent for further disciplinary action.

# Harassment by a Staff Member-Complaints Made by Students or Staff Involving Harassment by a Staff Member

Upon receiving a complaint, the principal or assistant principal (high or middle) shall confer with complainant to gain an understanding and statement of the alleged facts. As appropriate, the principal or assistant principal may take steps 1-4 above. In addition, the complaint officer shall report suspected child abuse to the Department of Social Services as required by Mass. Gen. Laws, c.119, 51A and shall take, as

appropriate, the steps necessary for disciplinary action against the staff member pursuant to the applicable collective bargaining agreement and state and Federal law.

We take complaints of harassment seriously. If you have seen someone being harassed or have been harassed yourself, you can speak to any teacher, a guidance counselor, the nurse, the assistant principal, or the principal for help.

### Retaliation

Respondents and their associates are prohibited from retaliating in any manner against a Complainant or any party involved in the complaint procedure. Substantiated acts of retaliation will result in immediate disciplinary action, including, but not limited to suspension and/or recommendation to the superintendent for further disciplinary action.

## An Act Prohibiting the Practice of Hazing

Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Representatives in General Court assembled, and by the authority of the same, as follows: Chapter 269 of the General Laws is hereby amended by adding the following three sections:

## Section 17. Chapter 269: Section 17. Hazing; organizing or participating; hazing defined

Whoever is a principal organizer or participant in the crime of hazing, as defined herein, shall be punished by a fine of not more than three thousand dollars or by imprisonment in a house of correction for not more than one year, or both such fine and imprisonment.

The term "hazing" as used in this section and in sections eighteen and nineteen, shall mean any conduct or method of initiation into any student organization, whether on public or private property, which willfully or recklessly endangers the physical or mental health of any student or other person. Such conduct shall include whipping, beating, branding, forced calisthenics, exposure to the weather, forced consumption of any food, liquor, beverage, drug or other substance, or any other brutal treatment or forced physical activity which is likely to adversely affect the physical health or safety of any such student or other person, or which subjects such student or other person to extreme mental stress, including extended deprivation of sleep or rest or extended isolation. Notwithstanding any other provisions of this section to the contrary, consent shall not be available as a defense to any prosecution under this action.

### **Section 18. Failure to Report Hazing**

Whoever knows that another person is the victim of hazing as defined in section seventeen and is at the scene of such crime shall, to the extent that such person can do so without danger or peril to himself or others, report such crime to an appropriate law enforcement official as soon as reasonably practicable. Whoever fails to report such crime shall be punished by a fine of not more than one thousand dollars.

## Section 19. Issuance to students and student groups, teams and organizations

Each institution of secondary education and each public and private institution of post secondary education shall issue to every student group, student team or student organization which is part of such institution or is recognized by the institution or permitted by the institution to use its name or facilities or is known by the institution to exist as an unaffiliated student group, student team or student organization, a copy of this section and sections seventeen and eighteen; provided, however, that an institution's compliance with this section's requirements that an institution issue copies of this section and sections seventeen and eighteen to unaffiliated student groups, teams or organizations shall not constitute evidence of the institution's recognition or endorsement of said unaffiliated student groups, teams or organizations.

Each such group, team or organization shall distribute a copy of this section and sections seventeen and eighteen to each of its members, plebes, pledges or applicants for membership. It shall be the duty of each such group, team or organization, acting through its designated officer, to deliver annually, to the institution an attested acknowledgement stating that such group, team or organization has received a copy of this section

and said sections seventeen and eighteen, that each of its members, plebes, pledges, or applicants has received a copy of sections seventeen and eighteen, and that such group, team or organization understands and agrees to comply with the provisions of this section and sections seventeen and eighteen.

Each institution of secondary education and each public or private institution of post secondary education shall, at least annually, before or at the start of enrollment, deliver to each person who enrolls as a full time student in such institution a copy of this section and sections seventeen and eighteen.

Each institution of secondary education and each public or private institution of post secondary education shall file, at least annually, a report with the board of higher education and in the case of secondary institutions, the board of education, certifying that such institution has complied with its responsibility to inform student groups, teams or organizations and to notify each full time student enrolled by it of the provisions of this section and sections seventeen and eighteen and also certifying that said institution has adopted a disciplinary policy with regard to the organizers and participants of hazing, and that such policy has been set forth with appropriate emphasis in the student handbook or similar means of communicating the institution's policies to its students. The board of higher education and, in the case of secondary institutions, the board of education shall promulgate regulations governing the content and frequency of such reports, and shall forthwith report to the attorney general any such institution which fails to make such report.

# Land School's Beliefs and Student Expectations regarding Bullying / Cyberbullying Harassment

### Including Processes and Procedures Related to the Investigation of Students' Rights Violations:

The Lane Elementary School expects students to conduct themselves in a manner in keeping with their levels of development, maturity, and demonstrated capabilities with proper regard for the rights and welfare of other students, school staff, volunteers, and contractors. Please refer to the Lane School Student Handbook sections on Rules and Expectations for a more detailed listing of students' rights and expectations.

## Bedford Public School - Definition of Bullying and Cyberbullying

File: JICFB - BULLYING PREVENTION

### BEDFORD PUBLIC SCHOOLS

The Bedford Public Schools, in accordance with MGL: Chapter 92 of the Acts of 2010, and Section 370, endeavor to maintain a safe learning environment where students can achieve the highest academic standard. The Bedford Public Schools are committed to creating an environment in which every student develops emotionally, academically, and physically in a caring and supportive atmosphere free of intimidation and abuse. Bullying of any type has no place in a school setting. The Bedford Public Schools will endeavor to maintain a learning and working environment free of bullying. The Bedford Public Schools shall not tolerate bullying.

"Bullying" is the repeated use by one or more students or by a member of a school staff including, but not limited to, an educator, administrator, school nurse, cafeteria worker, custodian, bus driver, athletic coach, advisor to an extracurricular activity or paraprofessional, of a written, verbal, or electronic expression, or a physical act or gesture, or any combination thereof, directed at a victim that:

- causes physical or emotional harm to the victim or damage to the victim's property;
- places the victim in reasonable fear of harm to him/herself, or of damage to his/her property;
- creates a hostile environment at school for the victim;
- infringes on the rights of the victim at school; or
- materially and substantially disrupts the education process or the orderly operation of a school.
- For the purposes of this section, bullying shall include cyber-bullying.

"Cyber-bullying" means bullying through the use of technology or any electronic communication, which shall include, but shall not be limited to, any transfer of signs, signals, writing, images, sounds, data or intelligence of any nature transmitted in whole or in part by a:

- wire
- radio
- electromagnetic, photo-electronic or photo-optical system, including, but not limited to, electronic mail, internet communications, instant messages or facsimile communications.

Cyber-bullying shall also include the creation of a web page or blog in which the creator assumes the identity of another person or knowingly impersonates another person as author of posted content or messages, if the creation of impersonation creates any of the conditions enumerated in the definition of bullying.

Cyber-bullying shall also include the distribution by electronic means of a communication to more than one person or the posting of material on an electronic medium that may be accessed by one or more persons, if the distribution or posting creates any of the conditions enumerated in the definition of bullying. Bullying and cyber-bullying may occur in and out of school, during and after school hours, at home and in locations outside of the home. When bullying and cyber-bullying are alleged, the full cooperation and assistance of parents and families are expected. For the purpose of this policy, whenever the term bullying is used it is to denote either bullying or cyber-bullying.

"Bullying a Class." By the Department of Elementary and Secondary Education's definition, if a teacher is accused of bullying his or her class, then the District must implement the same investigation procedures that it would use if, as the law states, an allegation is made that an individual has been targeted.

"**Retaliation**" is any form of intimidation, reprisal or harassment by a current student or former student under the age of 21 directed against a person in response to an action that person has taken or knowledge that person has.

### **Prohibitions**

### Bullying is prohibited:

- On school grounds;
- On property immediately adjacent to school grounds;
- At school-sponsored or school-related activities;
- At functions or programs whether on or off school grounds;
- At school bus stops;
- On school buses or other vehicles owned, leased or used by the school district; or,
- Through the use of technology or an electronic device owned, leased or used by the Bedford Public Schools.

Bullying and cyber-bullying are prohibited at a location, activity, function or program that is not school-related or through the use of technology or an electronic device that is not owned, leased or used by the Bedford Public School district if the act or acts in question:

- Create a hostile environment at school for the target;
- Infringe on the rights of the target at school; and/or
- Materially and substantially disrupt the education process or the orderly operation of a school.

### Prevention and Intervention Plan

The Superintendent and/or his/her designee shall oversee the development of a prevention and intervention plan, in consultation with all district stakeholders, which may include teachers, school staff, professional support personnel, school volunteers, administrators, community representatives, local law enforcement agencies, students, parents and guardians, consistent with the requirements of this policy, as well as state and federal laws. The bullying prevention and intervention plan shall be reviewed and updated at least biennially. The Principal is responsible for the implementation and oversight of the bullying prevention and implementation plan within his or her school.

### Reporting

Students who believe that they are a victim of bullying, observe an act of bullying, or who have reasonable grounds to believe that these behaviors are taking place, are obligated to report incidents to a member of the school staff. The victim shall not, however, be subject to discipline for failing to report bullying.

Each school shall have a means for anonymous reporting by students of incidents of bullying. No formal disciplinary action shall be taken solely on the basis of an anonymous report. Any student who knowingly makes a false accusation of bullying shall be subject to disciplinary action. Parents or guardians, or members of the community, are encouraged to report an incident of bullying as soon as possible. Any member of a school staff shall immediately report any instance of bullying the staff member witnessed or became aware of to the school principal or their designee.

### **Investigation Procedures**

The Principal or their designee, upon receipt of a viable report, shall promptly contact the parents or guardians of a student who has been the alleged victim or alleged perpetrator of bullying. The actions being taken to prevent further acts of bullying shall be discussed.

The school principal or a designee shall promptly investigate the report of bullying, using a Bullying/Cyber-Bullying Report Form which may include interviewing the alleged victim, alleged perpetrator, staff members, students and/or witnesses.

Staff shall assess an alleged victim's needs for protection and respond as needed to restore a sense of safety for that student. Confidentiality shall be used to protect a person who reports bullying, provides information during an investigation of bullying, or is witness to or has reliable information about an act of bullying.

If the school principal or a designee determines that bullying has occurred he/she shall take appropriate disciplinary action and if it is believed that criminal charges may be pursued against the perpetrator, the principal shall consult with the school's resource officer and the Superintendent to determine if criminal charges are warranted. If it is determined that criminal charges are warranted, the local law enforcement agency shall be notified.

The investigation shall be completed within a timely manner. The parents or guardians shall be contacted upon completion of the investigation and informed of the results. The report provided to parents or guardians shall include whether the allegations were found to be factual, whether a violation of this policy was found, and whether disciplinary action has or shall be taken. The Principal or his/her designee shall contact the parents or guardians as to the status of the investigation.

Disciplinary actions for students who have committed an act of bullying or retaliation shall be in accordance with district disciplinary policies. Each school shall document any incident of bullying that is reported per this policy and a file shall be maintained by the Principal or designee. Confidentiality shall be maintained to the extent consistent with the school's obligations under law.

### Retaliation

Retaliation against a person who reports bullying, provides information during an investigation of bullying, or witnesses or has reliable information about bullying shall be prohibited.

### Victim Assistance

The Bedford Public Schools shall provide counseling or referral to appropriate services, including guidance, academic intervention, and protection to students, both victims and perpetrators, affected by bullying, as necessary.

## Training and Assessment

Training shall be provided for school employees and volunteers who have significant contact with students in preventing, identifying, responding to, and reporting incidents of bullying. Age-appropriate, evidence-based instruction on bullying prevention shall be incorporated into the curriculum for K-12 students.

### Communication with Other School Districts

If an incident of bullying or retaliation involves students from more than one school district, the school district or school first informed of the bullying or retaliation shall, consistent with state and federal law, promptly notify the appropriate administrator of the other school district or school so that both may take appropriate action. If an incident of bullying or retaliation occurs on school grounds and involves a former student under the age of 21 who is no longer enrolled in a local school district, the school district or school informed of the bullying or retaliation shall contact law enforcement.

### **Special Education**

Whenever the evaluation of the Individualized Education Program team indicates that the child has a disability that affects social skills development or that the child is vulnerable to bullying, harassment or teasing because of the child's disability, the Individualized Education Program shall address the skills and proficiencies needed to avoid and respond to bullying, harassment or teasing.

### **Publication and Notice**

Annual written notice of the relevant sections of the bullying prevention and intervention plan shall be provided to students and their parents or guardians, in age-appropriate terms.

Annual written notice of the bullying prevention and intervention plan shall be provided to all school staff. The faculty and staff at each school shall be trained annually on the bullying prevention and intervention plan applicable to the school.

Relevant sections of the bullying prevention and intervention plan relating to the duties of faculty and staff shall be included in the school employee handbook.

The bullying prevention and intervention plan shall be posted on the Bedford Public Schools website.

REFERENCES: MA Department of Elementary and Secondary Education's Model Bullying Prevention and Intervention Plan

LEGAL REFERENCES: Title VII, Section 703 Civil Rights Act of 1964 as amended

Federal Regulation 74696 issued by EEO Commission

Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972

603 CMR 26.00

M.G.L. 71:370

M.G.L. 265:43, 43A

M.G.L. 268:13B

M.G.L. 269:14A

MGL c.71, 370 as amended by Sections 72-74 of Chapter 38 of the Acts of 2013

CROSS REFERENCES: AC, Nondiscrimination

ACAB, Sexual Harassment

JBA, Student-to-Student Harassment

JICFA, Prohibition of Hazing

JK, Student Discipline Regulations

Approved: October 12, 2010 Revised: November 12, 2010

Approved & Revised: October 22, 2013

Revised and Approved: 2017

## Elementary Specific - Process for Responding to a Report of Bullying/Peer Aggression

### **Lane Schools Core Beliefs and Expectations of Student Behavior:**

We believe that standards for student behavior must be set cooperatively through interaction among the students, parents and guardians, staff, and community members, producing an atmosphere that encourages students to grow in self-discipline. The development of this atmosphere requires respect for self and others, as well as for district and community property on the part of students, staff, and community members.

We believe that the best discipline is self-impose and that it is the responsibility of staff to use disciplinary situations as opportunities for helping students learn to assume responsibility and the consequences of their behavior. Staff members who interact with students shall apply best practices designed to *prevent* discipline problems and encourage students' abilities to develop self-discipline.

Since bystander support of harassment or bullying can support these behaviors, the district prohibits both active and passive support for acts of harassment or bullying. The staff should encourage students to support

students who walk away from these acts when they see them, constructively attempt to stop them, or report them to the designated authority.

We expect students to conduct themselves in a manner in keeping with their levels of development, maturity, and demonstrated capabilities with a proper regard for the rights and welfare of other students, school staff, volunteers, and contractors.

**Pre-Investigation:** Even before fully investigating allegations of bullying or retaliation, school personnel will consider whether there is a need to take immediate steps to support the alleged victim and/or protect the alleged victim from further potential incidents of concern. In taking any such action, however, the rights of both the alleged victim and alleged perpetrator must be considered.

### Step One: Complete Incident Report Form

### If An Adult Witnesses Incident:

- All staff should have copies of the Incident Report Form readily available.
- Adult completes Incident Report and gives to staff designated to handle such reports (Assistant Principal or designee).
- Encourage staff and faculty to report incidents even if they are unsure if the child wants the incident reported.

### If a Child Reports Incident to an Adult:

• Adults in the school have access to the forms; Parents will be able to access reporting forms from the school's main office, from their children's teachers, or from the Lane School's <u>website</u>.

All reports will be investigated by the Assistant Principal or his/her designee.

• At all times the adult affirms the child's feelings, i.e. "you were right to report this. I'm glad you told me."

### Staff Response:

- Determine if there are immediate safety issues that must be addressed.
- Note the child's level of distress and/or the presence of injuries, damaged/torn clothes, etc.
- If immediate safety issues exist, staff member(s) will take the child to the school nurse and/or report the incident to the Principal/Assistant Principal immediately. The teacher will follow up by completing an Incident Report.
- If no immediate safety issues exist, teachers will work with the child to complete an Incident Report.

## Step Two: Interview Target of Peer Aggression

**Interview the target rather than the aggressor first**. This addresses the urgency of the targeted child's need to talk to someone as well as allows the staff member (investigator) to assess if immediate danger or safety issues exist and must be dealt with right away.

The investigator will seek to determine the basis of the complaint, gathering information from the complainant, including such matters as: what specifically happened, who committed the alleged acts, who was present or may have information about the events, when the events occurred (date, time of day), and where the events occurred.

\*\*\* We never ask to see victim in the alleged aggressor's presence, and we emphasize that the victim will not be mentioned to the aggressor and will not be part of the discipline.

\*\*\* It is important to stress that **mediation should not be used with bullying situations**, i.e. conflicts characterized by an inequality of power where one child is being clearly victimized by another. Mediation is the ideal response to equal-power conflicts between children.

### Support target by:

Affirming child's feelings, i.e. "You were right to report this. I'm glad you told me."

Asking the child what s/he has already attempted to do, to stop this situation.

Making it clear that the aggression was not his/her fault.

Thinking carefully before giving advice, as oftentimes the targets have already tried and failed to stop this aggression using the strategies the school has suggested, i.e. walking away, telling the aggressor to stop, etc.

- Reminding the target to always report aggression.
- Brainstorming solutions with him/her after identifying what has and has not worked in the past.
   Note: even solutions that seem obvious to adults may not be apparent to children, such as merely avoiding the bully.
- Recruiting peers to befriend isolated targets.

## Step Three: Interview Child Accused of Physical Aggression

**Identify the problem** and diffuse reporting responsibility, i.e. "I have been hearing that..." "I have an Incident Report that states...." Alternatively, own reporting responsibility or attribute it to another adult, i.e., "I am disturbed by what I have been seeing..." or "Ms. Soandso saw you..."

**Focus more on the aggressor child's behavior than on a particular incident.** For example, "I have a report here that you were calling kids names," rather than "I have a report that you called Susie Smith a bad name."

**Provide incentives for honesty.** For example, if the aggressor denies any wrongdoing, tell child that if s/he tells the truth about the incident you can mention his/her honesty when calling his/her parents.

The procedure differs somewhat, depending on whether the child who is accused of being the aggressor admits wrongdoing or not.

## Step Four: In the case of denial of wrongdoing

If there is **any corroborating evidence or witnesses**, tell the child that. We do not mention the victim or the witnesses by name (unless they are adults), if possible.

### If there is zero corroboration and the "aggressor" continues to deny everything

one child's word against another's: We will continue to keep a very close eye on the situation and so will the other adults in the school.

The child may be required to have a weekly "check-in" with his/her counselor or advisor. Please know that the weekly check-in is not a punishment; rather, we stress that we want to be sure that the child is doing well and want to hear weekly how he/she is doing.

# NOTE: If the aggressor denies, regardless of whether there is corroboration, further investigation is required.

Once the allegations of the complainant are established, the investigator will gather other evidence, which often involves interviews of the alleged perpetrator and/or other witnesses. If appropriate, the investigator should remind the alleged perpetrator and witnesses that retaliation against persons whom they believe

might have reported the incidents or cooperated with the investigation is strictly prohibited and will result in disciplinary action.

The confidentiality of the complainant and the other witnesses will be maintained to the extent practicable given the school's obligation to investigate and address the matter.

## Step Five: If the aggressor admits wrongdoing

**Assign consequence to the aggressor.** If the student admits wrongdoing or an investigation leads staff to believe the student was engaging in bullying behavior, the student should look up consequences on the discipline rubric. An administrator will explain that consequences are not arbitrary and that any child who engages in this behavior will in fact experience the same consequence.

**Contact parent**. The student should then call the parent, in presence of a school staff person, to tell the parent what s/he did and what the consequence is. Staff should then complete and send home the Parent Communication Letter.

**Document incident and consequence**. Complete Follow-Up Form (see below examples of Factors for Determining Consequences, Factors for Determining Remedial Measures, and Examples of Consequences and Remedial Measures).

**Designate a time, place, and person to help the student complete a processing/reflection form.** The sooner this is done, the more effective it will be. This step of reflection is the first in many that the student can take to change his/her aggressive behavior. Students should either write out answers to open-ended questions or be able to dictate answers to an adult who writes them down for him/her. Students must make statements that accept the negative effects of their behavior on others, e.g., "I hurt X when I called him stupid." The following statements are **not acceptable**:

- I didn't do anything. (denial)
- I did something but it wasn't my fault. (externalizing)
- I know what I did didn't really hurt her because
- she didn't have to go to the nurse. (minimizing)

### Document action taken/plan developed, and share with

- Principal/ assistant principal
- Support staff, and
- Teachers who have any contact with the target/bully.

### Contact the parent of both the target and aggressor.

School staff will promptly provide written notice to the parents or guardians of a victim and a perpetrator about whether or not the complaint was substantiated and, if substantiated, what action is being taken to prevent any further acts of bullying or retaliation. Specific information about disciplinary action taken generally will not be released to the victim's parents or guardians—unless it involves a "stay away" or other directives that the victim must be aware of in order to report violations.

If appropriate, within a reasonable time period following the closure of the complaint, the administrative staff or a designee will contact the victim to determine whether there has been any recurrence of the prohibited conduct.

The district will retain a report of the complaint, containing the name of the complainant, the date of the complaint, investigator, school, a brief statement of the nature of the complaint, the outcome of the investigation, and the action taken.

## Monitor safety of target and increase supervision of accused.

**Factors for Determining Consequences** 

- Age, development, and maturity levels of the parties involved
- Degree of harm
- Surrounding circumstances
- Nature and severity of the behavior(s)
- Incidences of past or continuing pattern(s) of behavior
- Relationship between the parties involved
- Context in which the alleged incident(s) occurred

## **Factors for Determining Remedial Measures:**

#### Personal

- Life skill competencies
- Experiential deficiencies
- Social relationships
- Strengths
- Talents
- Traits
- Interests
- Hobbies
- Extra-curricular activities
- Classroom participation
- Academic performance

## **Environmental**

- School culture
- School climate
- Student-staff relationships and staff behavior toward the student
- General staff management of classrooms or other educational environments
- Staff ability to prevent and de-escalate difficult or inflammatory situations
- Social-emotional and behavioral supports
- Social relationships
- Community activities
- Neighborhood culture
- Family situation

Consequences for a student who commits an act of harassment or bullying shall be unique to the individual incident and will vary in method and severity according to the nature of the behavior, the developmental age of the student, and the student's history of problem behaviors and performance, and must be consistent with the approved Lane School Student Handbook's code of student conduct. Remedial measures shall be designed to:

- correct the problem behavior;
- prevent another occurrence of the behavior;
- and protect the victim of the act.

Consequences and appropriate remedial actions for a student who commits one or more acts of harassment or bullying may range from positive behavioral interventions up to and including suspension or expulsion or a combination of such consequences.

Effective discipline should employ a school wide approach to adopt a rubric of bullying offenses and the associated consequences. The consequences and remedial measures may include, but are not limited to, the examples listed below:

## Examples of Consequences

- Temporary removal from the classroom
- Loss of privileges or future privileges (i.e. field trips, special events)
- Classroom or administrative detention
- Institution of a Behavioral Plan
- In-school suspension
- Out-of-school suspension
- Institution of a Therapeutic plan
- Expulsion or termination

### Examples of Remedial Measures:

#### Personal

- Framing the aggressive behavior as a failed attempt to solve a real problem or reach a goal. The adult assists the misbehaving student to find a better way to solve the problem or meet the goal.
- Restitution and restoration
- Transformative conferencing/restorative justice
- Peer support group
- Corrective instruction or other relevant learning or service experience
- Supportive discipline to increase accountability for the bullying offense
- Supportive interventions, including participation of an Intervention and
- Referral Services team, peer mediation, etc.
- Behavioral assessment or evaluation, including, but not limited to, a referral to a child study team, as appropriate
- Behavioral management plan, with benchmarks that are closely monitored
- Student counseling
- Parent conferences
- Student treatment
- Student therapy

## Environmental (Classroom, School Building)

- Set a time, place, and person to help the aggressor reflect on the offending behavior, maintaining an emotionally-neutral and strength-based approach
- School and community surveys or other strategies for determining the conditions contributing to harassment, intimidation, or bullying
- School culture change
- School climate improvement
- Continued development of our Accept the Challenge anti-bullying/harassment initiative
- Modifications of schedules
- Adjustments in student routes or patterns traveling to and from classes
- Modifications in student routes or patterns traveling to and from school
- Targeted use of monitors (e.g., hallway, cafeteria, bus)
- General professional development programs for staff
- Mandated reporting by school staff
- Parent conferences
- Referral to family counseling or individual counseling
- Involvement of parent-teacher organizations
- Involvement of community-based organizations
- Development of a general bullying response plan
- Peer support groups

• Law enforcement involvement as part of Memorandum of Understanding (e.g., school resource officer, juvenile officer)

# **Responsibilities of School Staff**

All school employees are required to report alleged violations of this policy to the principal or the principal's designee

All other members of the school community, including students, parents, volunteers, and visitors, are encouraged to report any act that may be a violation of this policy. Reports may be made anonymously, but formal disciplinary action *may not* be based solely on the basis of an anonymous report.

The Lane School Administration will be responsible for determining whether an alleged act constitutes a violation of this policy. In so doing, the Principal and/or the Principal's designee shall conduct a prompt, thorough, and complete investigation of each alleged incident. The investigation is to be completed within three school days after a report or complaint is made.

We prohibit reprisal or retaliation against any person who reports an act of harassment or bullying. The consequences and appropriate remedial action for a person who engages in reprisal or retaliation shall be determined by the administrator, after consideration of the nature, severity, and circumstances of the act.

We prohibit any person from falsely accusing another as a means of harassment or bullying. The consequences and appropriate remedial action for a *person* found to have falsely accused another as a means of harassment or bullying may range from positive behavioral interventions up to and including suspension or expulsion.

# Nondiscrimination Policy, File: AC

Public schools have the responsibility to overcome, insofar as possible, any barriers that prevent children from achieving their potential. The public school system will do its part. This commitment to the community is affirmed in the following statements of School Committee intent to:

- Promote the rights and responsibilities of all individuals as set forth in the State and Federal Constitutions, pertinent legislation, and applicable judicial interpretations.
- Encourage positive experiences in human values for children, youth and adults, all of whom have differing personal and family characteristics and who come from various socioeconomic, racial and ethnic groups.
- Work toward a more integrated society and to enlist the support of individuals as well as groups and agencies, both private and governmental, in such an effort.
- Use all appropriate communication and action techniques to air and reduce the grievances of individuals and groups.
- Carefully consider, in all the decisions made within the school system, the potential benefits or
  adverse consequences that those decisions might have on the human relations aspects of all segments
  of society.
- Initiate a process of reviewing policies and practices of the school system in order to achieve to the greatest extent possible the objectives of this statement.
- The Committee's policy of nondiscrimination will extend to students, staff, the general public, and individuals with whom it does business: No person shall be excluded from or discriminated against in admission to a public school of any town or in obtaining the advantages, privileges, and courses of study of such public school on account of race, color, gender or gender identity, religion, national origin, sexual orientation or disability. If someone has a complaint or feels that they have been

discriminated against because of race, color, sex, religion, national origin, sexual orientation or disability, they should register their complaint with the Title IX compliance officer.

#### LEGAL REFS.:

Title VI, Civil Rights Act of 1964
Title VII, Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended by the Equal Employment Opportunity Act of 1972
Executive Order 11246, as amended by E.O. 11375
Equal Pay Act, as amended by the Education Amendments of 1972
Title IX, Education Amendments of 1972Rehabilitation Act of 1973
Education For All Handicapped Children Act of 1975
M.G.L. 71B:1 et seq. (Chapter 766 of the Acts of 1972)
M.G.L. 76:5; Amended 1993
M.G.L.76:16 (Chapter 622 of the Acts of 1971)

### LEGAL REFS.:

Board of Education Chapter 622 Regulations Pertaining to Access to Equal Educational Opportunity, adopted 6/24/75, as amended 10/24/78
Board of Education 603 CMR 2600
Board of Education Chapter 766 Regulations, adopted 10/74, as amended through 3/28/78

## CROSS REFS.:

ACA- ACE Subcategories for Nondiscrimination GBA, Equal Opportunity Employment, JB, Equal Educational Opportunities

Nondiscrimination of the basis of Disability, File: ACE

Section 504 and Title II of the Americans With Disabilities Act of 1992 requires that no qualified individual with a disability shall, because the district's facilities are inaccessible to or unusable by individuals with disabilities, be excluded from participation in, or be denied the benefits of the services, programs, and activities of the district or be subject to discrimination. Nor shall the district exclude or otherwise deny services, programs, or activities to an individual because of the known disability of a person with whom the individual is known to have a relationship or association.

#### **Definition**

A "qualified individual with a disability" is an individual with a disability who, with or without reasonable accommodation to rules, policies, or practices, the removal of architectural, communication, or transportation barriers, or the provision of auxiliary aids and services, meets the essential eligibility requirements for the receipt of services or the participation in programs or activities provided by the district.

#### **Reasonable Accommodation**

The district shall make reasonable accommodations in policies, practices, or procedures when the modifications are necessary to avoid discrimination on the basis of disability, unless the district can demonstrate that making the modifications would fundamentally alter the nature of the service, program, or activity.

## **Communications**

The district shall take the appropriate steps to ensure that communications with applicants, participants, and members of the public with disabilities are as effective as communications with others. To this end, the district shall furnish appropriate auxiliary aids and services where necessary to afford an individual with a disability an equal opportunity to participate in, and enjoy the benefits of, a service, program, or activity conducted by the district. In determining what type of auxiliary aid or service is necessary, the district shall give primary consideration to the requests of the individuals with disabilities.

### **Auxiliary Aids and Services**

"Auxiliary aids and services" includes (1) qualified interpreters, note-takers, transcription services, written materials, assisted listening systems, and other effective methods for making aurally delivered materials available to individuals with hearing impairments; (2) qualified readers, taped texts, audio recordings, Braille materials, large print materials, or other effective methods for making visually delivered materials available to individuals with visual impairments; (3) acquisition or modification of equipment or devices and (4) other similar services and actions.

## **Limits of Required Modification**

The district is not required to take any action that it can demonstrate would result in a fundamental alteration in the nature of a service, program, or activity or in undue financial and administrative burdens. Any decision that, in compliance with its responsibility to provide effective communication for individuals with disabilities, would fundamentally alter the service, program, or activity or unduly burden the district shall be made by the School Committee after considering all resources available for use in the funding and operating the program, service, or activity. The decision shall be accompanied by a written statement of the reasons for reaching that conclusion.

#### Notice

The district shall make available to applicants, participants, beneficiaries, and other interested persons information regarding the provisions of Section 504 and Title II of the American With Disabilities Act (ADA) and its applicability to the services, programs, or activities of the district. The information shall be made available in such a manner as the School Committee and Superintendent find necessary to apprise such persons of the protections against discrimination assured them by the ADA.

## **Compliance Coordinator**

The district shall designate at least one employee to coordinate its efforts to comply with and carry out its responsibilities under Section 504 and Title II of ADA, including any investigation of any complaint communicated to it alleging its noncompliance or alleging any actions that would be prohibited under ADA. The district shall make available to all interested individuals the name, office address, and telephone number of the employee(s) so designated and shall adopt and publish procedures for the prompt and equitable resolution of complaints alleging any action that would be prohibited under the ADA. The school system receives federal financial assistance and must comply with the above requirements. Additionally, the School Committee is of the general view that:

- 1. Discrimination against a qualified handicapped person solely on the basis of handicap is unfair; and
- 2. To the extent possible, qualified handicapped persons should be in the mainstream of life in school community. Accordingly, employees of the school system will comply with the above requirements of the law and policy statements of this Committee to ensure nondiscrimination on the basis of handicap.

## LEGAL REFS.:

Rehabilitation Act of 1973, Section 504
Education For All Handicapped Children Act of 1975
M.G.L. <u>71B:1</u> et seq. (Chapter 766 of the Acts of 1972)
Section 504 and Title II, Americans with Disabilities Act of 1992
Board of Education Chapter 766 Regulations, adopted 10/74, as amended through 3/28/78

## **CROSS REFS.:**

IGB, Special Instructional Programs and Accommodations

IGBA, Programs for Handicapped Students

## Searches

The right to search students and inspect a student's property, or school property under the temporary control of a student, is inherent in the authority granted to the School Committee and administrators. This authorization may be exercised as needed in the interest of protecting children and safeguarding their own, or school property.

Nevertheless, the exercise of that authority by school officials places significant demands upon their judgment in an effort to protect the constitutional rights of the individual students while, at the same time, acting in the best interest of all students and the school system.

Searches of students, their possessions, lockers, or student automobiles will be conducted in a way conducive to the preservation of individual rights and to an atmosphere supportive of the educational process.

Whenever a student search is conducted, the following shall apply:

- No search shall be conducted unless there is reasonable suspicion that a violation of law or school rules has occurred.
- Searches shall be conducted with at least two faculty members present, one of whom shall be the Principal or his designee.
- Whenever a personal search is deemed necessary, the student shall be advised of the reason for the impending search prior to its implementation. School officials may examine articles of clothing such as pockets, coats, book bags, etc.
- However, in recognition that right to privacy considerations intensify as a search becomes invasive, no school personnel shall ever conduct a "strip search" of a student.
- Should a student refuse to voluntarily comply with a request for a search, the student must be
  detained until parents and, if necessary, police can arrive at school to assist, as appropriate, in the
  investigation.
- Should a search uncover any substances or contraband, such shall be turned over to the appropriate authorities or rightful owner, as appropriate, and suitable disciplinary action shall be taken.
- Parents will be notified prior to any student search whenever possible.
- Nothing herein shall be constituted to limit the right of the School Committee or administration to make use of external detecting resources should these become necessary or desirable.

# Procedures for Disciplining Students with Special Needs

All students are expected to meet the requirements for behavior as set forth in the student handbook. Chapter 71B of the Massachusetts General Laws, known as Chapter 766, requires that additional provisions be made for students who have been found by an evaluation team to have special needs and whose program is described in an Individualized Educational Plan (IEP). The following additional requirements apply to the discipline of special needs students.

- 1. The Principal or Assistant Principal will notify the Director of Special Education in writing of the suspendable offense of a special needs student and a record will be kept of such notices in the Pupil Personnel Services office.
- 2. When it is known, or is probable, that the suspension(s) of a special needs student will accumulate to ten days in a school year, the Principal shall consult with the Director of Special Education, (781.275.7588). The Principal (Team Chairperson) will convene the team to review the student's IEP to determine if the student's misconduct is related to his/her special needs; if the IEP is appropriate; or if the IEP has been fully implemented.

A. If the TEAM determines that any of those three conditions apply, the suspension cannot occur. Instead, the TEAM will take immediate steps to ensure that either the IEP is fully implemented or will modify the IEP to reflect a new program designed to meet the student's needs. Any modification to the IEP must be agreed upon by the student's parents before it can be implemented.

B. If the TEAM concludes that the student's misconduct was not related to the student's special need, and that the IEP was appropriate to meet the student's needs, and that the IEP had been fully implemented, then the student may be suspended, provided that an amendment to the IEP is developed to describe the manner in which the student will continue to receive his/her special education program during the period of suspension.

- 3. If a special needs student is found in possession of a weapon or knowingly possesses or uses illegal drugs or sells or solicits the sale of a controlled substance at school or at a school function, the student may be placed in an interim alternative educational setting for the same amount of time that a student without special needs would be subjected to discipline, but for not more than 45 days, without parental consent.
- 4. If the suspension will result in an exclusion of more than 10 days in a school year, immediate written notification of the suspension and a request for approval of the alternative plan must be made to the Division of Special Education, with a copy to the student's parents. A copy of the alternative plan must be included, and the request for approval must be completed by the Principal (Team Chairperson) and forwarded to the Department of Education by the Director of Special Education.

Although all students are expected to meet the requirements for behavior as set forth in this handbook, the Federal and state laws governing the provision of special education services require that additional provisions must be made for those students who have been found by an evaluation team to have special needs and whose program is described in an Individualized Education Plan (IEP). Those additional requirements are described in #3.

## Suspension / Expulsion Pursuant to the Education Reform Act of 1993

- (A) Any student who is found on school premises or at school-sponsored or school-related events, including athletic games, in possession of a dangerous weapon, including, but not limited to, a gun or a knife; or a controlled substance as defined in chapter ninety-four C, including, but not limited to, marijuana, cocaine, and heroin, may be subject to expulsion from the school or school district by the principal.
- (B) Any student who assaults a principal, assistant principal, teacher, teacher's aide or other educational staff on school premises or at school-sponsored or school-related events, including athletic games, may be subject to expulsion from the school or school district by the principal.
- (C) Any student who is charged with a violation of either paragraph (a) or (b) shall be notified in writing of an opportunity for a hearing; provided, however, that the student may have representation, along with the opportunity to present evidence and witnesses at said hearing before the principal.

After said hearing, a principal may, in his discretion, decide to suspend rather than expel a student who has been determined by the principal to have violated either paragraph (a) or (b).

(D) Any student who has been expelled from a school district pursuant to these provisions shall have the right to appeal to the superintendent. The expelled student shall have ten days from the date of the expulsion in which to notify the superintendent of his appeal. The student has the right to counsel at a hearing before the superintendent. The subject matter of the appeal shall not be limited solely to a factual determination of whether the student has violated any provisions of this section.

- (E) Any school district that suspends or expels a student under this section shall continue to provide educational services to the student during the period of suspension or expulsion, under section 21 of chapter 76. If the student moves to another district during the period of suspension or expulsion, the new district of residence shall either admit the student to its schools or provide educational services to the student in an education service plan, under section 21 of chapter 76.
- (F) Districts shall report to the department of elementary and secondary education the specific reasons for all suspensions and expulsions, regardless of duration or type, in a manner and form established by the commissioner. The department of elementary and secondary education shall use its existing data collection tools to obtain this information from districts and shall modify those tools, as necessary, to obtain the information. On an annual basis, the department of elementary and secondary education shall make district level de-identified data and analysis, including the total number of days each student is excluded during the school year, available to the public online in a machine readable format. This report shall include district level data disaggregated by student status and categories established by the commissioner.
- (G) Under the regulations promulgated by the department, for each school that suspends or expels a significant number of students for more than 10 cumulative days in a school year, the commissioner shall investigate and, as appropriate, shall recommend models that incorporate intermediary steps prior to the use of suspension or expulsion. The results of the analysis shall be publicly reported at the school district level.

## Section 37H.

The superintendent of every school district shall publish the district's policies pertaining to the conduct of teachers and students. Said policies shall prohibit the use of any tobacco products within the school buildings, the school facilities or on the school grounds or on school buses by any individual, including school personnel. Said policies shall further restrict operators of school buses and personal motor vehicles, including students, faculty, staff and visitors, from idling such vehicles on school grounds, consistent with section 16B of chapter 90 and regulations adopted pursuant thereto and by the department. The policies shall also prohibit bullying as defined in section 370 and shall include the student-related sections of the bullying prevention and intervention plan required by said section 370. Copies of these policies shall be provided to any person upon request and without cost by the principal of every school within the district.

Each school district's policies pertaining to the conduct of students shall include the following: disciplinary proceedings, including procedures ensuring due process; standards and procedures for suspension and expulsion of students; procedures pertaining to discipline of students with special needs; standards and procedures to assure school building security and safety of students and school personnel; and the disciplinary measures to be taken in cases involving the possession or use of illegal substances or weapons, the use of force, vandalism, or violation of a student's civil rights. Codes of discipline, as well as procedures used to develop such codes shall be filed with the department of education for informational purposes only.

In each school building containing the grades nine to twelve, inclusive, the principal, in consultation with the school council, shall prepare and distribute to each student a student handbook setting forth the rules pertaining to the conduct of students. The student handbook shall include an age-appropriate summary of the student-related sections of the bullying prevention and intervention plan required by section 370. The school council shall review the student handbook each spring to consider changes in disciplinary policy to take effect in September of the following school year, but may consider policy changes at any time. The annual review shall cover all areas of student conduct, including but not limited to those outlined in this section.

Notwithstanding any general or special law to the contrary, all student handbooks shall contain the following provisions:

(a) Any student who is found on school premises or at school-sponsored or school-related events, including athletic games, in possession of a dangerous weapon, including, but not limited to, a gun or a knife; or a controlled substance as defined in chapter ninety-four C, including, but not limited to, marijuana, cocaine, and heroin, may be subject to expulsion from the school or school district by the principal.

- (b) Any student who assaults a principal, assistant principal, teacher, teacher's aide or other educational staff on school premises or at school-sponsored or school-related events, including athletic games, may be subject to expulsion from the school or school district by the principal.
- (c) Any student who is charged with a violation of either paragraph (a) or (b) shall be notified in writing of an opportunity for a hearing; provided, however, that the student may have representation, along with the opportunity to present evidence and witnesses at said hearing before the principal.

After said hearing, a principal may, in his discretion, decide to suspend rather than expel a student who has been determined by the principal to have violated either paragraph (a) or (b).

- (d) Any student who has been expelled from a school district pursuant to these provisions shall have the right to appeal to the superintendent. The expelled student shall have ten days from the date of the expulsion in which to notify the superintendent of his appeal. The student has the right to counsel at a hearing before the superintendent. The subject matter of the appeal shall not be limited solely to a factual determination of whether the student has violated any provisions of this section.
- (e) Any school district that suspends or expels a student under this section shall continue to provide educational services to the student during the period of suspension or expulsion, under section 21 of chapter 76. If the student moves to another district during the period of suspension or expulsion, the new district of residence shall either admit the student to its schools or provide educational services to the student in an education service plan, under section 21 of chapter 76.
- (f) Districts shall report to the department of elementary and secondary education the specific reasons for all suspensions and expulsions, regardless of duration or type, in a manner and form established by the commissioner. The department of elementary and secondary education shall use its existing data collection tools to obtain this information from districts and shall modify those tools, as necessary, to obtain the information. On an annual basis, the department of elementary and secondary education shall make district level de-identified data and analysis, including the total number of days each student is excluded during the school year, available to the public online in a machine readable format. This report shall include district level data disaggregated by student status and categories established by the commissioner.
- (g) Under the regulations promulgated by the department, for each school that suspends or expels a significant number of students for more than 10 cumulative days in a school year, the commissioner shall investigate and, as appropriate, shall recommend models that incorporate intermediary steps prior to the use of suspension or expulsion. The results of the analysis shall be publicly reported at the school district level.

# Felony Complaint or Conviction of Student; Suspension; Expulsion; Right to Appeal Chapter 71, Section 37 H $\frac{1}{2}$

Notwithstanding the provisions of section eighty-four and sections sixteen and seventeen of chapter seventy-six:

(1) Upon the issuance of a criminal complaint charging a student with a felony or upon the issuance of a felony delinquency complaint against a student, the principal or headmaster of a school in which the student is enrolled may suspend such student for a period of time determined appropriate by said principal or headmaster if said principal or headmaster determines that the student's continued presence in school would have a substantial detrimental effect on the general welfare of the school. The student shall receive written notification of the charges and the reasons for such suspension prior to such suspension taking effect. The student shall also receive written notification of his right to appeal and the process for appealing such suspension; provided, however, that such suspension shall remain in effect prior to any appeal hearing conducted by the superintendent.

The student shall have the right to appeal the suspension to the superintendent. The student shall notify the superintendent in writing of his request for an appeal no later than five calendar days following the effective date of the suspension. The superintendent shall hold a hearing with the student and the student's parent or guardian within three calendar days of the student's request for an appeal. At the hearing, the student shall

have the right to present oral and written testimony on his behalf, and shall have the right to counsel. The superintendent shall have the authority to overturn or alter the decision of the principal or headmaster, including recommending an alternate educational program for the student. The superintendent shall render a decision on the appeal within five calendar days of the hearing. Such decision shall be the final decision of the city, town or regional school district with regard to the suspension.

(2) Upon a student being convicted of a felony or upon an adjudication or admission in court of guilt with respect to such a felony or felony delinquency, the principal or headmaster of a school in which the student is enrolled may expel said student if such principal or headmaster determines that the student's continued presence in school would have a substantial detrimental effect on the general welfare of the school. The student shall receive written notification of the charges and reasons for such expulsion prior to such expulsion taking effect. The student shall also receive written notification of his right to appeal and the process for appealing such expulsion; provided, however, that the expulsion shall remain in effect prior to any appeal hearing conducted by the superintendent.

The student shall have the right to appeal the expulsion to the superintendent. The student shall notify the superintendent, in writing, of his request for an appeal no later than five calendar days following the effective date of the expulsion. The superintendent shall hold a hearing with the student and the student's parent or guardian within three calendar days of the expulsion. At the hearing, the student shall have the right to present oral and written testimony on his behalf, and shall have the right to counsel. The superintendent shall have the authority to overturn or alter the decision of the principal or headmaster, including recommending an alternate educational program for the student. The superintendent shall render a decision on the appeal within five calendar days of the hearing. Such decision shall be the final decision of the city, town or regional school district with regard to the expulsion.

Any school district that suspends or expels a student under this section shall continue to provide educational services to the student during the period of suspension or expulsion, under section 21 of chapter 76. If the student moves to another district during the period of suspension or expulsion, the new district of residence shall either admit the student to its schools or provide educational services to the student under an education service plan, under section 21 of chapter 76.

# Inquiries Regarding Title II, VI & IX

Inquiries regarding compliance with Title II may be directed to the Assistant Superintendent, 781-275-7588. Inquiries regarding compliance with Title VI may be directed to the Assistant Superintendent, 781-275-7588.

Inquiries regarding compliance with Title IX may be directed to the Assistant Superintendent, 781-275-7588; the U.S. Department of Education, Office for Civil Rights, 8<sup>th</sup> Floor, 5 Post Office Square, Boston, MA 02109-3921

## Smoking by Students, File: IICG

Massachusetts state law (M.G.L., c. 71, Sec. 2A) prohibits the use of tobacco products by students enrolled in public schools in schools or on school grounds.

## CROSS REFS.:

IGAG, Teaching About Drugs, Alcohol, and Tobacco, EEACC (also JFCC), Student Conduct on School Buses, JFCC, (also EEACC), Student Conduct on School Buses Bedford Public Schools - Approved June 15, 2004

## Lane School's Smoking & Tobacco Policy

Lane Elementary School is committed to having a smoke and tobacco-free environment for all members of the school community. Therefore, the use or possession of tobacco products, which includes e-cigarettes, vaping devices, and/or smoking-related products on school property, at school-sponsored activities, and on vehicles used in the transportation of students is strictly prohibited. Tobacco products include cigarettes, cigars,

chewing tobacco, snuff, or any other form of tobacco. Violations will result in the following consequences (in addition to the consequences listed in the Disciplinary Rules and Regulations section).

**Students** 1st Offense

\$50 fine or Tobacco Education Program

Parent Notification

Notification to Athletic Coordinator

2nd Offense

\$75 fine Change to \$100 per the direction of Board of Health

Tobacco Education or Smoking Cessation Program

Notification to Athletic Coordinator

3rd Offense

\$100 fine

Tobacco Education or Smoking Cessation Program Meeting between student, parent(s) and administration

Notification to Athletic Coordinator

**Visitors** 1st Offense

Verbal notification of no smoking policy

2nd Offense

Request to leave school property

**Suspicion of Smoking**: No loitering is permitted in the lavatories and only one student is allowed in a stall at a time. Any student or students observed in a closed lavatory stall from which smoke is emanating will be reported to the Principal or Assistant Principal for suspicion of smoking. Upon the discretion of the Principal or Assistant Principal, the student(s) will be disciplined for:

- 1) a smoking violation
- 2) a suspicion of smoking violation

A smoking violation will result in the consequences listed above under "No Smoking Policy". A suspicion of smoking violation will result in three (3) detentions with a warning that any further violations of the no smoking policy will result in a smoking violation, complete with the associated consequences.

Possession of tobacco products (cigarettes, cigars, chewing tobacco, snuff or any other form of tobacco) or tobacco related paraphernalia (cigarette lighters, pipes, papers and cigarette holders) on school property will result in the confiscation of the tobacco related item by the Administrators or Faculty, and suspension.

Smoking Cessation Programs are available to interested students, faculty and staff through the office of the Prevention Services Coordinator, Bedford Youth and Family Services.

# Sexual Harassment, File: ACAB

All persons associated with the Bedford Public Schools including, but not necessarily limited to, the School Committee, the administration, the staff, and the student, are expected to conduct themselves at all times so as to provide an atmosphere free from sexual harassment. Any person who engages in sexual harassment while acting as a member of the school community will be in violation of this policy. Further, any retaliation against an individual who has complained about sexual harassment or retaliation against individuals for cooperating in an investigation of a sexual harassment complaint is similarly unlawful and will not be tolerated.

Because the Bedford School Committee takes allegations of sexual harassment seriously, it will respond promptly to complaints of sexual harassment and where it is determined that such inappropriate conduct has

occurred, the School Committee will act promptly to eliminate the conduct and impose such corrective action as is necessary, including disciplinary action where appropriate.

Please note that while this policy sets forth our goals of promoting a workplace and school environment that is free of sexual harassment, the policy is not designed or intended to limit our authority to discipline or take remedial action for workplace or school conduct which the School Committee deems unacceptable, regardless of whether that conduct satisfies the definition of sexual harassment.

<u>Definition of Sexual Harassment</u>: Unwelcome sexual advances; requests for sexual favors; or other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature may constitute sexual harassment where:

- 1. Submission to such conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly a term or condition of a person's employment or educational development.
- 2. Submission to or rejection of such conduct by an individual is used as the basis for employment or education decisions affecting such individual.
- 3. Such conduct has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with an individual's work or educational performance or creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive working or educational environment.

<u>The Grievance Officer:</u> Director of Curriculum and Instruction, Office of the Superintendent, 97 McMahon Road

Bedford, MA 01730, 781-275-7588

The School Committee will annually appoint a sexual harassment grievance officer who will be vested with the authority and responsibility of processing all sexual harassment complaints in accordance with established procedures.

LEGAL REFS.: Title VII, Section 703, Civil Rights Act of 1964 as amended 45, Federal Regulation 74676 issued by EEO Commission, Education Amendments of 1972, 20 U.S.C. 1681 et seq. (Title IX), Board of Education 603 CMR 26:00

CROSS REF.: <u>IICFB</u>, Bullying Bedford Public Schools - approved June 15, 2004

## Wellness Policy, File: ADF

The Bedford Public Schools are committed to providing a school environment that enhances learning and the development of lifelong wellness practices. The schools strive to meet the goals as set forth by the Massachusetts School Nutrition Task Force:

- To provide children with access to adequate and healthy food while at school.
- To promote healthy eating patterns through classroom nutrition education coordinated with the comprehensive health education program including education, health and food services.
- To provide children with access to appropriate nutrition services
- To establish this school-wide policy, involving input from a wide variety of representatives from the school community.

## Student Transportation in Private Vehicles, File: EEAG

School buses will be used for the transportation of students participating in co-curricular or extracurricular activities. However, when buses are not available, private vehicles may be permitted to transport students to or from school activities that fall within the academic day or extend the school day provided all of the following conditions are met:

• The activity has the approval of the Superintendent of schools.

- The owner of the vehicle being used in transporting students must file evidence with the Superintendent of personnel liability insurance coverage on the vehicle in the amounts of \$250,000 \$500,000 or more.
- The parents of students to be transported in this manner will be fully informed as to this means of transportation and will sign a statement to this effect.

•

CROSS REF.: <u>ADDA</u> – CORI Requirements

Bedford Public Schools - approved June 15, 2004

# Acceptable Technology use policy for students, File: IJNDBA

Student use of technology in the Bedford Public Schools during the school day is solely for the enhancement of teaching and learning. All students are expected to read this Acceptable Use Policy and are required to sign the Acceptable Use Policy Agreement Form. Adherence to this policy is a condition for a student's use of technology.

# Acceptable uses

Examples of acceptable use include (but are limited to) the following:

#### Students must...

- Identify themselves in Internet communications
- Post/send only useful and appropriate information
- Only access their own account and keep their passwords private
- Only alter their own work, unless they have permission from the owner
- Only use the e-mail account provided by the Bedford Schools while on the school network
- (Bedford e-mail accounts may also be accessed at anytime from outside the school network.)

#### Students should...

- Check e-mail frequently and delete old mail
- Take care in using humor, avoid sarcasm, and don't unreasonably criticize, or "flame" others
- Credit the original author when quoting someone else's work
- Remove their old files when they are no longer needed

## Students must not...

- Engage in harassment, libel, or slander of any kind
- Use the Internet for commercial or political purposes
- Use the Internet to access sexually explicit or pornographic materials
- Use the Internet for illegal activities including, but not limited to, copyright violations and illegal
- distribution of software
- Give out their own or another individual's personal information such as address or phone number
- Post audio, video or any material of or created by another student or faculty member without that
- individual's permission
- Engage in spamming (sending massive, inappropriate and unsolicited information) or flooding (transferring
- data without intent of meaningful communication)
- Use equipment without permission
- Alter the configuration of school technology, except as educationally appropriate
- Download or install software of any kind without permission
- Illegally copy software

#### **Internet Safety Training**

All students will participate in a yearly internet safety training that will address appropriate online behavior, including interacting with other individuals on social networking websites and in chat rooms, and cyberbullying awareness and response.

#### **Sanctions**

Network access is a privilege, not a right. The Bedford Public Schools will review alleged violations of this Acceptable Use Policy. Violations could result in the following:

- Loss of access privileges
- Additional disciplinary action at the building level in accordance with the discipline code in the student handbooks.
- Referral to appropriate law enforcement agencies

# **Disclaimer of Liability**

The Bedford Public School system denies responsibility for the accuracy or quality of information obtained from the Internet. The Bedford Public School system cannot guarantee that access will always be available and is not responsible for any damage a user suffers or for the loss of data obtained via the Internet.

## **Privacy**

Users should not have an expectation of privacy or confidentiality in the context of electronic communications or of other files sent, received and/or stored on the district's network. The Bedford Public School System also reserves the right to examine all data sent, received and/or stored on the district's network. All communications including text and images may be disclosed to law enforcement or other third parties without prior consent of the sender or receiver. Electronic communications may be archived for a period of up to three years.

# Web Page Policy, File: IJNDC

# The District's Web Page Policy is as follows:

## 1. District Web Site

A. The district will establish a web site. Materials appropriate for placement on the district web site may include: district information, school information, teacher or class information, student projects, and student extracurricular organization information. All published pages and corresponding links stored on the school department servers must be related to Bedford's educational goals and objectives or related to school-sponsored activities. Personal, non-educationally related information will not be allowed on the district web site.

B. All material must also be approved by the building principal and/or the appropriate administrator or their designee prior to publication on the webserver.

### 2. Curriculum Web Pages

Teachers may establish web pages for teaching and learning purposes, such as use with class activities or to provide a resource for other teachers. Teachers will be responsible for maintaining their class educational resource sites. Such pages will be subject to the approval, consistency, content, and procedural requirements as described in sections 1, 4, and 5 of this policy.

## 3. Extracurricular Organization Web Pages

- A. With the approval of the building principal, extracurricular organizations may establish web pages. Material presented on the organization's web page must relate specifically to school organization activities.
- B. Organization web pages must include the following notice: "This is an extracurricular organization web page. Opinions expressed on this page shall not be attributed to the Bedford Public Schools."

## 4. Web Page Requirements

A. All District Acceptable Technology Use Policy provisions will govern material placed on the Internet.

### B. Web Pages shall not:

- i. Contain the address, or phone number of students.
- ii. Display materials such as photographs, audio or videos of any identifiable individual(s) without a signed release and without permission from the identifiable individual(s). Releases for students under the age of 18 must be signed by their parent or guardian and be kept on file.
- iii. Contain copyrighted or trademarked material belonging to others unless written permission to display such material has been obtained from the owner. There will be no assumption that the publication of copyrighted material on a web site is within the fair use exemption.
- C. First names or first names and the first letter of the last name may be used where appropriate for grades K-5. Student's grades 6-12 may be identified by their full name.
- D. Material placed on the web site is expected to meet academic standards of proper spelling, grammar, and accuracy of information.
- E. Students may retain the copyright on the material they create that is posted on the Internet. District employees may retain the copyright on material they create and post if appropriate under district policies.
- F. It will not be considered a violation of free speech to require removal of material that fails to meet established educational objectives or that is in violation of any provision of the Acceptable Technology Use Policy (attached).

## 5. Content Standards

The intended audience of the school and/or district web site is primarily members of the school community, citizens of Bedford, and people interested in moving to the area. All subject matter on the school web pages shall relate to curriculum, instruction, and school-authorized activities and general information of interest to the intended audience. Pages should include, but not be limited to, factual information about the school or school population, philosophy or vision statement and staff listing.

#### 6. Concerns

Concerns about the content of any pages created by staff should be directed to the building administrator. Bedford Public Schools - approved June 15, 2004, Revised: May 12, 2009

# Equal Education Opportunities , File: JB

It is the policy of the Bedford Public Schools not to discriminate on the basis of sex, race, religion, color, disability, sexual orientation and national origin in its educational programs, activities or employment policies

as required by Title IX of the 1972 Education Amendments and Chapter 622 of the Acts of 1971. Inquiries regarding compliance with Title IX may be directed the Office of the Superintendent, the Department of Education or to the Director of the Office for Civil Rights, Boston, Massachusetts.

LEGAL REFS.: Title VI, Civil Rights Act of 1964 Title VII, Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended by the Equal Employment Opportunity Act of 1972 Executive Order 11246, as amended by E.O. 11375 Title IX, Education Amendments of 1972 M.G.L. 76:5; 76:16 (Chapter 622 of te Acts of 1971) Board of Education Chapter 622 Regulations Pertaining to Access to Equal Educational Opportunity, adopted 6/24/75, amended 10/24/78

Bedford Public Schools - approved June 15, 2004

## Student-to-Student Harassment, File: JBA

Harassment of students by other students will not be tolerated in the Bedford Public Schools. This policy is in effect while students are on school grounds, school district property or property within the jurisdiction of the school district, school buses, or attending or engaging in school activities.

Harassment prohibited by the district includes, but is not limited to, harassment on the basis of race, sex, creed, color, national origin, sexual orientation, religion, marital status or disability. Students whose behavior is found to be in violation of this policy will be subject to disciplinary action up to and including suspension or expulsion.

Harassment means conduct of a verbal, physical nature or any other form that is designed to embarrass, distress, agitate, disturb or trouble students when:

- Submission to such conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly a term or condition of a student's education or of a student's participation in school programs or activities;
- Submission to or rejection of such conduct by a student is used as the basis for decisions affecting the student, or;
- Such conduct has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with a student's performance or creating an intimidating or hostile learning environment.

Harassment as described above may include, but is not limited to:

- Verbal, physical or written harassment or abuse;
- Repeated remarks of a demeaning nature;
- Implied or explicit threats concerning one's grades, achievements, or other school matter.
- Demeaning jokes, stories, or activities directed at the student.

The district will promptly and reasonably investigate allegations of harassment. The Principal of each building will be responsible for handling all complaints by students alleging harassment. Retaliation against a student because a student has filed a harassment complaint or assisted or participated in a harassment investigation or proceeding is also prohibited. A student who is found to have retaliated against another in violation of this policy will be subject to disciplinary action up to and including suspension and expulsion. The Superintendent will develop administrative guidelines and procedures for the implementation of this policy.

## **REFS:**

"Words that Hurt," American School Board Journal, September 1999 National Education Policy Network, NSBA

LEGAL REF.: M.G.L. <u>151B:3A</u> Title VII, Section 703, Civil Rights Act of 1964 as amended Board of Education 603 CMR 26:00. Bedford Public Schools - approved June 15, 2004

# Homeless Students: Enrollment Rights and Services, File:JFABD

To the extent practical and as required by law, the district will work with homeless students and their families to provide stability in school attendance and other services. Special attention will be given to ensuring the enrollment and attendance of homeless students not currently attending school. Homeless students will be

provided district services for which they are eligible, including Head Start and comparable pre-school programs, Title I, similar state programs, special education, bilingual education, vocational and technical education programs, gifted and talented programs and school nutrition programs.

Homeless students are defined as lacking a fixed, regular and adequate nighttime residence, including:

- 1. Sharing the housing of other persons due to loss of housing or economic hardship;
- 2. Living in motels, hotels, trailer parks or camping grounds due to the lack of alternative adequate accommodations;
- 3. Living in emergency or transitional shelters;
- 4. Being abandoned in hospitals;
- 5. Awaiting foster care placement;
- 6. Living in public or private places not designed for or ordinarily used as regular sleeping accommodations for human beings;
- 7. Living in cars, parks, public spaces, abandoned buildings, substandard housing, transportation stations or similar settings;
- 8. Migratory children living in conditions described in the previous examples.

The superintendent shall designate an appropriate staff person to be the districts liaison for homeless students and their families.\*

To the extent feasible, homeless students will continue to be enrolled in their school of origin while they remain homeless or until the end of the academic year in which they obtain permanent housing. Instead of remaining in the school of origin, parents or guardians of homeless students may request enrollment in the school in the attendance area in which the student is actually living, or other schools. Attendance rights by living in attendance areas, other student assignment policies, or intra and inter-district choice options are available to homeless families on the same terms as families resident in the district.

If there is an enrollment dispute, the student shall be immediately enrolled in the school in which enrollment is sought, pending resolution of the dispute. The parent or guardian shall be informed of the districts decision and their appeal rights in writing. The districts liaison will carry out dispute resolution as provided by state rule. Unaccompanied youth will also be enrolled pending resolution of the dispute.

Once the enrollment decision is made, the school shall immediately enroll the student, pursuant to district policies. If the student does not have immediate access to immunization records, the student shall be admitted under a personal exception. Students and families should be encouraged to obtain current immunization records or immunizations as soon as possible, and the district liaison is directed to assist. Records from the students previous school shall be requested from the previous school pursuant to district policies. Emergency contact information is required at the time of enrollment consistent with district policies, including compliance with the states address confidentiality program when necessary.

Homeless students are entitled to transportation to their school of origin or the school where they are to be enrolled. If the school of origin is in a different district, or a homeless student is living in another district but will attend his or her school of origin in this district, the districts will coordinate the transportation services necessary for the student or will divide the costs equally.

The districts liaison for homeless students and their families shall coordinate with local social service agencies that provide services to homeless children and youths and their families; other school districts on issues of transportation and records transfers; and state and local housing agencies responsible for comprehensive housing affordability strategies. This coordination includes providing public notice of the educational rights of homeless students in schools, family shelters and soup kitchens. The districts liaison will also review and recommend amendments to district policies that may act as barriers to the enrollment of homeless students.

LEGAL REFS.: Title I, Part C :No Child Left Behind Act, 2002

Bedford Public Schools - approved June 15, 2004

The Assistant Superintendent has been designated as the Homeless Liaison.

# Homeless Students – McKinney Vento Act

The McKinney Vento Act requires homeless student liaisons to provide public notice of the education rights of homeless students disseminated in places where homeless students receive services under the McKinney Vento Act. 42 U.S.C. & 11432(g)(6). The liaison for the Bedford Public Schools is Ms. Claire Jackson, Assistant Superintendent, who can be reached in the Superintendent's Office.

# Student Attendance, File: JH

Every pupil, who is not present in the schoolroom at the appointed time for opening session of school, shall be marked tardy unless the pupil can demonstrate that he/she was engaged with a member of the educational staff at, or just prior to, the appointed time.

In every case of absence or tardiness by the pupil, the school shall require a reason, verbal or written, to be made by the parent or guardian. No pupil shall be dismissed from school before the close of the session, except 1) in case of illness, 2) other emergency, or 3) by request of his/her parent or guardian, made in person or in writing. All cases of dismissal shall be recorded. Pupils may not leave the building until the person receiving the pupil has been properly identified in person or by telephone if the call is verified.

LEGAL REF.: M.G.L. <u>76:1</u>; 76:16A; <u>76:2</u>; <u>76:3</u>; <u>76:4</u>

Bedford Public Schools - Approved: June 15, 2004: Revised: May 8, 2012

# Exclusions and Exemptions from School Attendance, File: JHD

### Denial of Admission

Denial of admission means the withholding of the privilege of enrolling in a school of the District.

The following shall be the grounds for denial of admission to school or diversion to an appropriate alternative program:

- Graduation with a diploma from the twelfth grade of any school or receipt of any document evidencing completion of the equivalent of a secondary curriculum;
- Failure to meet the requirements of age, by a student who has reached the age of six years at a time after the beginning of the school year, as fixed by the School Committee as provided in Massachusetts General Laws;
- Having been expelled from this district or any district in the Commonwealth;
- Failure to comply with the provisions of the Massachusetts School Entry Immunization Law.

LEGAL REFS.: M.G.L. <u>71:37H</u>; <u>76:12</u>; <u>76:12A</u>; <u>76:12B</u>, <u>603 CMR</u> 26:00

Bedford Public Schools - approved June 15, 2004

## Student Conduct on School Buses, File: JICC

The School Committee and its staff share with students and parents/guardians the responsibility for student safety during transportation to and from school. The authority for enforcing School Committee requirements of student conduct on buses will rest with the Principal.

To ensure the safety of all students who ride in buses, it may occasionally be necessary to revoke the privilege of transportation from a student who abuses this privilege. Parents of children whose behavior and misconduct on school buses endangers the health, safety, and welfare of other riders will be notified that their children face the loss of transportation privileges in accordance with regulations approved by the School Committee.

Bedford Public Schools - approved June 15, 2004

# Hazing, File: JICFA

The School Committee forbids hazing in any form. Should an alleged instance of hazing occur the provisions of M.G.L. Chapter 269 sections 17, 18, and 19 as described in **JICFA**-E shall be adhered to. In addition the Superintendent of schools and the School Committee chairman shall immediately be notified of the circumstances of the complaint and the actions taken.

Any student found guilty of a charge of hazing shall be subject to the following disciplinary action:

 $1^{st}$  Offense - Suspension not to exceed five (5) days. Such suspension may be in-house at the discretion of the Principal.

2<sup>nd</sup> Offense - Suspension not to exceed ten (10) days.

3<sup>rd</sup> Offense - Suspension pending a hearing for expulsion.

Any employee found guilty of a charge of hazing shall be subject to the following disciplinary action:

1<sup>st</sup> Offense - Suspension without pay not to exceed five (5) days.

 $2^{nd}$  Offense - Suspension for a thirty (30) day period and recommendation to the Superintendent relative to dismissal.

Any organization found guilty of a charge of hazing shall lose the privilege of using school facilities for a period of time as determined by the School Committee.

LEGAL REF.: M.G.L. 269:17; 269:18; 269:19

Bedford Public Schools - approved June 15, 2004

# Bedford Public Schools Bullying Prevention, File: JICFB

The Bedford Public Schools, in accordance with MGL: Chapter 92 of the Acts of 2010, endeavor to maintain a safe learning environment where students can achieve the highest academic standard. The Bedford Public Schools are committed to creating an environment in which every student develops emotionally, academically, and physically in a caring and supportive atmosphere free of intimidation and abuse. Bullying of any type has no place in a school setting. The Bedford Public Schools will endeavor to maintain a learning and working environment free of bullying. The Bedford Public Schools shall not tolerate bullying.

## **Definitions**

Bullying is the repeated use by one or more students (or by a member of a school staff including, but not limited to, an educator, administrator, school nurse, cafeteria worker, custodian, bus driver, athletic coach, advisor to an extracurricular activity or paraprofessional) of a written, verbal, or electronic expression, or a physical act or gesture, or any combination thereof, directed at a target that:

- Causes physical or emotional harm to the target or damage to the target's property;
- Places the target in a reasonable fear of harm to him/herself, or of damage to his/her property;
- Creates a hostile environment at school for the target;
- Infringes on the rights of the target at school; or
- Materially and substantially disrupts the education process or the orderly operation of a school.

Bullying takes place when a stronger or more emotionally or socially powerful individual(s) intentionally and repeatedly hurts, threatens, or torments a more vulnerable individual.

Bullying:

- is deliberate.
- happens repeatedly.
- represents a marked imbalance of power between bully and victim.
- Bullying is a one-sided, unfair match.

Bullying, therefore, is different from a single incident of teasing. It is, in fact, an abuse of power. Bullying also differs from play, and from the normal conflicts of childhood. When two children of approximately equal strength or power are engaged in a fight, it is not bullying. Thus, although all acts of bullying are aggressive, not all aggressive acts are bullying. Bullying can occur face to face or it can happen behind one's back, especially through cyberbullying.

Cyberbullying is defined as willful and repeated harm inflicted through the medium of any electronic device, which shall include, but shall not be limited to, any transfer of signs, signals, writing, images, sounds, data or intelligence of any nature transmitted in whole or in part by a:

- wire
- radio
- electromagnetic
- photo-electronic or photo-optical system, including, but not limited to, electronic mail, internet
- communications, instant messages or facsimile communications

Cyber-bullying shall also include the creation of a web page or blog in which the creator assumes the identity of another person or knowingly impersonates another person as author of posted content or messages, if the creation of impersonation creates any of the conditions enumerated in the definition of bullying.

Bullying and cyber-bullying may occur in and out of school, during and after school hours, at home and in locations outside of the home. When bullying and cyber-bullying are alleged, the full cooperation and assistance of parents and families are expected. For the purpose of this policy, whenever the term bullying is used it is to denote either bullying or cyber-bullying.

"Retaliation" is any form of intimidation, reprisal or harassment by a current student or former student under the age of 21 directed against a person in response to an action that person has taken or knowledge that person has.

#### **Prohibitions**

Bullying is prohibited:

- On school grounds;
- On property immediately adjacent to school grounds;
- At school-sponsored or school-related activities;
- At functions or programs whether on or off school grounds;
- At school bus stops:
- On school buses or other vehicles owned, leased or used by the school district; or,
- Through the use of technology or an electronic device owned, leased or used by the Bedford
- Public Schools.

Bullying and cyber-bullying are prohibited at a location, activity, function or program that is not school-related or through the use of technology or an electronic device that is not owned, leased or used by the Bedford Public School district if the act or acts in question:

- Create a hostile environment at school for the target;
- Infringe on the rights of the target at school; and/or
- Materially and substantially disrupt the education process or the orderly operation of a school.

#### **Prevention and Intervention Plan**

The Superintendent and/or his/her designee shall oversee the development of a prevention and intervention plan, in consultation with all district stakeholders, which may include teachers, school staff, professional support personnel, school volunteers, administrators, community representatives, local law enforcement agencies, students, parents and guardians, consistent with the requirements of this policy, as well as state and federal laws.

The bullying prevention and intervention plan shall be reviewed and updated at least biennially. The Principal is responsible for the implementation and oversight of the bullying prevention and implementation plan within his or her school.

#### Reporting

Students who believe that they are a target of bullying, observe an act of bullying, or who have reasonable grounds to believe that these behaviors are taking place, are obligated to report incidents to a member of the school staff. The target shall not, however, be subject to discipline for failing to report bullying. Each school shall have a means for anonymous reporting by students of incidents of bullying. No formal disciplinary action shall be taken solely on the basis of an anonymous report.

Any student who knowingly makes a false accusation of bullying shall be subject to disciplinary action.

Parents or guardians, or members of the community, are encouraged to report an incident of bullying as soon as possible.

Any member of a school staff shall immediately report any instance of bullying the staff member witnessed or became aware of to the school principal or their designee.

# **Investigation Procedures**

The Principal or their designee, upon receipt of a viable report, shall promptly contact the parents or guardians of a student who has been the alleged target or alleged perpetrator of bullying. The actions being taken to prevent further acts of bullying shall be discussed.

The school principal or a designee shall promptly investigate the report of bullying, using a Bullying/Cyber-Bullying Report Form which may include interviewing the alleged target, alleged perpetrator, staff members, students and/or witnesses.

Staff shall assess an alleged target's needs for protection and respond as needed to restore a sense of safety for that student.

Confidentiality shall be used to protect a person who reports bullying, provides information during an investigation of bullying, or is witness to or has reliable information about an act of bullying.

If the school principal or a designee determines that bullying has occurred he/she shall take appropriate disciplinary action and if it is believed that criminal charges may be pursued against the perpetrator, the principal shall consult with the school's resource officer and the Superintendent to determine if criminal charges are warranted. If it is determined that criminal charges are warranted, the local law enforcement agency shall be notified.

The investigation shall be completed within a timely manner. The parents or guardians shall be contacted upon completion of the investigation and informed of the results. The report provided to parents or guardians shall include whether the allegations were found to be factual, whether a violation of this policy was found, and whether disciplinary action has or shall be taken. The Principal or his/her designee shall contact the parents or guardians as to the status of the investigation.

Disciplinary actions for students who have committed an act of bullying or retaliation shall be in accordance with district disciplinary policies.

Each school shall document any incident of bullying that is reported per this policy and a file shall be maintained by the Principal or designee.

Confidentiality shall be maintained to the extent consistent with the school's obligations under law.

## Retaliation

Retaliation against a person who reports bullying, provides information during an investigation of bullying, or witnesses or has reliable information about bullying shall be prohibited.

### **Target Assistance**

The Bedford Public Schools shall provide counseling or referral to appropriate services, including guidance, academic intervention, and protection to students, both targets and perpetrators, affected by bullying, as necessary.

#### **Training and Assessment**

Training shall be provided for school employees and volunteers who have significant contact with students in preventing, identifying, responding to, and reporting incidents of bullying. Age-appropriate, evidence-based instruction on bullying prevention shall be incorporated into the curriculum for K-12 students.

#### **Communication with Other School Districts**

If an incident of bullying or retaliation involves students from more than one school district, the school district or school first informed of the bullying or retaliation shall, consistent with state and federal law, promptly notify the appropriate administrator of the other school district or school so that both may take appropriate action. If an incident of bullying or retaliation occurs on school grounds and involves a former student under the age of 21 who is no longer enrolled in a local school district, the school district or school informed of the bullying or retaliation shall contact law enforcement.

#### **Special Education**

Whenever the evaluation of the Individualized Education Program team indicates that the child has a disability that affects social skills development or that the child is vulnerable to bullying, harassment or teasing because of the child's disability, the Individualized Education Program shall address the skills and proficiencies needed to avoid and respond to bullying, harassment or teasing.

#### **Publication and Notice**

Annual written notice of the relevant sections of the bullying prevention and intervention plan shall be provided to students and their parents or guardians, in age-appropriate terms.

Annual written notice of the bullying prevention and intervention plan shall be provided to all school staff. The faculty and staff at each school shall be trained annually on the bullying prevention and intervention plan applicable to the school.

Relevant sections of the bullying prevention and intervention plan relating to the duties of faculty and staff shall be included in the school employee handbook.

The bullying prevention and intervention plan shall be posted on the Bedford Public Schools website.

## REFERENCES:

MA Department of Elementary and Secondary Education's Model Bullying Prevention and Intervention Plan

#### LEGAL REFERENCES:

Title VII, Section 703 Civil Rights Act of 1964 as amended Federal Regulation 74696 issued by EEO Commission Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 603 CMR 26.00, M.G.L. 71:370, M.G.L. 265:43, M.G.L. 268:13B, M.G.L. 269:14A

#### CROSS REFERENCES:

AC, Nondiscrimination
ACAB, Sexual Harassment
IBA, Student-to-Student Harassment
IICFA, Prohibition of Hazing
IK, Student Discipline Regulations

Approved: October 12, 2010, Revised: November 12, 2010 Drug and Alcohol use by Students, File: JICH

In view of the fact that the use of illegal substances and alcohol can endanger the health and safety of the user, and recognizing the harmful effect the use of illegal substances and/or alcoholic beverages can have on the maintenance of general order and discipline, the School Committee prohibits the use of, serving of, or consumption of any alcoholic beverage and the use or possession of, or distributing illegal substances on school property or at any school function, regardless of the functions physical location.

Additionally, any student, regardless of age, who has been drinking alcoholic beverages or found to have been using illegal substances prior to attendance at, or participation in, a school sponsored activity, will be barred from that activity and subject to disciplinary action as defined in the student handbook.

LEGAL REF.: M.G.L. <u>272:40A</u>

CROSS REF.: <u>IHAMA</u>, Teaching About Drugs, Alcohol, and Tobacco

**GBEC**, Drug Free Work Place Policy

Bedford Public Schools - approved June 15, 2004

# Weapons in School, File: JICI

Possessions and/or use of any dangerous weapon in school buildings on school grounds, I any school vehicle or at any school-sponsored activity is prohibited unless prior written approval has been obtained from the Superintendent or designee. Such weapons include but are not limited to any pistol, revolver, rifle, shotgun, air gun or spring gun, slingshot, bludgeon, brass knuckles or artificial knuckles of any kind, knife having a blade of greater than two inches, any knife the blades of which can be opened by a flick of a button or pressure on the handle, or any pocketknife where the blade is carried in a partially-opened position.

The possession or use of any such weapon will require that proceedings for the suspension and/or expulsion of the student involved will be initiated immediately by the principal.

LEG REF: 71:37H; 71:37H1/2; Student Handbooks

Bedford Public Schools - approved June 15, 2004 Interrogations and Searches, File: JIH

The right to search students and inspect a student's property, or school property under the temporary control of a student, is inherent in the authority granted to the School Committee and administrators. This

authorization may be exercised as needed in the interest of protecting children and safe guarding their own or school property.

Nevertheless, exercising this authority by school officials places significant demands upon their judgment in an effort to protect the constitutional rights of the individual students while, at the same time, acting in the best interest of all students and the school system.

Searches of students, their possessions, lockers, or student automobiles will be conducted in a way conducive to the preservation of individual rights and to an atmosphere supportive of the educational process.

Whenever a student search is conducted, the following shall apply:

- A. No search shall be conducted unless there is reasonable suspicion that a violation of law or school rules has occurred.
- B. Searches shall be conducted with at least two adult school personnel present, one of whom shall be the Principal or his/her designee. A female staff member shall be present when a female student is searched, and a male staff member shall be present when a male student is searched.
- C. Whenever a personal search is deemed necessary, the student shall be advised of the reason for the impending search prior to its implementation. School officials may examine articles of clothing such as pockets, coats, book bags, etc.
- D. However, in recognition that the right to privacy considerations intensifies as a search becomes invasive, no school personnel shall ever conduct a "strip search" of a student.
- E. Should a student refuse to voluntarily comply with a request for a search, the student must be detained until parents, and, if necessary, police, can arrive at school to assist, as appropriate, in the investigation.
- F. Should a search uncover any substances or contraband, such shall be turned over to the appropriate authorities or rightful owner, as appropriate, and suitable disciplinary action shall be taken.
- G. Parents will be notified prior to any student search whenever possible.

Nothing herein shall be constituted to limit the right of the School Committee or administration to make use of external detecting resources should these become necessary or desirable.

Bedford Public Schools - approved June 15, 2004

# Traumatic Brain Injury / Concussion, File: JIFF

All school districts and schools must have policies and procedures governing the prevention and management of sports-related head injuries within the school district or school. The Athletic Director is responsible for the implementation of these policies and protocols.

### Restraint of Students in the Bedford Public Schools, File: JKAA

The Bedford Public Schools complies with the DOE restraint regulations, 603 CMR 46.00 et seq. (Regulations), to the extent required by law. According to their terms, the Regulations apply not only at school but also at school-sponsored events and activities, whether or not on school property. A brief overview of the Regulations is provided below.

## **Methods and Conditions for Implementation**

School staff may use physical restraint only (1) when non-physical interventions would be ineffective <u>and</u> the students behavior poses a threat of imminent, serious harm to self and/or others or (2) pursuant to a students IEP or other written plan developed in accordance with state and federal law and approved by the school and parent or guardian.

Physical restraint may not be used as a means of punishment or as a response to property destruction, disruption of school order, a student's refusal to comply with a school rule or staff directive, or verbal threats that do not constitute a threat of imminent, serious, physical harm. Chemical and mechanical restraints may only be used if explicitly authorized by a physician and approved by a parent or guardian. Seclusion restraint<sup>3</sup> is prohibited. The use of Time out procedures during which a staff member remains accessible to the student shall not be considered seclusion restraint.

The Regulations do not prevent a teacher, employee or agent of the District from using reasonable force to protect students, other persons or themselves from assault or imminent serious harm or from restraining students as otherwise provided in the Regulations.

## **Staff Training**

All school staff must receive training with respect to the districts restraint policy (i.e., following the Regulations), including receiving information about interventions that may preclude the need for restraint, types of restraint and related safety considerations, and administering physical restraint in accordance with known medical or psychological limitations and/or behavioral intervention plans applicable to an individual student. Additionally, the school must identify specific staff to serve as school-wide resources to assist in ensuring proper administration of physical restraint. These individuals must participate in in-depth training with respect to restraint and implementation of the Regulations.

- 1. Chemical Restraint-the administration of medication for the purpose of restraints.
- 2. Mechanical Restraint-the use of a physical device to restrict the movement of a student or the movement or normal function of a portion of his or her body. A protective or stabilizing device ordered by a physician shall not be considered mechanical restraint.
- 3. Seclusion Restraint-physically confining a student alone in a room or limited space without access to school staff.

# Reporting Requirements and Follow-Up

In instances where a physical restraint (1) lasts more than five minutes or (2) results in injury to a student or staff member, the school staff must report the physical restraint to the principal or a designee. The principal/designee must maintain an ongoing record of all such reported instances, which will be made available in accordance with state and federal law and regulations. The principal/designee must also verbally inform the students parent or guardian of the restraint as soon as possible, and by written report postmarked no later than three school working days following the use of the restraint. The written restraint report must be provided to the parent or guardian in the language in which report cards and other necessary school-related information are customarily provided.

In the event that a physical restraint (1) lasts longer than 20 minutes or (2) results in serious injury to the student or staff member, the school must, within five school working days of the reported restraint, provide a copy of the written report to DOE along with a copy of the schools record of physical restraints covering the thirty-day period prior to the date of the restraint.

For students who require the frequent use of restraint because they present a high risk of frequent, dangerous behaviors, school staff may seek and obtain the parent or guardians consent to waive reporting requirements for restraints administered to an individual student that do not result in serious injury to the student or staff member or constitute extended restraint (longer than 20 minutes).

Follow-up procedures for restraint include not only the reporting requirements set forth above, but also reviewing the incident with the student, staff and consideration of whether follow-up is appropriate for students who witnessed the incident.

## **Complaints**

Complaints and investigations regarding restraint practices are covered by the Districts Policy on Restraint of Students. Additional information, including a copy of the regulations, can be obtained from the Director of Curriculum and Instructions Office, 781-275-2155.

A copy of the regulations may also be obtained at www.doe.edu/lawsregs/603cmr46.html

LEGAL REF.: <u>603 CMR</u> 46.00, M.G.L. <u>71:37C</u>

Bedford Public Schools - approved June 15, 2004

## Administering Medicines to Students, File: JLCD

Medication may not be administered to students while at school unless such medicine is given to them by the school nurse acting under specific written request of the parent or guardian and under the written directive of the student's personal physician. When the school nurse is not present, a student who needs medication during the school day may be called to the office at the scheduled hour and <u>reminded</u> by the secretary to take the medicine.

This provision only applies when the correct dosage of the medication has been placed in an individual container clearly marked with the student's name, the dosage to be administered, and the time and/or conditions under which the medicine is to be taken. In addition, the student must be able to recognize the medicine that he/she or she is taking. No one but the school nurse, and those others listed in the medical administration plan acting within the above restriction, may give any medication to any student.

The school district shall, through the district nurse leader, register with the Dept. of Public Health and train personnel in the use of Epi-pens.

Following consultation with the school nurse, students who fall into the following exceptions may self-administer medications:

- 1. Students with asthma or other respiratory diseases may possess and administer prescription inhalers.
- 2. Students with cystic fibrosis may possess and administer prescription enzyme supplements.
- 3. Students with diabetes may possess and administer glucoses monitoring tests and insulin delivery systems.

SOURCE: MASC, Updated May 2006

LEGAL REF.: M.G.L. 71:54B: Dept. of Public Health Regulations: 105 CMR 210.00

NOTE: Regulations that govern the administration of prescription medication in public and private schools specifically detail the procedures that need to be followed. There are provisions for non-medical personnel to be authorized to administer these medications but the requirements of this regulation must be followed in order to receive permission for this exception. It is advisable for the School District to refer to DOPH Regulation 105 CMR 210.00 before developing the policy JLCD. The regulations also require procedures be published and this should be done by creating the Regulations/Procedure coded: JLCD-R

Bedford Public School s- approved June 13, 2006

The Bedford Public Schools affirm its responsibility to provide for the safety and well-being of students. This responsibility extends to complying with the Massachusetts Child Abuse and Neglect Reporting Statute, Chapter 119, Section 51A. The Bedford Public Schools recognizes that because of its sustained contact with school-age children, school employees will actively carry out the letter and spirit of the law. It is expected then, that when any staff member in his/her professional capacity, has reasonable cause to believe that a child under the age of eighteen years is suffering from the effects of any form of child abuse and neglect, that the staff member will report their concerns to the building Principal for consideration of reporting to the Department of Social Services.

LEGAL REF.: M.G.L. 119:51A, District Crisis Manual, District Faculty Handbook

Bedford Public Schools - approved June 15, 2004

# Student Records, File: JRA

In order to provide students with appropriate instruction and educational services, it is necessary for the school system to maintain extensive and sometimes personal information about them and their families. It is essential that pertinent information in these records be readily available to appropriate school personnel, be accessible to the students parents or legal guardian and/or the student in accordance with law, and yet be guarded as confidential information.

The Superintendent will provide for the proper administration of student records in keeping with state and federal requirements, and shall obtain a copy of the state student records regulations (603 CMR 23.00). The temporary record of each student enrolled on or after June 2002 will be destroyed no later than seven years after the student transfers, graduates or withdraws from the school district. Written notice to the eligible student and his/her parent of the approximate date of destruction of the temporary record and their right to receive the information in whole or in part, shall be made at the time of such transfer, graduation, or withdrawal. The students transcript may only be destroyed 60 years following his/her graduation, transfer, or withdrawal from the school system.

The Committee wishes to make clear that all individual student records of the school system are confidential. This extends to giving out individual addresses and telephone numbers.

LEGEL REFS: Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act of 1974, P.L. 93-380, Amended, P.L. 103-382, 1994, M.G.L. <u>66:10 71:34A</u>, B. D. E. H., Board of Education Student Record Regulations adopted 2/10/77, June 1995 as amended June 2002. <u>603 CMR</u>: Dept. Of Education 23:00 through 23:12 also Mass Dept. Of Education publication Student Records; Questions, Answers and Guidelines, Sept. 1995. CROSS REF: <u>KDB</u>, Publics Right to Know

Bedford Public Schools - approved June 15, 2004

## Visitors to the Schools, File: KI

The School Committee encourages parents and guests to visit classrooms to observe and learn about the instructional programs taking place in our schools. Such visits can prove most beneficial in promotion of greater school-home cooperation and community understanding of how we carry out the school system's mission and goals.

Visits by parents to several classrooms in a given grade for the purposes of comparing teaching styles to provide a basis for a request for student assignment to a particular teacher will not be allowed because the school district's policy of assigning a student to a particular class is the sole responsibility of the building Principal in consultation with the staff of that school.

The following guidelines to classroom and school visits should be followed:

1. Parental requests for classroom visitations will be welcomed as long as the educational process is not disrupted. To this end we request that such requests be made at least forty-eight hours in advance to allow for proper arrangements to be made.

- 2. The building Principal has the authority to determine the number, times, and dates of observations by visitors. This will be done in consultation with staff members so as to give adequate notice to the staff members of the impending visits.
- 3. For security purposes it is requested that all visitors report to the Principal's office upon entering and leaving the building and sign a guest log showing arrival and departure times. Teachers are encouraged to ask visitors if they have registered in the Principal's office.
- 4. Under ordinary circumstances classroom observations will be strongly discouraged during the first three weeks of school in September and during the month of June.
- 5. Any student who wishes to have a guest in school is required ask permission of one of the administrative staff 24 hours in advance of the proposed visit. If permission is granted, the guest is expected to follow the standards of behavior expected of all students. Upon arrival the guest must register in the office. Any guest who fails to comply with student regulations will be asked to leave the school building and grounds immediately.

Bedford Public Schools - approved June 15, 2004

# Family Involvement, File: KB

Parent, family, and community participation in local schools is vital to student achievement. Therefore, it is the policy of the Bedford School Committee that every school or program providing direct instructional services to students will involve parents, families, advocates for children, and the community in the education of students and shall have an active organization for fostering family/community involvement. In recognition of the fact that some students do not have parents, the words parents or family are used in this policy to denote any form of extended family or concerned adult who is advocating for a student.

Parents and families are assured access to schools, their child(ren)s classroom and/or school sponsored activities for the purpose of observing class procedures so long as this observation is not disruptive to the classroom procedure or learning activity. Procedures for visiting schools are explained in policy

Bedford Public Schools - approved June 15, 2004

# School / Parent Relations Goals, File: KBA

It is the general goal of the District to foster relationships with parents that encourage cooperation between the home and school in establishing and achieving common educational goals for students.

While parents are individually responsible for their children, the District provides direct services of education and indirect services of child care for students during the time when they are within the supervision of school personnel. Consistent with these shared responsibilities and as appropriate to the maturity of the student, members of the school staff will consult with parents regarding student progress and achievement, methods to enhance student development, and matters of correction.

Additionally, parental involvement in the schools is encouraged through regular communication with the school Principal and staff, the parent/teacher organizations, the school volunteer program, and other opportunities for participation in school activities and District programs.

Bedford Public Schools - approved June 15, 2004

# Non-Custodial Parent's Rights, File: KBBA

As required by Massachusetts General Law Chapter <u>71</u>, Section <u>34H</u>, a non-custodial parent may have access to the student record in accordance with law and Department of Education Regulations. The school district will follow the law and the regulations developed by the Massachusetts Department of Education to standardize the process by which public schools provide student records to parents who do not have physical custody of their children ("non-custodial parents").

As required by M.G.L. c. <u>71</u>, § <u>34H</u>, a non-custodial parent may have access to the student record in accordance with the following provisions.

- (a) A non-custodial parent is eligible to obtain access to the student record unless the school or district has been given documentation that:
  - 1. The parent has been denied legal custody or has been ordered to supervised visitation, based on a threat to the safety of the student and the threat is specifically noted in the order pertaining to custody or supervised visitation, or
  - 2. The parent has been denied visitation, or
  - 3. The parent's access to the student has been restricted by a temporary or permanent protective order, unless the protective order (or any subsequent order modifying the protective order) specifically allows access to the information contained in the student record, or
  - 4. There is an order of a probate and family court judge which prohibits the distribution of student records to the parent.
- (b) The school shall place in the student's record documents indicating that a non-custodial parent's access to the student's record is limited or restricted pursuant to 603 CMR <u>23.07</u> (5)(a).
- (c) In order to obtain access, the non-custodial parent must submit a written request for the student record to the school principal.
- (d) Upon receipt of the request the school must immediately notify the custodial parent by certified and first class mail, in English and the primary language of the custodial parent, that it will provide the non-custodial parent with access after 21 days, unless the custodial parent provides the principal with documentation that the non-custodial parent is not eligible to obtain access as set forth in 603 CMR 23.07 (5)(a).
- (e) The school must delete all electronic and postal address and telephone number information relating to either work or home locations of the custodial parent from student records provided to non-custodial parents. In addition, such records must be marked to indicate that they shall not be used to enroll the student in another school.
- (f) Upon receipt of a court order which prohibits the distribution of information pursuant to G.L. c. <u>71</u>, §34H, the school shall notify the non-custodial parent that it shall cease to provide access to the student record to the non-custodial parent.

LEGAL REF.: M.G.L. 71:34D; 71:34H, 603 CMR 23.07 (5) Access Procedures for Non-Custodial Parents

20 U.S.C. §1232g Family Education Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA): SOURCE: MASC

REVISED: October 9, 2007

# Attendance: Chapter 71: Section 22

Every minor described in the preceding section shall, subject to the laws relating to the public schools, attend said schools or courses in the town of his employment for not less than four hours per week; but the attendance of minors who have been required to attend continuation schools, and are temporarily out of employment or business, shall be for not less than twenty hours per week, if said schools or courses are so long in session. Instruction in the regular schools may and upon application of the parent or guardian shall be accepted as equivalent to that required by this section and section twenty-five.

# Dangerous Weapons Policies: Chapter 71: Section 37 H

The superintendent of every school district shall publish the district's policies pertaining to the conduct of teachers and students. Said policies shall prohibit the use of any tobacco products within the school buildings, the school facilities or on the school grounds or on school buses by any individual, including school personnel. Said policies shall further restrict operators of school buses and personal motor vehicles, including students, faculty, staff and visitors, from idling such vehicles on school grounds, consistent with section 16B of chapter 90 and regulations adopted pursuant thereto and by the department. The policies shall also prohibit bullying as defined in section 370 and shall include the student-related sections of the bullying prevention and intervention plan required by said section 370. Copies of these policies shall be provided to any person upon request and without cost by the principal of every school within the district.

Each school district's policies pertaining to the conduct of students shall include the following: disciplinary proceedings, including procedures assuring due process; standards and procedures for suspension and expulsion of students; procedures pertaining to discipline of students with special needs; standards and procedures to assure school building security and safety of students and school personnel; and the disciplinary measures to be taken in cases involving the possession or use of illegal substances or weapons, the use of force, vandalism, or violation of a student's civil rights. Codes of discipline, as well as procedures used to develop such codes shall be filed with the department of education for informational purposes only.

In each school building containing the grades nine to twelve, inclusive, the principal, in consultation with the school council, shall prepare and distribute to each student a student handbook setting forth the rules pertaining to the conduct of students. The student handbook shall include an age-appropriate summary of the student-related sections of the bullying prevention and intervention plan required by section 370. The school council shall review the student handbook each spring to consider changes in disciplinary policy to take effect in September of the following school year, but may consider policy changes at any time. The annual review shall cover all areas of student conduct, including but not limited to those outlined in this section.

Notwithstanding any general or special law to the contrary, all student handbooks shall contain the following provisions:

- (a) Any student who is found on school premises or at school-sponsored or school-related events, including athletic games, in possession of a dangerous weapon, including, but not limited to, a gun or a knife; or a controlled substance as defined in chapter ninety-four C, including, but not limited to, marijuana, cocaine, and heroin, may be subject to expulsion from the school or school district by the principal.
- (b) Any student who assaults a principal, assistant principal, teacher, teacher's aide or other educational staff on school premises or at school-sponsored or school-related events, including athletic games, may be subject to expulsion from the school or school district by the principal.
- (c) Any student who is charged with a violation of either paragraph (a) or (b) shall be notified in writing of an opportunity for a hearing; provided, however, that the student may have representation, along with the opportunity to present evidence and witnesses at said hearing before the principal.

After said hearing, a principal may, in his discretion, decide to suspend rather than expel a student who has been determined by the principal to have violated either paragraph (a) or (b).

- (d) Any student who has been expelled from a school district pursuant to these provisions shall have the right to appeal to the superintendent. The expelled student shall have ten days from the date of the expulsion in which to notify the superintendent of his appeal. The student has the right to counsel at a hearing before the superintendent. The subject matter of the appeal shall not be limited solely to a factual determination of whether the student has violated any provisions of this section.
- (e) When a student is expelled under the provisions of this section, no school or school district within the commonwealth shall be required to admit such student or to provide educational services to said student. If said student does apply for admission to another school or school district, the superintendent of the school district to which the application is made may request and shall receive from the superintendent of the school expelling said student a written statement of the reasons for said expulsion.

# Felony Complaint or Conviction of Student; Suspension; Expulsion; Right to Appeal Chapter 71: Section $37\,H\,1/2$

Section 37H1/2. Notwithstanding the provisions of section eighty-four and sections sixteen and seventeen of chapter seventy-six:

(1) Upon the issuance of a criminal complaint charging a student with a felony or upon the issuance of a felony delinquency complaint against a student, the principal or headmaster of a school in which the student is enrolled may suspend such student for a period of time determined appropriate by said principal or headmaster if said principal or headmaster determines that the student's continued presence in school would have a substantial detrimental effect on the general welfare of the school. The student shall receive written notification of the charges and the reasons for such suspension prior to such suspension taking effect. The student shall also receive written notification of his right to appeal and the process for appealing such suspension; provided, however, that such suspension shall remain in effect prior to any appeal hearing conducted by the superintendent.

The student shall have the right to appeal the suspension to the superintendent. The student shall notify the superintendent in writing of his request for an appeal no later than five calendar days following the effective date of the suspension. The superintendent shall hold a hearing with the student and the student's parent or guardian within three calendar days of the student's request for an appeal. At the hearing, the student shall have the right to present oral and written testimony on his behalf, and shall have the right to counsel. The superintendent shall have the authority to overturn or alter the decision of the principal or headmaster, including recommending an alternate educational program for the student. The superintendent shall render a decision on the appeal within five calendar days of the hearing. Such decision shall be the final decision of the city, town or regional school district with regard to the suspension.

(2) Upon a student being convicted of a felony or upon an adjudication or admission in court of guilt with respect to such a felony or felony delinquency, the principal or headmaster of a school in which the student is enrolled may expel said student if such principal or headmaster determines that the student's continued presence in school would have a substantial detrimental effect on the general welfare of the school. The student shall receive written notification of the charges and reasons for such expulsion prior to such expulsion taking effect. The student shall also receive written notification of his right to appeal and the process for appealing such expulsion; provided, however, that the expulsion shall remain in effect prior to any appeal hearing conducted by the superintendent.

The student shall have the right to appeal the expulsion to the superintendent. The student shall notify the superintendent, in writing, of his request for an appeal no later than five calendar days following the effective date of the expulsion. The superintendent shall hold a hearing with the student and the student's parent or guardian within three calendar days of the expulsion. At the hearing, the student shall have the right to present oral and written testimony on his behalf, and shall have the right to counsel. The superintendent shall have the authority to overturn or alter the decision of the principal or headmaster, including recommending an alternate educational program for the student. The superintendent shall render a decision on the appeal

within five calendar days of the hearing. Such decision shall be the final decision of the city, town or regional school district with regard to the expulsion.

Upon expulsion of such student, no school or school district shall be required to provide educational services to such student.

# Student Use of Tobacco Products: Chapter 71: Section 2A

It shall be unlawful for any student, enrolled in either primary or secondary public schools in the commonwealth, to use tobacco products of any type on school grounds during normal school hours. Each school committee shall establish a policy dealing with students who violate this law. This policy may include, but not be limited to, mandatory education classes on the hazards of tobacco use.

# Student Records; Maintenance, Storage, Destruction, etc.; Inspection by Parent or Guardian: Chapter 71: Section 34 D

Section 34D. The board of education shall adopt regulations relative to the maintenance, retention, duplication, storage and periodic destruction of student records by the public elementary and secondary schools of the commonwealth. Such rules and regulations shall provide that a parent or guardian of any pupil shall be allowed to inspect academic, scholastic, or any other records concerning such pupil which are kept or are required to be kept.

# Inspection of Student Records; Persons Authorized: Chapter 71: Section 34 E

Each school committee shall, at the request of a parent or guardian of a student, allow such parent or guardian to inspect academic, scholastic, or any other records concerning such student that are kept or are required to be kept, regardless of the age of such student. Each school committee shall, at the request of a student eighteen years of age or older, allow such student complete access to all school records relative to him or her.

# Vaccination and Immunization: Chapter 76: Section 15

No child shall, except as hereinafter provided, be admitted to school except upon presentation of a physician's certificate that the child has been successfully immunized against diphtheria, pertussis, tetanus, measles and poliomyelitis and such other communicable diseases as may be specified from time to time by the department of public health.

A child shall be admitted to school upon certification by a physician that he has personally examined such child and that in his opinion the physical condition of the child is such that his health would be endangered by such vaccination or by any of such immunizations. Such certification shall be submitted at the beginning of each school year to the physician in charge of the school health program. If the physician in charge of the school health program does not agree with the opinion of the child's physician, the matter shall be referred to the department of public health, whose decision will be final.

In the absence of an emergency or epidemic of disease declared by the department of public health, no child whose parent or guardian states in writing that vaccination or immunization conflicts with his sincere religious beliefs shall be required to present said physician's certificate in order to be admitted to school.

## Meal Charge Policy

Bedford School Lunch program is committed to providing students with nutritious meals which complement the learning environment of our district schools. The Bedford School Lunch Program provides foods under the guidance of the USDA and the National School Lunch Program (NSLP). As part of this program any student's family may apply for free or reduced price meals at any time throughout the school year. Applications are available in all schools, on the district web site or the School Lunch Program office. Unpaid meal charges place a financial strain on the food service program, this policy is consistent with our responsibility to maintain the financial integrity of the Program.

## I. Purpose/Policy:

- To communicate a written meal charge policy to all student families
- To establish a consistent district policy regarding meal charges
- To establish meal charge procedures when a students account lack sufficient funds.
- To encourage parent/guardian to assume the responsibility for meal payments and to promote self-responsibility of the student.

# II. Scope of Responsibility:

- The Food Service Department:
- Communicate meal charge policy to student's, families and school staff
- Maintain student account records using Nutrikids POS system
- Notify the student's parent/guardian of low or outstanding balances.
- Minimize identification of student's at the point of service with insufficient funds
- The Parent/Guardian: Payment of all student cafeteria purchases.

## III. Administration:

- 1. Free and Reduced priced students
  - (1) Free lunch status allows a child to receive a free meal each school day. A la carte purchases are not part of the NSLP. Free Lunch status students will not be allowed to have a negative account balance.
  - (2) Reduced Lunch status students will be allowed to have a negative account balance up to a maximum dollar equivalent of ten (10) reduced price meals; this will be known as an "account cap". Reduced lunch status allows a student to receive meals at a reduced price of \$.40. A la carte purchases will not be allowed without a positive balance or cash to pay for these items. When a reduced priced student reaches the "account cap", they may be offered a designated menu alternate. Sample: cold sandwich with vegetable, fruit and milk.
- 2. All Other (Paid) Students

### **Bedford Public Schools**

## Food Service Department

- (a.) Elementary and Middle School Students: will be allowed to charge up to a maximum dollar equivalent of five (5) meals, this will be known as the "account cap".
  - When the full pay student reaches the "account cap" they may be offered a designated menu alternate. Sample: cold sandwich with vegetable, fruit and milk.
  - The designated menu alternate will be charged to the student's lunch account at the standard lunch rate. Parent/Guardian are responsible for payment of these meals to the food service department.
  - $\bullet \quad \text{Once the student reaches the maximum meal charge, no a la carte items will be allowed.} \\$
- (b.) High School Students: will be not allowed to charge a meal or a la carte items.
- 3. A la carte items: A la carte items are any extra item which is not part of the lunch, for example a bottled water, cookie or large yogurt etc.
- 4. A meal: A meal as defined by the USDA includes the following items: a meat or meat alternative, fruit, vegetable, milk and grain. A meal consists of at least three of these items one item much be a fruit or a vegetable.
- 5. Collection of balances: The School Lunch Program will inform student families of unpaid account balances by email, telephone and/or by mail weekly.
- 6. Balances owed with no response by Parent/Guardian: If payment is not received, the Superintendent or his/her designee may take action as is deemed appropriate.

Account balances for all students can be checked at any time by logging on to MySchoolBucks.com or contacting the Food Service Office. All accounts must be settled by the end of the school year.